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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
ERWE

Results and dividends

The loss attributable to equity holders of the Company for the
year is HK$71,529,000 (2008: loss of HK$83,413,000) and the
directors do not recommend the payment of a dividend (2008:
Nil).

Management discussion and analysis

During the year ended 31st March 2009, the Group
recorded a consolidated turnover of HK$191,559,000 (2008:
HK$102,986,000) and a loss attributable to equity holders
of the Company of HK$71,529,000 (2008: HK$83,413,000).
Excluding the impairment of goodwill of HK$22,413,000
(2008: Nil) and the net other losses of HK$12,693,000 (2008:
HK$35,949,000), the loss attributable to equity holders of
the Company for the year shall be HK$36,423,000 (2008:
HK$47,464,000).

The Group operates in three major business segments,
television operations, film exhibition and film rights licensing
and sub-licensing and sale and distribution of films and
programs in audio visual product format, which contributed
44% (2008: 62%), 33% (2008: 23%) and 23% (2008: 15%) to

the Group’s revenue respectively.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

The contribution of revenues from the Group’s television
segment has increased to approximately HK$84,487,000
(2008: HK$64,150,000), representing approximately 44%
(2008: 62%) of the Group’s revenue. Since the launch of
its first channel in 2001, which broadcasts movies from the
Group’s film library and other programs from its business
partners, the Group has continuously explored opportunities
to broaden the revenue streams of its television operations.
As at 31st March 2009, the Group provided three channels
to now TV. In July 2007 and October 2008, the Group
launched a movie channel and a drama channel in Singapore
respectively. These channels contributed steady and secured
revenue to the Group. Looking forward, the Group aims to
develop and launch more channels with increasing varieties
to other Asian countries and secure advertising income from
available air-time in those TV channels and develop channels

with increasing varieties.

The Group will continue to strengthen its film library through
acquisition, own production and co-production. Equipped by
the Group’s film library and through the Group’s experience
and network in program sourcing, the Group is confident
that it will continue to provide high quality and customised
TV programs to its audiences. The Group also believes that
its television segment has huge potential of growth and will
continue to bring significant and increasing contribution to
the Group’s results. Following the increasing popularity of pay
TV in Hong Kong and digitalisation plan of TV signal in Hong
Kong and China, which allows more broadcasting channels
than the existing analogue system, the demand for TV
contents is expected to increase significantly and the Group
believes that it will receive encouraging results and fruitful

rewards from these new market opportunities.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
ERWE

The contribution of revenues from the Group’s segment of
film exhibition and film rights licensing and sub-licensing
increased from HK$23,191,000 to HK$62,839,000 which is

mainly attributable to the release of “Red ClIiff”.

Since 2007, the Group strengthened its production arm
through the professional production team of BIG Media Group
(“BIG”) to support its content requirement in respect of the
Group’s television, licensing and distribution operations, and
favour from the synergy in respect of the collaboration of
BIG’s film library and the Group’s distribution network. The
Group was appointed as the exclusive distribution agent to
market and license BIG’s films. The Group will continue to
support Hong Kong’s film industry by investing in high quality

and popular films.

The revenues attributable to sale and distribution of films
and programs in audio visual product format increased from
HK$15,645,000 to HK$44,233,000, which is mainly due
to the contribution from a new subsidiary which owns the
exclusive right from Sony Pictures Home Entertainment Inc.
to distribute their film titles in Hong Kong and Macau. Despite
the increasing popularity of copyright infringement behaviour
and the keen competition, the Group will continue to acquire
popular films and diversify its distribution channels in order

to maintain its competitiveness.
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Responding to the increasing popularity of films to be
released and distributed in high definition (“HD”) format,
the Group invested approximately HK$15 million to acquire
equipment that are HD compatible. Management believes that
the investment will enable the Group to be in line with the
market demand and contribute return to the Group in the near

future.

Following the downturn in the economic environment, in
particular the securities and property investment markets
during the year ended 31st March 2009, the Group
recognised unrealised losses of HK$15 million (2008: profit
of HK$5 million) and HK$11 million (2008: profit of HK$13
million) for its portfolios on financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss and investment properties respectively
in the consolidated income statement. An impairment loss
on goodwill on acquisition of subsidiaries of HK$22 million
was also recognised during the year. Management considers
such provisions do not have significant adverse effect on the
Group’s financial capability and the Group will benefit from

the market rebound subsequent to the balance sheet date.

As set out in the Company’s announcement dated 1st June
2009, the Group acquired an office premise (the “Property”)
in Beijing, China, for investment purpose. Management
considers the Group will benefit from the anticipated growth
in value of the Property in the long-term prospect, while
diversifying the portfolio of investment properties of the
Group and providing a steady income stream. Looking
forward, the Group will continue to explore possible
investment opportunities in the property investment and
development markets, in order to diversify the Group’s

businesses and sources of income.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
ERWE

Following the fund raising activities in 2006, the working
capital of the Group has been significantly enhanced. Further
to the conversion of convertible notes in 2007, the equity
base of the Company was broadened and strengthened and
the Group believes that it will continue to be benefited from
that and its increasing exposure to the global entertainment

industry.

Looking forward, the Group will exploit every opportunity to
generate greatest returns for its shareholders and reward

their long-term support.

Liquidity and financial resources

At 31st March 2009, the Group had available banking facilities
of approximately HK$60.5 million, of which approximately
HK$25.7 million were utilised. Certain of the Group’s deposits
and properties with net book values of HK$151.8 million were
pledged to banks to secure banking facilities. The Group’s
gearing ratio of 14% as at 31st March 2009 was based
on the total of bank borrowings (repayable within 1 year),
convertible notes and derivative financial instrument (with
remaining maturity of less than 1 year) and obligations under
finance leases (of which HK$3,677,000 and HK$3,023,000 are
repayable within one year and in the second year respectively)
of HK$48,527,000 in aggregate and the shareholders’ funds
of approximately HK$337,416,000. The Group’s borrowings
and bank balances are primarily denominated in Hong Kong
dollars and the Group has no significant exposure to foreign

currency fluctuations.

At 31st March 2009, the Company had contingent liabilities
in respect of guarantees given to banks for facilities of its
subsidiaries amounting to approximately HK$16.0 million,
and commitments in respect of film production and program
licensing agreements amounting to approximately HK$1.7
million. The commitments will be financed by the Group’s

internal resources and banking facilities.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

3 TR 4
FREHS
Employees =
At 31st March 2009, the Group employed 88 staff. A—EBEBANFE=ZRA=+—R0  K&EFHLES8
Remuneration is reviewed periodically based on individual ZEE - AEELRENEIRREEH
staff’s performance. In addition to the basic salaries, staff 5o REEXF SN BEEBANTEENE
benefits include discretionary bonus, medical insurance A BERBITERERAES - AKEH
scheme and contributory provident fund. The Group also has TEREERETE GEKSHEUEILE
a share option scheme whereby qualified participants may be EEREARBEERARRY -
granted options to acquire shares of the Company.
On behalf of the Board REREEF
Li Kuo Hsing e
Chairman ZFElH
Hong Kong, 28th July 2009 B8 —EZENFLtAZT+NH
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DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S PROFILE

EENEEEEABZEN

Executive directors

Mr. LI Kuo Hsing, aged 50, is the founder, Chairman and
a major shareholder of the Group which was established
in 1984, and a recognised leader of the Hong Kong
entertainment industry. With years of experience in the home
video and media entertainment industry, he is responsible for
the corporate strategy and development of the Group. He is
the Vice Chairman of the Federation of Motion Film Producers
of Hong Kong Limited since 1998 and appointed Member of
the Election Committee for the Performing Arts sub-sector of
the Legislative Council Election. He is also the independent
non-executive director of Sau San Tong Holdings Limited,
a company listed on the Growth Enterprise Market (“GEM”)
of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock

Exchange”).

Mr. TONG Hing Chi, aged 54, is the Managing Director of
the Group, responsible for the Group’s overall general and
financial administration. He has also been involved in the
Group’s corporate strategy and development since he joined
the Group in 1992. He is a fellow member of the Association
of Chartered Certified Accountants and a member of the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. He
has over 20 years of experience in the entertainment and
multimedia industry in Hong Kong and overseas. Mr. TONG
has been the Vice Chairman of Hong Kong, Kowloon &
New Territories Motion Picture Industry Association Limited
(“MPIA”) since 2001. Mr. TONG is also the Vice-chairman and
executive director of BIG Media Group Limited, which is listed
on the GEM of the Stock Exchange.

Mr. CHAU Kei Leung, aged 45, is responsible for the
selection and acquisition of films and programs and the
formulation of sales and marketing strategies. He is also
responsible for the sub-licensing of film rights to overseas
video distributors and TV operators in Hong Kong and
overseas. He joined the Group in 1987 and has over 20 years

of experience in the home video entertainment industry.
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DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S PROFILE

Non-executive directors

Mr. CHAN Ngan Piu, aged 74, has years of experience in the
manufacturing sector in Hong Kong and Mainland China. Mr.
CHAN joined the Group in 1988.

Mr. Hugo Shong, aged 53, was appointed as the non-
executive director of the Company in February 2007 and is
the Executive Vice President of International Data Group
(“IDG”)—

exposition company, President of IDG-Asia, and a partner

the world’s leading IT media, research and

of IDGVC Partners, which has headed IDG’s operations in
information technology (“IT”) publishing, market research and
tradeshows in the Asia Pacific region. Mr. Shong is now the

trustee of Boston University.

Independent non-executive directors

Dr. Lee G. LAM, aged 50, was appointed as an independent
non-executive director of the Company on 1st February 2007.
He holds a Bachelor of Science in Mathematics and Sciences,
a Master of Science in Systems Science, and a Master of
Business Administration, all from the University of Ottawa in
Canada, a Post-graduate Diploma in Public Administration
from Carleton University in Canada, a Post-graduate Diploma
in English and Hong Kong Law and a Bachelor of Law (Hons)
from Manchester Metropolitan University in the UK, a PCLL
in law (and has completed the Bar Course) from the City
University of Hong Kong, and a Doctor of Philosophy from
the University of Hong Kong. Dr. Lam has over 26 years of
multinational general management, corporate governance,
investment banking, and direct investment experience.
He is Chairman of Monte Jade Science and Technology
Association of Hong Kong, and serves as an independent or
non-executive director of several publicly-listed companies
in the Asia Pacific region. Having served as a Part-time
Member of the Central Policy Unit of the Government of the
Hong Kong Special Administrative Region for two terms,
Dr. Lam is a Member of the Jilin Province Committee of the

Chinese People’s Political Consultative Committee (CPPCC),
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EENEEEEABZEN

a Member of the Hong Kong Institute of Bankers, a Board
Member of the East-West Center Foundation, a Member of
the Young Presidents’ Organization, a Fellow of the Hong
Kong Institute of Directors and a Member of its Corporate
Governance Committee, a Member of the General Council
and the Corporate Governance Committee of the Chamber of
Hong Kong Listed Companies, and a Visiting Professor at the
School of Economics & Management of Tsinghua University
in Beijing. On 30th January 2009, Dr. Lam was appointed as
an Independent Director of Ban Joo & Company Limited, a
company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange in

Singapore.

Ms. WANG Huarong, aged 45, has over 18 years of
experience, including management experience, in information
technology and financial service industry and was appointed
as an independent non-executive director of the Company
in October 2005. She had been a General Manager of
Sparkice (Hong Kong) Ltd. which is a leading e-commerce
company focusing on international trade of China market, a
Senior Software Engineer at DSP Development Corporation
in Boston, and worked at Fixed Income Technology Group
of Goldman Sachs International. Ms. WANG received her
Bachelor of Science degree in computer science from Beijing
University of Aeronautics and Astronautics, and a Master of
Science degree in Information Systems from North-Eastern
University in the USA.

Mr. CHEUNG Ming Man, aged 52, has extensive experience
in the sector of performance and cultural and was appointed
as an independent non-executive director of the Company
in September 2005. Mr. CHEUNG has also participated in
a number of community associations, including the Hong
Kong Chinese Importers’ & Exporters’ Association (Executive
Director); The Hong Kong Special Administrative Region
Election Committee (First and Second Election Committee
Member); Deputy of the National People’s Congress of PRC
Election Committee (Ninth and Tenth Election Committee
Member) and Chinese People’s Political Consultative

Conference Guangxi Zhuangzu Zizhiqu (Member).
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DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S PROFILE

Senior management

Mr. CHAN Lun Ho, aged 39, is the Group’s financial controller
and is responsible for all financial and accounting matters
of the Group. He is a fellow member of the Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants and a member of the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. He has over
16 years of auditing and accounting experience. He joined the
Group in July 2002.

Mr. LONG Sao lan, aged 50, is the Program Development
Manager of MATV Limited, a subsidiary of the Company. Mr.
LONG is responsible for the development and management
of the Group’s TV operations. Mr. LONG has 28 years of
experience in TV operations. Prior to joining the Group in
December 2000, Mr. LONG worked for Commercial Radio,
Television Broadcasting Ltd, HK Cable TV and Chinese

Entertainment Television.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

SRERTE
Compliance with the code on corporate
governance practices

The Company’s corporate governance practices are based
on the principles and the code provisions (the “Code”) as
set out in the Code on Corporate Governance Practices as
set out in Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Listing Rules”). The principles adopted by the Company
emphasise a quality board, transparency and accountability
to shareholders. In the opinion of the Board, the Company
has complied with the Code for the year ended 31st March
2009, with the exception of the deviation in respect of the
appointment term of non-executive directors as mentioned

below.

Directors’ securities transactions

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding
Directors’ securities transactions on terms as set out in
Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules. Having made specific
enquiry of all Directors, the Directors have complied with
such code of conduct and the required standard of dealings
and its code of conduct regarding securities transactions by
the Directors for the year ended 31st March 2009.

Board of directors

The directors acknowledge their responsibilities for the
preparation of financial statements, which shall give a true
and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group. Details of the
basis of preparation of the consolidated financial statements
are set out in note 2.1 to the consolidated financial
statements. The Board is also responsible for formulating
the Group’s long-term strategy, determining and approving
the Group’s significant transactions and supervising the
management to ensure thorough implementation of the
Group’s policies and effective performance of their duties.
The Board also conducted a review of the effectiveness of the
system of internal control of the Group. Other decisions are
delegated to management. As at 31st March 2009, the Board

comprised eight Directors, including three executive Directors
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Board of directors (continued)

— Mr. Li Kuo Hsing (the Chairman), Mr. Tong Hing Chi (the
Chief Executive Officer) and Mr. Chau Kei Leung, two non-
executive Directors — Mr. Hugo Shong and Mr. Chan Ngan
Piu, and three independent non-executive Directors — Ms.
Wang Huarong, Mr. Cheung Ming Man and Dr. Lee G. Lam.

Biographies of the Directors are set out on pages 10 to 12.

There is no non-compliance with rules 3.10(1) and (2) of the
Listing Rules and there is no relationship among members of

the Board and the independent non-executive directors.

Under code provision A4.1, non-executive directors should
be appointed for specific terms, There is no specific term of
appointment of the non-executive directors of the Company,
however, they are subject to retirement by rotation in
accordance with Bye-laws of the Company. Accordingly the
Company considers that sufficient measures have been taken
to deal with the requirement in respect of the appointment
terms of non-executive directors as required under the code

provision.

The Company has received from each of the Independent
Non-executive Directors an annual confirmation of their
respective independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules. The Company is of the view that all Independent Non-
executive Directors meet the independence guidelines set
out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and are independent in

accordance with the terms of the guidelines.

During the year, the board members attended the two board
meetings to approve the interim and annual results. The
executive directors also held and attended six other board

meetings.
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Chairman and the chief executive officer
Under the code provision A.2.1, the roles of chairman and
chief executive officer are separate and are not performed
by the same individual. The Chairman is responsible for
overseeing the function of the Board and formulating overall
strategies and policies of the Company. The Chief Executive
Officer, supported by the senior management, is responsible
for managing the Group’s businesses and responsibilities,
implementing major strategies, making day-to-day decisions
and coordinating overall business operations.

Nomination of directors
No nomination committee was established by the Company.

The Board is mainly responsible for identifying suitable
candidates to be members of the Board when there is a
vacancy or any additional director is considered necessary.
The Board will review the qualifications of the candidates
identified and determine the suitability of their qualifications,
experience and background.

Board Committees

To assist the Board in discharge of its duties, the Board is
supported by two board committees. Each committee has
its defined scope of duties and terms of reference and the
committee members are empowered to make decisions on
matters within the terms of reference of each committee.

(1) Audit Committee

The Company has established an audit committee with
written terms of reference in compliance with Rules 3.21
to 3.23 of the Listing Rules. The primary duties of the
Audit Committee are (a) to review the Group’s annual
and interim reports; (b) to discuss and review with the
auditors of the Company on the scope and findings of
the audit; and (c) to supervise the financial reporting
process and internal control procedures of the Group.
The audit committee consists of the three independent
non-executive directors of the Company, namely Dr. Lee
G. Lam, Ms. Wang Huarong and Mr. Cheung Ming Man.
The chairman of the committee is Dr. Lee G. Lam.

The audit committee held two meetings during the year.
All of the members attended the meetings except Ms.
Wang Huarong was absent in one of the meetings.
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Board Committees (Continued)

(1)

(2)

Audit Committee (Continued)

The Group’s unaudited interim results, annual audited
results and the system of internal control during the year
ended 31st March 2009 have been reviewed by the audit
committee, which is of opinion that the preparation of
such results complied with the applicable accounting
standards and requirements and that adequate
disclosure have been made.

Remuneration Committee

The Company has established a Remuneration
Committee according to the relevant provisions of the
Listing Rules with written terms of reference. Its primary
duties are to (a) make recommendations to the Board
based on the Company’s policy and structure for all
remuneration of directors and senior management; and
(b) establish formal and transparent procedures for
remuneration policy development.

The remuneration committee consists of the three
independent non-executive directors of the Company,
namely Dr. Lee G. Lam, Ms. Wang Huarong and Mr.
Cheung Ming Man. The chairman of the committee is Dr.

Lee G. Lam.

During the year, the Committee met once to discuss
remuneration related matters. All of the members
attended the meeting. During the meeting, the
performance and remuneration of the executive directors
were assessed and the policy for which was discussed

and approved.

Auditor’s remuneration

The statement by the auditor of the Company about their

reporting responsibilities is set out in the independent

auditor’s report on pages 34 to 36. An amount of

approximately HK$1,333,000 was charged to the Group’s

consolidated income statement for the year ended 31st March

2009. There was no significant non-audit service assignment

undertaken by the external auditor during the year.
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The directors submit their report together with the audited

financial statements for the year ended 31st March 2009.

Principal activities and analysis of
operations

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding.

The activities of the principal subsidiaries are set out in note

42 to the consolidated financial statements.

An analysis of the Group’s performance for the year by
business and geographical segment is set out in note 5 to the

consolidated financial statements.

Results and appropriations
The results of the Group for the year are set out in the

consolidated income statement on page 37.
The directors do not recommend the payment of a dividend.

Reserves

Movements in the reserves of the Group and of the Company
during the year are set out in the consolidated statement of
changes in equity and note 28 to the consolidated financial

statements.

Property, plant and equipment
Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment of
the Group are set out in note 14 to the consolidated financial

statements.

Principal investment properties

Details of the movements in investment properties held by
the Group are set out in note 16 to the consolidated financial
statements. Details of those principal investment properties

are set out on pages 163 to 164.

Share capital
Details of the movements in share capital of the Company are

set out in note 27 to the consolidated financial statements.
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Distributable reserves

At 31st March 2009, the distributable reserves of the
Company amounted to HK$70,199,000, comprising
contributed surplus of HK$153,110,000 less accumulated
losses of HK$82,911,000.

Under the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda (as amended),
the contributed surplus shall not be distributable if there are

reasonable grounds for believing that:

(i) the Company is, or would after the payment be, unable

to pay its liabilities as they become due; or

(i) the realisable value of the Company’s assets would
thereby be less than the aggregate of its liabilities and

its issued share capital and share premium account.

Pre-emptive rights

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the
Company’s bye-laws and there was no restriction against
such rights under the laws of Bermuda, which would oblige
the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to

existing shareholders.

Five-year financial summary

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of
the Group for the last five financial years is set out on page
162.

Purchase, sale or redemption of the
Company’s shares

The Company has not redeemed any of its shares during the

year. Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has

purchased or sold any of the Company’s shares during the

year.
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Share option scheme

A share option scheme of the Company was adopted by the
shareholders of the Company in the annual general meeting
held on 30th August 2005 (the “Share Option Scheme”). The

principal terms are set out as follows:

(a) Purposes
The purposes of the Share Option Scheme are to
attract and retain the best quality personnel for the
development of the Group’s businesses; and to provide
additional incentives to employees, consultants, agents,
advisers, customers, suppliers, business and joint
venture partners of the Company, its subsidiaries and its

associated companies.

(b) Participants
Subject to the terms of the Share Option Scheme and
the requirements of the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Listing Rules”), the board of directors (the “Board”)
may offer to grant share options (the “Options”) to
any director and employee, consultant, agent, advisor,
customer, supplier, business and joint venture partner
of the Company, its subsidiaries and its associated
companies (“Qualifying Grantee”) as the Board may in
its absolute discretion select. Provided the Board so
agrees, such offer may be accepted by a related trust of

the relevant Qualifying Grantee.
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Share option scheme (Continued)

(c)

Administration

The Share Option Scheme shall be subject to the

administration of the Board. The Board’s administrative

powers include the authority, in its discretion:

(i)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

to select Qualifying Grantees to whom Options may

be granted under the Share Option Scheme;

to determine, subject to the requirements of the
Listing Rules and the law, and the time of the grant

of Options;

to determine the number of Shares to be covered
by each Option granted under the Share Option

Scheme;

to approve forms of option agreements;

to determine the terms and conditions of any

Option. Such terms and conditions may include:

° the exercise price;

° the period within which the Shares must be
taken up under the Option, which must not be
more than 10 years from the date of grant;

° the minimum period, if any, for which an

Option must be held before it can vest (the

Share Option Scheme itself does not specify

any minimum holding period);
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Share option scheme (Continued)

(c¢) Administration (Continued)

(v)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

(Continued)

° the performance targets, if any, that must be
achieved before the Option can be exercised
(the Share Option Scheme itself does not

specify any performance targets);

° the amount, if any, payable on application
or acceptance of the Option and the period
within which payments or calls must or may
be made or loans for such purposes must be

repaid;

to construe and interpret the terms of the Share
Option Scheme and Options granted pursuant to

the Share Option Scheme;

to prescribe, amend and rescind rules and
regulations relating to the Share Option Scheme;

and

subject to the provisions relating to grant to
substantial shareholders and independent non-
executive directors and their respective associates
in the Share Option Scheme, to vary the terms and
conditions of any option agreement (provided that
such variation is not inconsistent with the terms of

the Listing Rules and the Share Option Scheme).

(d) Life of the Share Option Scheme and grant of

Options

The Share Option Scheme is valid and effective for a

period of 10 years from the date of adoption. On and

subject to the terms of the Share Option Scheme and

the requirements of the Listing Rules, the Board shall

be entitled at any time within 10 years commencing on

the date of adoption to make an offer for the grant of an

Option to any Qualifying Grantee as the Board may in its

absolute discretion select.
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Share option scheme (Continued)

(e)

(f)

(9)

Acceptance and payment on acceptance of Option
offer

An offer of the grant of any Option shall remain open for
acceptance by the Qualifying Grantee concerned and,
provided the Board so agrees, by a related trust of the
named Qualifying Grantee for a period of 28 days from
the date of the offer (or such longer period as the Board

may specify in writing).

HK$1.00 is payable by the grantee to the Company on

acceptance of the Option offer.

Subscription price

The subscription price in respect of any particular
Option shall be such price as the Board may in its
absolute discretion determine at the time of grant of the
relevant Option but the subscription price shall not be
less than whichever is the higher of (i) the closing price
of the Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily
quotations sheet on the date of grant; (ii) the average
closing price of the Shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotation sheets for the five business
days immediately preceding the date of grant; and (iii)

the nominal value of a share.

Option period

The period within which the Shares must be taken up
under an Option shall be determined by the Board in its
absolute discretion at the time of grant, but such period
must not exceed 10 years from the date of grant of the

relevant Option.
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Share option scheme (Continued)

(h) Maximum number of shares available under the

Share Option Scheme

(i)

(i)

Overriding Limit

The limit on the number of shares which may be
issued upon exercise of all outstanding Options
granted and yet to be exercised under the Share
Option Scheme and any other schemes of the
Company must not exceed 30% of the shares in
issue from time to time. No options may be granted
under any schemes of the Company if this will

result in the limit being exceeded.

Mandate Limit

In addition to the limit set out in sub-paragraph
(h)(i) above and prior to the approval of a Refreshed
Mandate Limit as referred to in sub-paragraph
(h)(iii) below, the total number of shares which
may be issued upon exercise of all options to be
granted under the Option Scheme and any other
schemes of the Company must not in aggregate
exceed 77,100,000 Shares (“Initial Mandate Limit”)
representing 10% of the issued share capital of
the Company at the date of adoption of the Share
Option Scheme. Options lapsed in accordance with
the terms of the Share Option Scheme or any other
schemes will not be counted for the purpose of

calculating the 10% limit.

ANNUAL REPORT 2009

BB R (w)
BREHDETZBERGRE

(h)

()

(ii)

EERHE

RIBBRET B RA R AMEMEA
FREIRERERTEZRTERS
REEBBITER T FRIT2RM
RY THEBBTREBRITROZ
30% ° AL A EBREARQFE
A AREEAESEHBEHRE
B -

BREmRE

MR ESCE (h)() D BTt BREE R 12
TXE (h)(i) D BATIE 2 BRI R
PREEESHE AT - RIZBRES
EIRAARMEAEAMT IR 2B
REEBRBTESATFRITZRG
BY . EHFTHBEB77,100,000
BRROGTNLSRERRE]D DR
RAEREGEERZAQAFD#
TRAZ10% © RIBEREST S
SR AR B 2 RS kM2
BIRRE T EZ10%MRERH
FFHEER -



ANNUAL REPORT 2009 3§

MEI AH ENTERTAINMENT GROUP LIMITED £ m 244 & @ AR A A

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

Share option scheme (Continued)

(h) Maximum number of shares available under the

Share Option Scheme (Continued)

(iii) Refreshing of Mandate Limit

(iv)

The Company may by ordinary resolutions of the
shareholders refresh the Mandate Limit provided
the Company shall issue a circular to shareholders
containing such information as required by the
Listing Rules before such approval is sought.
However, the total number of shares which may be
issued upon exercise of all options to be granted
under all of the schemes of the Company under
the limit as refreshed (“Refreshed Mandate Limit”)
must not exceed 10% of the shares in issue as
at the date of approval of the Refreshed Mandate
Limit. Options previously granted under the
schemes (including those outstanding, cancelled,
lapsed in accordance with the scheme or exercised
options) will not be counted for the purpose of

calculating the limit as refreshed.

Grant to specifically identified participants

Specifically identified participants may be granted
Options beyond the Mandate Limit. The Company
may in addition seek separate approval by its
shareholders in general meeting for granting
Options beyond the Mandate Limit provided the
Options in excess of the limit are granted only to
participants specifically identified by the Company
and a circular to shareholders containing such
information as required by the Listing Rules is
issued before such approval is sought. The date
of the board meeting for proposing such further
grant should be taken as the date of grant for such

grants.
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Share option scheme (Continued)

(h) Maximum number of shares available under the

Share Option Scheme (Continued)

(v) Limit for each participant

The total number of shares issued and to be
issued upon exercise of Options granted (whether
exercised or outstanding) in any 12-month period to
each participant must not exceed 1% of the shares
in issue. Where any further grant of Options to a
participant would result in the shares issued and to
be issued upon exercise of all options granted and
to be granted to such person (including exercised,
cancelled and outstanding options) in the 12-month
period up to and including the date of such further
grant representing in aggregate over 1% of the
shares in issue, such further grant shall be subject
to separate approval by shareholders in general
meeting with the relevant participant and his
associates abstaining from voting. Prior to seeking
such approval, the Company shall issue a circular
containing to shareholders such information as
required by the Listing Rules. The date of the board
meeting for proposing such further grant should be

taken as the date of grant for such grants.

Following the shareholders’ resolution passed on
29th August 2007, the Mandate Limit was refreshed to
98,209,090, representing 10% of the shares in issue as

at the date of passing the resolution.
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Share option scheme (Continued)

(h) Maximum number of shares available under the
Share Option Scheme (Continued)
On 21st June 2007, 77,100,000 options were granted to
certain service providers to subscribe for 77,100,000
shares of the Company at an exercise price of HK$0.9
per share. The options are exercisable during the
period from 1st August 2007 to 30th June 2008, within
which not more than 50% of the share options were
exercisable during the period from 1st August 2007
to 31st October 2007. None of the options has been
exercised since granted and the options were expired on
30th June 2008.

Directors

The directors during the year were:

Executive directors

Mr. LI Kuo Hsing (Chairman)

Mr. TONG Hing Chi (Managing Director)
Mr. CHAU Kei Leung

Non-executive directors
Mr. CHAN Ngan Piu
Mr. Hugo SHONG

Independent non-executive directors
Dr. Lee G. LAM

Ms. WANG Huarong

Mr. CHEUNG Ming Man

The directors are subject to retirement by rotation and re-
election at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the

Company in accordance with the Company’s bye-laws.

ESERE

BB R (w)
(h BREADETZBSERGHE(F)

*
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Directors’ service contracts

None of the directors who are proposed for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting has a service contract
with the Company which is not determinable within one
year without payment of compensation, other than statutory

compensation.

Directors’ interests in contracts

During the year, the Group entered into certain transactions
with an associated company in which certain directors of the
Company have indirect interests through their interests in
the Company as disclosed in the section headed “Directors’
and chief executives’ interests, and short positions in the
shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company
or any associated corporation” below. Details of these
transactions have been set out in note 39 to the consolidated
financial statements, save as the above, no other contracts
of significance in relation to the Group’s business to which
the Company, its holding company or its subsidiaries was a
party and in which a director of the Company had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of

the year or at any time during the year.

Biographical details of directors and senior
management
Brief biographical details of directors and senior management

are set out on pages 10 to 13.
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Directors’ and chief executives’ interests, EFRERTRARRELAFTH
and short positions in the shares, EMEREEE RN - HERBR
underlying shares and debentures of the hTREEEBZHEERKE
Company or any associated corporation

At 31st March 2009, the interests and short positions of RZBEAF=ZA=+—H0  REEAQXTK

each director and chief executive in the shares, underlying HHEREBEGRG(TEHGEMH D) FE352FM=%

shares and debentures of the Company and its associated EELRMARERBERAREZEEZBA
corporations (within the meaning of the Securities and Futures BREERBSITHABEARALAREGHE

Ordinance (“SFQ”)), as recorded in the register maintained by TE(EESGRAZER)ZRNGD - HER®D

the Company under Section 352 of the SFO or as notified to REEBEZEGZRKXRNT :

the Company were as follows:

(a) Ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each in the Company (a) BEREEOI1BRTZEFATHEER

% of the
issued share
capital of the

Company
as at
31st March
Number of shares beneficially held — 2009
Long position RZZ2ZREF
ESBacknsA — e =BA=+—H
Personal Family Corporate LA F]
Name of director interests interests interests 2EITRA
EEns EBAES FERER ZEES ZBESH
Mr. LI Kuo Hsing 36,827,500 37,968,750 425,577,510 50.95%
TEESEE Note (i) Note (ii)
BrEE (i) B (i)
Mr. TONG Hing Chi 3,375,000 — — 0.34%
BEREE
Mr. CHAU Kei Leung 7,209,000 - - 0.73%
BAER%E
Mr. CHAN Ngan Piu 2,025,000 — — 0.21%
PRER IR 4
Notes: Bt 29
(i)  These shares are held by Ms. LI Pik Lin, the spouse of )y ZEROAHZTEHELEZHEBZRE
Mr. LI Kuo Hsing. B+#EE -
(i)  These shares are held by Kuo Hsing Holdings Limited, iy ZERMVATEHELEESZSZ
a company beneficially controlled by Mr. LI Kuo Hsing. ‘A7) Kuo Hsing Holdings Limited

A -
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Directors’ and chief executives’ interests,
and short positions in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the
Company or any associated corporation
(Continued)

(b)

Interest in subsidiaries of the Company (b)

Mr. LI Kuo Hsing personally holds non-voting deferred

shares of HK$1 each in the following subsidiaries:

ANNUAL REPORT 2009

EFREETHARRELTEH
EMEREEEZRG - HERK
REEBEBZEERRE &)

FAFIRBARER
FHELEBEAFETINBERAER
EE1 BT ZEBRERELERD

Number of
non-voting
deferred

shares held

Personal

interests

FRISHEIR R

BRIERRZ & B

Name 2 EBAER
Mei Ah Laser Disc Company Limited EUnEHAEERA T 100,000
Mei Ah Video Production Company Limited EuHTEERRAR 10,000
Mei Ah Investment Company Limited EDYEREBRAA 500,000

Save as aforesaid, at no time during the year was the
Company, its subsidiaries, its associated companies
or its holding company a party to any arrangement
to enable the directors and chief executives of the
Company to hold any interests or short positions in the
shares or underlying shares in, or debentures of, the

Company or its associated corporation.

Save as aforesaid, at no time during the year, the
directors and chief executives (including their spouse
and children under 18 years of age) had any interest
in or had been granted or exercised, any rights to
subscribe for shares of the Company and its associated

companies (within the meaning of the SFO).

BrEMEIN REREMESEH > A2
A HMEBLR HBEEARHHER
DRABETLEMLZH  FARAES
EBRSITHRAEREAQAREEHE
EE 2R~ BRI RERER ZEM

RERHA -

BrEmES  REREMERE RES
EESTRABBEREZEBRE XK
mT ARz FR)GEFEEARARA
BMERAR(BREBESKRAZER)EME
& FEERITEAIBEALARE
BEQR(REFFRAZER) RO 2F
fAJRER] o
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Substantial shareholders’ interests and
short positions in the shares, underlying
shares in the company

The register of substantial shareholders required to be kept

under section 336 of Part XV of the SFO shows that as at 31st

March 2009, the Company had been notified of the following

substantial shareholders’ interests and short positions, being

5% or more of the Company’s issued share capital. These

interests are in addition of those disclosed above in respect

of the directors and chief executives.

Interests in ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each
in the Company

IDG-Accel China Growth Fund — A L.P.
IDG-Accel China Growth Fund — L.P.

IDG-Accel China Investors L.P.

IDG-Accel China Investors Associates Ltd.
IDG-Accel China Growth Fund Associates L.P.
IDG-Accel China Growth Fund GP Associates Ltd.
Zhou Quan

Mc Govern Patrick J.

Breyer James

Notes:

(@) The total long position interests in the above parties of
69,152,000 shares, representing 7.04% of the issued share
capital of the Company, refer to the same parcel of shares.

EEEWS

FEBRRNAELXFZG RHER
BRITZEZRIRE

I8 k 5B H AR B 55XV 3P 55 336 1R B 3%
EIERREBCZMER R=-FZh
F=ZA=+—H0 > ALREEBHIUT
HARAFEBITRASRULZETE
BREERRKRR - ZEREA LT
BEHESERESTHRASE NI ZE

fm ©

BREEOC.1 BTZE LT HiER

Number of shares — Long position

Bin®E — 78
Interests of

persons
acting in
Corporate concert
interests —HTH Total
FEER ArziEgz ot
10,892,000 58,260,000 69,152,000
53,294,400 15,857,600 69,152,000
4,965,600 64,186,400 69,152,000
69,152,000 - 69,152,000
69,152,000 - 69,152,000
69,152,000 - 69,152,000
69,152,000 - 69,152,000
69,152,000 - 69,152,000
69,152,000 - 69,152,000
M -
(@) LHATz#HIFERH69,152,000 K K
MER R HAQFASHITRA
7.04% °

~
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Management contracts
No contracts concerning the management and administration
of the whole or any substantial part of the business of the

Company were entered into or existed during the year.

Major suppliers and customers
The percentages of purchases and sales for the year
attributable to the Group’s major suppliers and customers are

as follows:

Purchases

— the largest supplier

— five largest suppliers combined

Sales

— the largest customer

— five largest customers combined

None of the directors, their associates or any shareholder
(which to the knowledge of the directors owns more than 5%
of the Company’s share capital) had an interest in the major

suppliers or customers noted above.

Connected transactions
The related party transactions as disclosed in note 39 to
the consolidated financial statements do not constitute

connected transactions under the Listing Rules.

Corporate Governance Report
Corporate Governance Report of the Company is set out on

pages 14 to 17.

Directors’ interest in competing business

None of the directors, management or shareholders of the
Company (as defined in the Listing Rules) has an interest in a
business which competes or may compete with the business

of the Group.

ANNUAL REPORT 2009

TEaH
ARARERL BT IR FEEAEEAL
A2 BREMEABS B2 EERITHA
e

FEHERRER
AEEEEEREBERE S EE 25 FER
BEREEREEALOT

R
— RAMED 22%
— ARHEFET 60%
HEHR
— BAREPF 26%
— BEREFEF 51%

BREE WREIBMBALREMBEESRRA
BEADBRAESY% A Lz RREES Ll
TRHEFREFF 2 o

REX %
BEMBREMIVREZEMEALTRS
BFEHREFRAFREZBERS °

B
KRR EEERRERNE14E17TH

EERBRERBCHER

ANAES EEEARE(EERLHH
A EEEERAEEAXBHFATHERS
B2 Rk -



ANNUAL REPORT 2009 3§ MEI AH ENTERTAINMENT GROUP LIMITED E S iR44E M EFAR AT

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

Auditor
The consolidated financial statements have been audited by
PricewaterhouseCoopers who retire and, being eligible, offer

themselves for re-appointment.

On behalf of the Board

Li Kuo Hsing

Chairman

Hong Kong, 28th July 2009
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

VR A TR

PRICEAVATERHOUSE( QOPERS

ANNUAL REPORT 2009

RERKEGFEERR

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF MEI AH ENTERTAINMENT
GROUP LIMITED

(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
Mei Ah Entertainment Group Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (together, the “Group”) set out on pages 37 to
161, which comprise the consolidated and company balance
sheets as at 31st March 2009, and the consolidated income
statement, the consolidated statement of changes in equity
and the consolidated cash flow statement for the year then
ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and

other explanatory notes.

Directors’ responsibility for the financial
statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation and the true and fair presentation of these
consolidated financial statements in accordance with Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
This responsibility includes designing, implementing and
maintaining internal control relevant to the preparation and
the true and fair presentation of financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error; selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies;
and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the

circumstances.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
22nd Floor, Prince’s Building
Central, Hong Kong
Telephone (852) 2289 8888
Facsimile (852) 2810 9888
www.pwchk.com
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HEPHRINGEHERER  URTESS
BRI R R H AR o

EFNMERRARENRE
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Auditor’s responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these
consolidated financial statements based on our audit and to
report our opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance
with Section 90 of the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda
and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the

contents of this report.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants. Those standards require that
we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform
the audit to obtain reasonable assurance as to whether the

financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit
evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s
judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to
fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor
considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation
and true and fair presentation of the financial statements
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in
the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control.
An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness
of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates made by the directors, as well as

evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit

opinion.

B ZEENHRE

MR RE
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B ZBEHRE

Opinion =R

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give BMRE ZEHECVERRERESSB
a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company B ELENEEMAFRHR SEAT
and of the Group as at 31st March 2009 and of the Group’s kK EEER-ZENF=ZHA=Z+—HWS
loss and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance BRALEEBEZEZALFEFENEERR
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards and have ERE > WEEBEB(ATRADOE ZER
been properly prepared in accordance with the disclosure TEEARE -

requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

PricewaterhouseCoopers BRRKEE =R
Certified Public Accountants BIEEFE
Hong Kong, 28th July 2009 &8 “ZEENAFLAZ+N\H
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Revenue
Cost of sales

Gross profit

Other income

Other (losses)/gains — net
— Fair value gain/(loss) on

derivative financial instrument

— Others
Selling and marketing expenses

Administrative and other expenses

Impairment of goodwill
Operating loss

Finance costs — net

Share of losses of associated

companies

Loss before income tax
Income tax credit/(expense)

Loss for the year

Attributable to:
Equity holders of the Company
Minority interests

Loss per share
Basic

Diluted

Dividend

The notes on pages 45 to 161 are an integral part of these

consolidated financial statements.

MEI AH ENTERTAINMENT GROUP LIMITED £ m 2445 5 @A R A A

CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEM ENT

n‘/—.l_\

Bl

|2 ZF L4 = H =+1— HIEF/Z For the year ended 31st March 2009

W 25

EF
HAUWA

Hit (B518) haE — B8
— TEMBIAZR

Wi, (E18)
— Hfth
HERTSHERMX
TR AR
AERE

KEEE
MERR —
PR E N RE1E

BRATSEL A& 18
FrgHiER, (FAx)

FREE

BER
AATEREEA
DERRER

2009 2008
—EZThE —EENE
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
oz FET FET
5 191,559 102,986
7 (145,635) (67,216)
45,924 35,770
5 21,901 10,354
6
31 13,951 (111,401)
(26,644) 75,452
7 (14,586) (6,018)
7 (87,528) (75,547)
15 (22,413) —
(69,395) (71,390)
8 (5,070) (8,816)
18 (1,570) (4,582)
(76,035) (79,788)
9 4,062 (8,596)
(71,973) (83,384)
(71,529) (83,413)
(444) 29
(71,973) (83,384)
HK cents HK cents
y-3/l/] JBA
11 (7.28) (8.78)
11 (7.28) (8.78)
40 - —
FAZE161 BEZHEAR GRS B RET2E

e

EEB D ©

N
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

VA A
w3 E

SE8ER

ASSETS

Non-current assets

Leasehold land and land use
rights

Property, plant and equipment

Intangible assets

Investment properties

Interest in a jointly controlled
entity

Interests in associated companies

Available-for-sale financial assets

Film rights, films in progress and
film royalty deposits

Trade and other receivables

Current assets
Inventories
Trade and other receivables
Financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss
Pledged bank deposit
Cash and cash equivalents

Total assets

EQUITY

Capital and reserves attributable
to equity holders of the
Company
Share capital
Share premium
Reserves

Shareholders’ funds
Minority interests

Total equity

As at 31st March 2009 R} —ZFZ/F=H=+—H

Note
oA

aE
FRBHEE

FHE - £t fF AR 13
W~ R RE 14
EREE 15
BREYHE 16
RERIZEFER 2R 19
REE QT 2 S 18

AR ENKERE 23(a)
BEE BRPEY

EXMERE 17
B R EMEWIE 25
MENEE

FE 24
B R EMEWIE 25
BN EFTABER 20

BEE 23(b)
BIRIFERITERK 22(b)
HeRERBEEEH 26
HEE
ER
ELAFREEBEABGLSES

B (&%

[N 27
B0 a=E 27
i 28(a)
BRES
DERRER
HwEs

ANNUAL REPORT 2009 3§

2009 2008
ZEThE —E2E)N\F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
11,946 12,270
106,129 128,268
84,261 74,710
— 19,631
18,180 59,407
55,582 85,040
- 5,432
276,098 384,758
6,945 7,458
68,712 48,638
22,476 18,401
43,500 30,000
56,620 86,936
198,253 191,433
474,351 576,191
98,209 98,209
167,569 167,569
71,638 181,700
337,416 447,478
265 41
337,681 447,519
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LIABILITIES
Non-current liabilities
Deferred income tax liabilities
Derivative financial instrument
Convertible notes — liability
portion
Obligations under finance leases

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables
Borrowings
Obligations under finance leases
Derivative financial instrument
Convertible notes — liability

portion

Current income tax liabilities

Total liabilities
Total equity and liabilities
Net current assets

Total asset less current liabilities

Director
EFE
Li Kuo Hsing
FEE

MEI AH ENTERTAINMENT GROUP LIMITED E SR8 E A EEAR A F

afe

FREBAR
BEFSHAE
PTEMKEIE

ARRREE — 8EHD
BB AR

RBRRE
B 5 R E RN FIR
BE
B &M AR
TTEMBTA

THRBERE — 8682
BEFREHaE

HAR

HERRAR

nERERE

HRERTDAR

The notes on pages 45 to 161 are an integral part of these

consolidated financial statements.

~

AP
GeBEEAER
RZZFEZJF = H=+1—H As at 31st March 2009
2009 2008
Note HK$’OOO HK$ ‘000
oz FET FET
33 7,612 9,986
31 — 14,005
31 — 22,683
30(b) 3,023 3,346
10,635 50,020
29 78,848 74,589
30(a) 22,387 —
30(b) 3,677 2,746
31 36 —
31 19,404 —
1,683 1,317
126,035 78,652
136,670 128,672
474,351 576,191
72,218 112,781
348,316 497,539
Director 89
ZF
Tong Hing Chi
BER
FASE1G1 BT ARGEMBERR ZE
B -
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BALANCE SHEET
BERER

As at 31st March 2009 R} —ZZ /1 F=H=+—H

ASSETS "E
Non-current assets FERENEE

Interests in subsidiaries NI ENGI P
Current assets e N

Other receivables H e FRE

Cash and cash equivalents RENEE2ZEIER
Total assets HEE
EQUITY e

the Company’s equity holders )31
Share capital fg 7
Share premium B A7 =B
Reserves e
Total equity HiES
LIABILITIES afE
Non-current liabilities EREBREMR
Convertible notes — liability portion FA[#E = — SE3 5D
Derivative financial instruments TTEMBETA
Current liabilities mE AR
Other payables Hth 7R 1E

Convertible notes — liability portion A/ EZE — &5

Derivative financial instruments TTEMBETA
Total liabilities HAaR
Total equity and liabilities HESRAR
Net current assets/(liabilities) REODEE (AR)RHE

Total assets less current liabilities #EEFTEAG

40
Director
EE
Li Kuo Hsing
§ i

The notes on pages 45 to 161 are an integral part of these
consolidated financial statements.

Capital and reserves attributable to Z A FESEEAEESTF

ANNUAL REPORT 2009 3§

2009 2008
= Lk —2B\F
Note HK$°000 HK$’000
Kzt FREIT FET
20 335,653 367,797
20,261 129
26 9 9
20,270 138
355,923 367,935
27 98,209 98,209
27 167,569 167,569
28(b) 70,211 64,498
335,989 330,276
31 - 22,683
31 - 14,005
- 36,688
494 971
31 19,404 —
31 36 -
19,934 971
19,934 37,659
355,923 367,935
336 (833)
335,989 366,964
Director
EE
Tong Hing Chi
BB

ASZE1G1HE AN GEEMEREK 2
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MEI AH ENTERTAINMENT GROUP LIMITED E SR8 E A EEAR A F

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

At 1st April 2007

Loss for the year

Surplus on revaluation of
buidings (note 14)

Fair value gain on available-
for-sale financial assets
(note 23(a))

Currency translation
differences

Deferred income tax relating
o revaluation of buildings
(note 33)

Disposal of available-for-sale
financial assets

Total recognised income/
(expense) for the year

Share-based compensation
(note 32)

Issue of shares (note 31)

Dividends

At 31st March 2008

FEETER
ERXFER
(H#3)

HETRILE
HEEE
ERRR AN
(B3
DEVBTET
%)
ki)

RE

~N

The notes on pages 45 to 161 are an integral part of these

consolidated financial statements.

=\ 7/ z:z‘
’“ai * 4/.\,.,.EEb‘§§E
B2 = FZ S F = § =+— HIFF/Z For the year ended 31st March 2009
Attributable to equity holders of the Company
BERELRREREA

Available

for-sale

financial

Share- assets Retained
Share based Buildings  revaluation earnings/
redemption payment revaluation reserve  (accumulated Minority
Share Share reserve reserve  Contributed  Exchange reserve itE losses) ~interests Total
capital premium &R URBERR surplus  difference #% HEEE  REEY HBBR equity
k% RHER ROER RER fARR ERER Efi EffRR  (RitER) L #ie
HK8000 HK$'000 HK§ 000 HK$ 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HK§ 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HK§ 000 HK$'000
7 7T 71 7T 71 Fér 7T 7T 7471 Fér FA1
82,300 11,156 12 - 107,099 (306) 6,809 930 72,888 12 260,900
= = = = = = = = (83,413 2 (83,384)
- - - - - - 5,668 - - - 5,668
- - - - - - - 56,358 - - 56,358
- - - - - 290 - - - - 290
= = = = = = (992) = = = (992)
- - - - - - - 930) - - 930)
= = = = = 290 4676 55,428 (83,413 2 (2299)
- - - 2197 - - - - - - 2197
15,909 156,413 - - - - - - - - 172,322
= = = = = = = = (4,910) = (4,10)
98,209 167,569 12 2197 107,099 (16) 11,485 56,358 (15,435) 4 447519
FASE161 BEZMEFARGEMBERR 2E
g5 o

41
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

an\

1%'?) (ﬁaﬁ@%‘%

For the year ended 31st March 2009 &% = ZZ /4= H =+ — HILF/Z

At 1st April 2008, as per above  =ZZ/1E

Loss for the year
Surplus on revaluation of
buidings (note 14)

Fair value loss on available-for-

sale financial assets

(note 33(a))
Currency translation

differences

Deferred income tax relating to

revaluation of buildings
(note 33)

Total recognised (expense)/
income for the year

Expiry of share-based
compensation
(note 32)

Minority interest arising on
busingss combination

At 31st March 2009

BA-R:
nEE

EnER
BYEMRS

SR,

B(R)/ WA
UEGE LI
%)

FHafELe

Attributable to equity holders of the Company

The notes on pages 45 to 161 are an integral part of these

consolidated financial statements.

BERELRREREA

Available

for-sale

financial

Share- assets Retained
Share based Buildings  revaluation earnings/
redemption payment revaluation reserve  (accumulated Minority
Share Share reserve reserve  Contributed  Exchange reserve itE losses) ~interests Total
capital premium kR URBERR surplus ~ difference #% AEEE  GEEN HBBR equity
k% RHER ROER RER fARR ERER EfifE EffRR  (RitER) L #ie
HK8000 HKS 000 HK§ 000 HK$ 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HK§ 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HK§ 000 HK$'000
741 7T 71 7T 71 Fér 7T 7T 7471 Fér FA1
98,209 167,569 12 2,197 107,099 (16) 11,485 56,358 (15,435) 4 447519
- - - - - - - - (71529) (¢d) 1973
- - - - - - 3440 - - - 3440
= = = = = = = (¢0,602) = = (¢0,602)
- - - - - (603) - - - - (603)
- - - - - - [566) - - - (566)
- - - - - (603) 2872 (¢0,602) (71529) (e4)  (t10506)
= = - (22,197) - - - - 2197 - -
- - - - - - - - - 68 668
98,209 167,569 12 - 107,099 (819) 14,357 15,756 (64,767) 265 337,681
FEASFE11 BT ARRENBEHRERZE
SEB D ©
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MEI AH ENTERTAINMENT GROUP LIMITED E SR8 E A EEAR A F

CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT

Cash flows from operating
activities
Cash generated from operations
Income tax paid

Net cash generated from operating
activities

Cash flows from investing

activities

Purchase of property, plant and
equipment

Purchase of film rights, films
in progress and film royalty
deposits

Purchase of available-for-sale
financial assets

Purchase of financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss

Acquisition of subsidiaries, net of
cash acquired

Proceeds from sale of investment
properties

Proceeds from sale of available-
for-sale financial assets

Proceeds from sale of financial
assets at fair value through
profit or loss

Proceeds from disposal of an
associated company

Increase in advance to a jointly
controlled entity

Decrease in advance to
associated companies

Interest received

Net cash (used in)/generated from
investing activities

n‘/T\

IE@/)ILE%‘:Z

|2 ZF L4 = H =+1— HIEF/Z For the year ended 31st March 2009

EEREZRS

EEMERS
BA8H

REXBRERE

HAR

RREFHZRS

id
BEYxE-
MR R R
BEELRE
BARDEY
EFREERS
BATHLE
MBEE
BARAFEFABRRER
ZHBEE
WEBFIE DR - HBRATER
ABE
HEREMEZRE
FRIE
HEATHREENBEEEZ
FRiSFRE
HEZEAFEFABSER
ZHBEE
Z 1S FR
HEBERTZHAE
RIE
BT HEE G
B
BRTEE LT
WD
2 WA E

REEE (FTA)FEER

0 HF R

Note
HraE

34

14

17

23(a)

23(b)

38

16

23(a)

23(b)

18

19

18

2009 2008
ZEThEF —EEN\F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
40,794 64,069
(4) (16)

40,790 64,053
(2,229) (10,512)
(28,311) (52,260)

- (625)

(20,044) (15,188)
(19,810) -

- 5,950

- 6,684

1,204 4,498

- 79,065

(443) (445)

3,321 5,763
2,868 2,788
(63,444) 25,718

~N
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT

n‘/—.r\ Iﬁrﬁ/)wi%

For the year ended 31st March 2009 &% = ZZ /4= H =+ — HILF/Z

ANNUAL REPORT 2009 3§

2009 2008
ZEThE —EENF
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
Krat F#ET FET
Cash flows from financing MEITHZHRE
activities MR
Repurchase of convertible notes LA 31 (10,000) —
Interest on convertible notes paid SRR EERE 31 (1,203) (2,144)
Net proceeds from bank IRITIEE ZMENIE
borrowings REE 30 16,000 —
Bank loans and overdrafts EHRTERR
interests paid BEXAE 8 (627) (413)
Repayment of capital element of EEREHRANZ
finance leases BERE D 34(b) (4,304) (1,528)
Interest element of finance leases AMERNZFES D 8 (425) (133)
Increase in pledged deposit [REiiEEEEE 6y (13,500) -
Dividends paid to the Company’s [EENE YN E
shareholders BRE - (4,910)
Net cash used in financing activities #i& &) ff IR & 558 (14,059) (9,128)
Net (decrease)/increase in cash ReRERRLEH(KD)
and cash equivalents i8R (36,713) 80,643
Cash and cash equivalents at FUzRER
beginning of the year ZRERELEHE 86,936 6,003
Exchange differences fEHERE 10 290
Cash and cash equivalents at FRZHER
end of the year SRRLEH 50,233 86,936
Analysis of balances of cash NeRERREHAEEZ
and cash equivalents ®BESH
Cash at bank and on hand RITRFERE 26 56,620 86,936
Bank overdrafts RITEX 30 (6,387) —
50,233 86,936

The notes on pages 45 to 161 are an integral part of these

e

B35 ©

consolidated financial statements. 7

%452 161
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MEI AH ENTERTAINMENT GROUP LIMITED E SR8 E A EEAR A F

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

General information

Mei Ah Entertainment Group Limited (the “Company”)
and its subsidiaries (together the “Group”) are principally
engaged in television operations, film exhibition, film
rights licensing and sub-licensing, sale and distribution
of films and programs and processing of audio visual

products.

The Company is a limited liability company incorporated
in Bermuda. The address of its registered office is
Clarendon House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton HM 11,

Bermuda.

The Company is listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited.

These consolidated financial statements are presented
in thousands of units of Hong Kong dollars (HK$’000),
unless otherwise stated. These consolidated financial
statements have been approved for issue by the Board
of Directors on 28th July 2009.

Summary of significant accounting
policies

The principal accounting policies applied in the
preparation of these consolidated financial statements
are set out below. These policies have been consistently
applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise

stated.

B FEERAR MY RE

—REH

ETREENEEBRATDTA2F D)
REMBRR (B AEE ) EERSE
BEREK SERMREEMERLER
BR - HERRTELRBEUARMT

2,322 O
EEEmM-°

AR IRBEBREFMRILZ2ERA
7 o HFMPFEE 2 ik & Clarendon
House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton HM

11, Bermuda °

ARARAREBBERSGMABARAA L

m o

BREBHBIN  RNEREHBHRERATE
T2 AGEUBBREKEHESS
REZZAFELAZHNBHUETE -

EEEBRAE

RIBARGEVMBRERFAZEESTH
RENRTX - REBEHBEN » BEBEK
EF2Y2MEEERNERER °

~
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B IR AR AT

2 Summary of significant accounting
policies (Continued)

21

Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements of the Group
have been prepared in accordance with Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRS”)
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (“HKICPA”). The consolidated
financial statements have been prepared under
the historical cost convention, as modified by the
revaluation of buildings, investment properties,
available-for-sale financial assets, financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss and derivative

financial instrument.

The preparation of financial statements in
conformity with HKFRS requires the use of certain
critical accounting estimates. It also requires
management to exercise its judgement in the
process of applying the Group’s accounting
policies. The areas involving a higher degree
of judgement or complexity, or areas where
assumptions and estimates are significant to the
consolidated financial statements, are disclosed in
Note 4.

ANNUAL REPORT 2009 3§

2 HESHBREE®)

2.1

WERE

FEBGSNBBRREREETBS
LS (EBSAAE A
iz BB BRELER(EBR
BEA DR - NS UBRSE
BRELAAERR  WHETF
REWE - IHHEMBEE - &
DNFHEFABRBER M BEERT
EMBT A ZEMMELEL -

RERNSTBUHEL Z MHHRE
FEEAETHRREEHEE - &
FEEEEAERASKEESITEE
BREPTEEHE - FREEZH
S EERT CHE  SPRY
RREWBHRRBEANRRAG T
ZEES M 4PHE -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DUE e ER:

2 Summary of significant accounting

policies (Continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)
(@) New/revised standards, amendments and
interpretations to existing standards that are
effective for the year ended 31st March 2009
but has no material impact on the Group’s
financial statements:

HKAS 39 and HKFRS 7
(Amendments)

HK(IFRIC) - Int 12

HK(IFRIC)— Int 14

Reclassification of Financial Assets

Service Concession Arrangements

HKAS 19 — The Limit on a Defined
Benefit Asset, Minimum Funding
Requirements and their Interaction

(b) New/revised standards, amendments and
interpretations to existing standards that are
not yet effective and have not been early
adopted by the Group:

Effective for the year ending 31st March

2010
HKAS 1 (Revised)

HKAS 23 (Revised)
HKAS 32 and HKAS 1

(Amendments)

HKFRS 1 and HKAS 27
(Amendments)

HKFRS 2 (Amendment)
HKFRS 7 (Amendment)

HKFRS 8
HK(IFRIC) — Int 9
and HKAS 39
(Amendments)

HK(IFRIC) — Int 13
HK(IFRIC) — Int 15

HK(IFRIC) — Int 16

HK(IFRIC) — Int 18

Presentation of Financial Statements
Borrowing Costs
Puttable Financial Instruments and

Obligations Arising on Liquidation

Cost of an Investment in a Subsidiary,
Jointly Controlled Entity or Associate

Vesting Conditions and Cancellations

Improving Disclosures about Financial
Instruments

Operating Segments
Embedded Derivatives

Customer Loyalty Programmes
Agreements for the Construction of
Real Estates

Hedges of a Net Investment in a
Foreign Operation

Transfers of Assets from Customers

EE®

2.1

BRREE =)

R F)

@ RBE_ZZAF=A
=+ —HIEFEEMEHRK
EEPBBRRULBES AZE
ZHE RRIERT Rl BE
R 2T REE
Bae LR BBEEL
FIEREBUKEL BHIE
N

(GCHEN)

E/<IWWﬁ£%§§ RIS AT
) — ZH
SBE 2% N

BEE(ARUBREZE BAOHE
g) — I 193%
REBE14E — RER

FEER
- R
BEER
kmEMR
ER

(o) EAERBEAEBEILERER
RN 2 35 A& R] 2 B
BEER & RRE
RE8EE_—_E—ZFF=-HF
=1+—HILFEE
BESTHERE 15 e
(BET) 25
BAGTHEAIFE2NY  BERL

(&) -

BRI EAERER  WHheE
BASTERFE 15 IARE
CCHEY) BRE4E

\ ZEfE

BRUBEREIER  RHEL
BASERE TR 7 [
CCHEN) RrEE

EE D
AZRE
AR

BAMRERE S EBHKIER
(1BFT ) B

BARRERET S BEBEH
CCHES) BIAZ

BE

BANKEAE SR meai

@MIWMﬁEW£% NEfTET
ZEE) — =
n%%%%gﬁﬁﬁglg u+
R8I 39 (3T &)

B (ERHHERNRE ZFRHE
RE8) — HE
REE135%

% (EREBERRE RHEEZE
§AE e
REF15%

E/(IWMﬁEW£% JIE 30
REE) — T & 24t
REE165

BE(ARIHENRE Xé%ﬁg
ZEE) — BrEz
RRE185

~
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+ Ay
B RS R R MIEE
2 Summary of significant accounting 2 EESMBREE®
policies (Continued)
2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued) REEE(E)
(b) (Continued) (#&)
Effective for the year ending 31st March RBEF_ZF—ZFF=-F
2010 (Continued) Et—HIEFEEHN (E)
Improvements to HKFRS published by BERGTHATR=ZEN
HKICPA in October 2008: FHARMzEBUB®RSE
XAl 2 BhE
HKAS 1 (Amendment) ~ Presentation of Financial Statements BESHEAE 1 HHEHRR2E)
CHEN)
HKAS 2 (Amendment)  Inventories BBEt g2 R
G HES)
HKAS 7 (Amendment)  Cash Flow Statements BREEAETE HEREk
CHES)
HKAS 16 (Amendment)  Property, Plant and Equipment BESHEAE 165 % KERR
CHEN) f&
HKAS 19 (Amendment)  Employee Benefits BESHENE 198 EEREF
G HES)
HKAS 20 (Amendment)  Accounting for Government Grants BEASEAE0E BNRM2E:
and Disclosure of Government (BEIR) RERBE
Assistance ik
HKAS 23 (Amendment)  Borrowing Costs BEeENF3E HEERA
CHES)
HKAS 27 (Amendment) ~ Consolidated and Separate Financial BASEAEE HFARBUMK
Statements CHES) EiE
HKAS 28 (Amendment)  Investments in Associates BAGTERESYE REEAFZR
CHES) &
HKAS 29 (Amendment)  Financial Reporting in BBEHENE20Y BERRLESD
Hyperinflationary Economies (fBFIR) ZIBRE
HKAS 31 (Amendment)  Interests in Joint Ventures RESHENESYE RaFERHER
G HES) LR
HKAS 36 (Amendment)  Impairment of Assets BESTEAEGY HERME
CHEN)
HKAS 38 (Amendment)  Intangible Assets BBEERESY AVEE
G HEN)
HKAS 39 (Amendment)  Financial Instruments: Recognition and REBHENFE0Y HHEIR B
Measurement (fBEIR) Ritg
HKAS 40 (Amendment)  Investment Property BESTEAFEWOR RENE
CHEN)
HKAS 41 (Amendment)  Agriculture RESHENEMYE EF
G HEN)
HKFRS 1 (Revised) First-time Adoption of HKFRS BAMKEAE1S  ERRMEAN
(8{57T) BHREEE
HKFRS 5 (Amendment)  Non-current Assets Held for Sale and BENBEAESE  BELEZER
Discontinued Operations (fBFIK) HEEREH
IR

Other minor amendments to HKFRS 7 — Financial HA¥ LU T ZERIME S 2 8IS ET -

Instruments: Disclosures, HKAS 8 — Accounting EEVMEERFE7YE MIFETH :

Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and WE - BEETHERER — &

Errors, HKAS 10 — Events After the Balance Sheet TR SRt ERRERE

Date, HKAS 18 — Revenue and HKAS 34 — Interim F-EBSTEAE105E HE

Financial Reporting H&E1E - BB EAFE 185K
WERBEBSTEDFE345E —
FRERBT S 3R
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 Summary of significant accounting
policies (Continued)
2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

(b)

(Continued)

Effective for the year ending 31st March

2011
HKAS 27 (Revised)

HKAS 39 (Amendment)
HKFRS 3 (Revised)

HK(IFRIC) — Int 17

Consolidated and Separate
Financial Statements
Eligible Hedged Items

Business Combinations

Distributions of Non-cash Assets
to Owners

Improvements to HKFRS published by
HKICPA in May 2009:

HKAS 1 (Amendment)

HKAS 7 (Amendment)

HKAS 17 (Amendment)
HKAS 18 (Amendment)
HKAS 36 (Amendment)
HKAS 38 (Amendment)
HKAS 39 (Amendment)
HKFRS 2 (Amendment)

HKFRS 5 (Amendment)

HKFRS 8 (Amendment)
HK(IFRIC) — Int 9

(Amendment)

HK(IFRIC) — Int 16
(Amendment)

Presentation of Financial Statements

Statement of Cash Flows

Leases

Revenue

Impairment of Assets

Intangible Assets

Financial Instruments: Recognition
and Measurement

Share-based Payment

Non-current Assets Held for Sale
and Discontinued Operations

Operating Segments
Reassessment of Embedded

Derivatives

Hedges of a Net Investment in a
Foreign Operation

The Group has already commenced an
assessment of the impact of these new
HKFRS but is not yet in a position to state
whether these new HKFRS would have a
significant impact on its results of operations
and financial position.

2 HES

B IR AR AT

ETBURERE (=)

21 RREEHE)
(b) (#&)
REF_-_Z——f=H
Et—HILFEEH
ERETTEAFEY HRARBUME
(3 Bx

FRGTRAENY SERIER
(B35

ERUBENEE  EHAHK
(3T)

EEERMBREN  PEEADRE
RBZEEE) — HeEE
REFTH

EESHALAER TR
4 5 B 2 B B 5 4
8 i

EBEHRAZE 1R
(RT)
BRSTENETH
(BFIT)
BREETENE TR AY
(3T %)
ERGHRENE 188 K&
(BRT)
BBEERE6Y EEHA
(BFT)
BRGNS BYVEE
(AT %)
EBGHEAEY HHIA BRI
(BT) Kit&
BEBBENZ2E  HUROXARE
(BI)
BREBKENESE  HFHEZER
(AT %) BEEREH
z«M*%%%
BRUBERESE LED
(BFT)
EB(ERMBEN  BRERENTET
2Ezeg) -2 &
BEOT
(AT)
ER(ERTKEN  BIARBERE
REZEE) -2 ZHW
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B IR AR AT

2 Summary of significant accounting

policies (Continued)
2.2 Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the

financial statements of the Company and all its

subsidiaries made up to 31st March.

(a)

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are all entities (including special
purpose entities) over which the Group
has the power to govern the financial and
operating policies generally accompanying
a shareholding of more than one half of
the voting rights. The existence and effect
of potential voting rights that are currently
exercisable or convertible are considered
when assessing whether the Group controls
another entity. Subsidiaries are fully
consolidated from the date on which control
is transferred to the Group. They are de-
consolidated from the date that control

ceases.

The purchase method of accounting is used
to account for the acquisition of subsidiaries
by the Group. The cost of an acquisition
is measured as the fair value of the assets
given, equity instruments issued and liabilities
incurred or assumed at the date of exchange,
plus costs directly attributable to the
acquisition. Identifiable assets acquired and
liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed
in a business combination are measured
initially at their fair values at the acquisition
date, irrespective of the extent of any minority
interest. The excess of the cost of acquisition
over the fair value of the Group’s share of the
identifiable net assets acquired is recorded
as goodwill. If the cost of acquisition is
less than the fair value of the net assets
of the subsidiary acquired, the difference
is recognised directly in the consolidated

income statement.

ANNUAL REPORT 2009 3§
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 Summary of significant accounting
policies (Continued)

2.2 Consolidation (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Subsidiaries (Continued)

Inter-company transactions, balances and
unrealised gains on transactions between
group companies are eliminated. Unrealised
losses are also eliminated. Accounting
policies of subsidiaries have been changed
where necessary in the consolidated financial
statements to ensure consistency with the

policies adopted by the Group.

In the Company’s balance sheet, the
investments in subsidiaries are stated at cost
less provision for impairment losses. The
results of subsidiaries are accounted by the
Company on the basis of dividend received

and receivable.

Transactions with minority interests

The Group applies a policy of treating
transactions with minority interests as
transactions with parties external to the
Group. Disposals to minority interests that
result in gains and losses for the Group
are recorded in the consolidated income
statement. Purchases from minority interests
result in goodwill, being the difference
between any consideration paid and the
relevant share acquired of the carrying value

of net assets of the subsidiary acquired.

B FEERAR MY RE

2 HESHBREE®)

2.2

wekA (&)
(a) HEB2E(E)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B IR AR AT

2 Summary of significant accounting
policies (Continued)

2.2 Consolidation (Continued)

(c)

Associated companies

Associated companies are all entities over
which the Group has significant influence
but not control, generally accompanying a
shareholding of between 20% and 50% of
the voting rights. Investments in associated
companies are accounted for using the
equity method of accounting and are
initially recognised at cost. The Group’s
investment in associated companies includes
goodwill identified on acquisition, net of any

accumulated impairment loss.

The Group’s share of its associated
companies’ post-acquisition profits or losses
is recognised in the consolidated income
statement, and its share of post-acquisition
movements in reserves is recognised in
reserves. The cumulative post-acquisition
movements are adjusted against the
carrying amount of the investment. When
the Group’s share of losses in an associated
company equals or exceeds its interest in
the associated company, including any other
unsecured receivables, the Group does
not recognise further losses, unless it has
incurred obligations or made payments on

behalf of the associated company.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 Summary of significant accounting
policies (Continued)
2.2 Consolidation (Continued)

(c) Associated companies (Continued)

(d)

Unrealised gains on transactions between
the Group and its associated companies
are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s
interest in the associated companies.
Unrealised losses are also eliminated
unless the transaction provides evidence
of an impairment of the asset transferred.
Accounting policies of associated companies
have been changed where necessary to
ensure consistency with the policies adopted
by the Group.

Dilution gains and losses arising in
investments in associated companies are
recognised in the consolidated income

statement.

In the Company’s balance sheet the
investments in associated companies are
stated at cost less provision for impairment
losses. The results of associated companies
are accounted for by the Company on the

basis of dividend received and receivable.

Jointly controlled entities
The Group’s interests in jointly controlled
entities are accounted for using the equity

method of accounting.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B IR AR AT

2 Summary of significant accounting

policies (Continued)

2.2 Consolidation (Continued)

(d) Jointly controlled entities (Continued)
Equity accounting is discontinued from the
date on which the Group ceases to have joint
control over, or have significant influence
in, a jointly controlled entity. When the
carrying amount of the investment in the
jointly controlled entity reaches zero, equity
method of accounting is discontinued unless
the Group has incurred or obligations or
guaranteed obligations in respect of the jointly

controlled entity.

In the Company’s balance sheet, the
investments in jointly controlled entities are
stated at cost less provision for impairment
losses. The results of jointly controlled entities
are accounted for by the Company on the

basis of dividends received and receivable.

2.3 Segment reporting

A business segment is a group of assets and
operations engaged in providing products or
services that are subject to risks and returns
that are different from those of other business
segments. A geographical segment is engaged in
providing products or services within a particular
economic environment that are subject to risks and
returns that are different from those of segments

operating in other economic environments.

In accordance with the Group’s internal financial
reporting, the Group has determined that business
segments be presented as the primary reporting
format and geographical as the secondary

reporting format.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 Summary of significant accounting
policies (Continued)

2.3

2.4

Segment reporting (Continued)

Unallocated costs mainly represent corporate
expenses and deficit on revaluation of investment
properties. Unallocated income represents rental
income, commission income and fair value gain
on derivative financial instrument. Segment
assets comprise primarily of property, plant and
equipment (exclude buildings and leasehold
improvements), film rights, films in progress, film

royalty deposits, inventories, trade and other
receivables and operating cash. Unallocated assets
mainly represent investment properties, leasehold
land and land use rights, buildings, leasehold
improvements, available-for-sale financial assets.
Segment liabilities comprise operating liabilities.
Unallocated liabilities mainly represent convertible
notes, derivative financial instrument and deferred
tax liabilities. Capital expenditure comprises
additions to property, plant and equipment, film
right, films in progress and film royalty deposits

(notes 14 and 17).

Foreign currency translation

(a) Functional and presentation currency
Iltems included in the financial statements of
each of the Group’s entities are measured
using the currency of the primary economic
environment in which the entity operates
(the “functional currency”). The consolidated
financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars, which is the Company’s

functional and the Group’s presentation

currency.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B IR AR AT

2 Summary of significant accounting 2 BEERHBREEa
policies (Continued)
2.4 Foreign currency translation (Continued) 2.4 SMmE(E)
(b) Transactions and balances (b) XBR#ZE

Foreign currency transactions are translated HNEZZEARS B (B ME
into the functional currency using the #zt=21EE 0 AlEER)ZE
exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the AEZREANEEY - &
transactions or valuation where items are BEhNERGELEZELEE
remeasured. Foreign exchange gains and ARG UINE BB 2 B ¥
losses resulting from the settlement of such EEREGEUFRERRE
transactions and from the translation at year- EECEARBENRGES RS
end exchange rates of monetary assets and RER HUSERKREER
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies AR EERTRESH T
are recognised in the consolidated income ERE I IR A BREFBRID ©

statement, except when deferred in equity as
qualifying cash flow hedges or qualifying net

investment hedges.

WL

FERMBEEREE (W

Translation differences on non-monetary

{r

financial assets and liabilities such as equities AFEFTABRERZBRAT
held at fair value through profit or loss are Bz EZHNERRER
recognised in profit or loss as part of the fair RATEEEZ B 3k
value gain or loss. Translation differences EEBKEE (Mo BEAAH
on non-monetary financial assets such as HEZER) ZREEZRETA
equities classified as available-for-sale are Rz AHHERER o

included in the available-for-sale reserve in

equity.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 Summary of significant accounting
policies (Continued)
2.4 Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(c) Group companies

The results and financial position of all
the group entities (none of which has the
currency of a hyperinflationary economy) that
have a functional currency different from the
presentation currency are translated into the

presentation currency as follows:

(i) assets and liabilities for each balance
sheet presented are translated at the
closing rate at the date of that balance

sheet;

(ii) income and expenses for each income
statement are translated at average
exchange rates (unless this average is
not a reasonable approximation of the
cumulative effect of the rates prevailing
on the transaction dates, in which case

income and expenses are translated at

the dates of the transactions); and

(iii) all resulting exchange differences are
recognised as a separate component of
equity.

On consolidation, exchange differences

arising from the translation of the net

investment in foreign operations, and of
borrowings and other currency instruments
designated as hedges of such investments,

are taken to shareholders’ equity. When a

foreign operation is partially disposed of or

sold, exchange differences that were recorded
in the consolidated income statement as part

of the gain or loss on sale.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B IR AR AT

2 Summary of significant accounting

policies (Continued)

2.4 Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(c) Group companies (Continued)
Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on
the acquisition of a foreign entity are treated
as assets and liabilities of the foreign entity

and translated at the closing rate.

2.5 Property, plant and equipment

Buildings comprise mainly offices. Buildings are
recorded at fair value, based on periodic, but at
least triennial, valuations by external independent
valuers, less subsequent depreciation for
buildings. Any accumulated depreciation at the
date of revaluation is eliminated against the gross
carrying amount of the asset and the net amount
is restated to the revalued amount of the asset.
All other property, plant and equipment is stated
at historical cost less depreciation. Historical cost
includes expenditure that is directly attributable to

the acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s
carrying amount or recognised as a separate
asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable that
future economic benefits associated with the item
will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can
be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the
replaced part is derecognised. All other repairs
and maintenance are charged to the consolidated
income statement during the financial period in

which they are incurred.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 Summary of significant accounting
policies (Continued)
2.5 Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Increases in the carrying amount arising on
revaluation of buildings are credited to other
reserves in shareholders’ equity. Decreases that
offset previous increases of the same asset are
charged against other reserves directly in equity;
all other decreases are charged to the consolidated

income statement.

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
is calculated using the straight-line method to
allocate cost or revalued amounts to their residual

values over their estimated useful lives, as follows:

Leasehold improvements 10% or lease term,
whichever is the shorter

Buildings 2%

Motor vehicles 25%

Furniture, fixtures and equipment 15% to 25%

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are

reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each

balance sheet date.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down
immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s
carrying amount is greater than its estimated

recoverable amount.

Gains and losses on disposals and determined by
comparing the proceeds with the carrying amount
and are recognised in the consolidated income
statement. When revalued assets are sold, the
amounts included in other reserves are transferred

to retained earnings.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B IR AR AT

2 Summary of significant accounting
policies (Continued)

2.6

Investment properties
Property that is held for long-term rental yields
and is not occupied by the Group, is classified as

investment properties.

Investment property is measured initially at its

cost, including related transaction costs.

After initial recognition, investment property is
carried at fair value, representing open market
value determined annually by external valuers. Fair
value is based on active market prices, adjusted, if
necessary, for any difference in the nature, location
or condition of the specific asset. If this information
is not available, the Group uses alternative
valuation methods such as recent prices from less
active markets or discounted cash flow projections.
These valuations are reviewed annually by external
valuers, changes in fair values are recorded in the

consolidated income statement.

The fair value of investment properties reflects,
among other things, rental income from current
leases and assumptions about rental income
from future leases in the light of current market

conditions.

The fair value also reflects, on a similar basis, any
cash outflows that could be expected in respect
of the property. Some of those outflows are
recognised as a liability, including finance lease
liabilities in respect of land classified as investment
property; others, including contingent rent
payments, are not recognised in the consolidated

financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 Summary of significant accounting
policies (Continued)

2.6

Investment properties (Continued)

Subsequent expenditure is charged to the asset’s
carrying amount only when it is probable that
future economic benefits associated with the
item will flow to the Group and the cost of the
item can be measured reliably. All other repairs
and maintenance costs are expensed in the
consolidated income statement during the year in

which they are incurred.

If an investment property becomes owner-
occupied, it is reclassified as property, plant
and equipment, and its fair value at the date of
reclassification becomes its cost for accounting
purposes. Property that is being constructed or
developed for future use as investment property
is classified as property, plant and equipment and
stated at cost until construction or development
is complete, at which time it is reclassified
and subsequently accounted for as investment

property.

If an item of property, plant and equipment
becomes an investment property because its use
has changed, any difference resulting between the
carrying amount and the fair value of this item at
the date of transfer is recognised in equity as a
revaluation of property, plant and equipment under
HKAS 16. However, if a fair value gain reverses a
previous impairment loss, the gain is recognised in

the consolidated income statement.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B IR AR P AT

2 Summary of significant accounting
policies (Continued)

2.7

Intangible assets

(a)

(b)

Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of the cost
of an acquisition over the fair value of the
Group’s share of the net identifiable assets
of the acquired subsidiary at the date of
acquisition. Goodwill on acquisitions of
subsidiaries is included in intangible assets.
Goodwill is tested for impairment and carried
at cost less accumulated impairment losses.
Impairment losses on goodwill are not
reversed. Gains and losses on the disposal
of an entity include the carrying amount of

goodwill relating to the entity sold.

Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units
for the purpose of impairment testing. The
allocation is made to those cash-generating
units or groups of cash-generating units that
are expected to benefit from the business
combination in which the goodwill arose

identified according to operating segment.

Contractual supplier relationships

Contractual supplier relationships acquired in
a business combination are recognised at fair
value at the acquisition date. The contractual
supplier relations have a finite useful life
and are carried at cost less accumulated
amortisation. Amortisation is calculated using
the straight-line method over the expected life

of the supplier relationships.
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2 Summary of significant accounting
policies (Continued)

2.7 Intangible assets

(c) Film rights, films in progress and film

royalty deposits (Continued)

(i)

(ii)

Film rights

Film rights are stated at cost less
accumulated amortisation and
impairment losses. Film rights are
amortised at rates calculated to write off
the costs in proportion to the expected
revenues from exhibition, reproduction
and distribution of audio visual products,
the licensing of video rights and other
broadcast rights following their release.
Such rates are subject to annual review

by the directors.

Films in progress

Films in progress are stated at cost less
any provision for impairment losses.
Costs include all direct costs associated
with the production of films. Provisions
are made for costs which are in excess
of the expected future revenue generated
by these films. The balance of film
production costs not yet due at year end
are disclosed as commitments. Costs of
films are transferred to film rights upon

completion.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B IR AR P AT

2 Summary of significant accounting
policies (Continued)

2.7

Intangible assets

(c) Film rights, films in progress and film
royalty deposits (Continued)
(iii) ~ Film royalty deposits

Licence fees paid in advance and by
instalments under licensing agreements
for distribution of audio visual products
and sub-licensing of film titles, in
specified geographical areas and time
periods, are accounted for as film royalty
deposits. The balance payable under
the licensing agreements is disclosed
as a commitment. Upon the release of
the pre-recorded audio visual products
and the materials, the relevant portion
of licence fees of purchased film titles
are charged to the consolidated income
statement on a systematic basis, with
reference to the projected revenue and
the underlying licence periods. Provision
for impairment loss is made against
deposits to the extent that they are not
expected to generate any future revenue

for the Group.

In case where the Group is unable to
exercise its rights under a licensing
agreement because the film producer
fails to complete the film, the Group
writes off the difference between the
advances made and the estimated
recoverable amount from the film

producer.

2 HESHBREE®)

27 BRERE(E)
(c) EBEWKE HBEFEXRE

EREESR (E)

(i) EBEREERE
BRERTETERUK
BEREMME 2T
B8 &% B 8 2 R B 175 5% T
TR DS Z iR
& I AERRER
& o RIZRIE RS E 2 B
IR ERRI FUAEANE - i
EESRLTERRME
K BABZMEZS
BIREES 2 EETW
mRARERERRUA
Az HEARE WS
RHBR - MAEHRE R
ERAEETREMA
#® - BlERLESY
MER BRI -

fief 3 9 K BE 52 B &
B LB EEEET
EREREET 2%
A BIZAER B4 i 85 1)
BB ARG AT
EI¥FEE5 -



ANNUAL REPORT 2009 3§

MEI AH ENTERTAINMENT GROUP LIMITED E iR &E A EEAR A F

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 Summary of significant accounting
policies (Continued)

2.7

2.8

Intangible assets
(c) Film rights, films in progress and film
royalty deposits (Continued)
At each balance sheet date, both internal and
external market information are considered
to assess whether there is any indication that
film rights, films in progress and film royalty
deposits are impaired. If any such indication
exists, the carrying amount of such assets is
assessed and where relevant, an impairment
loss is recognised to reduce the asset to its
recoverable amount. Such impairment losses
are recognised in the consolidated income

statement.

Impairment of investments in subsidiaries,
associated companies and non-financial assets
Assets that have an indefinite useful life, for
example goodwill, are not subject to amortisation
and are tested annually for impairment. Assets
are reviewed for impairment whenever events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying
amount may not be recoverable. An impairment
loss is recognised for the amount by which the
asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable
amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of
an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in
use. For the purposes of assessing impairment,
assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which
there are separately identifiable cash flows (cash-
generating units). Non-financial assets other than
goodwill that suffered an impairment are reviewed
for possible reversal of the impairment at each

reporting date.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BRI AR AT

2 Summary of significant accounting

policies (Continued)
2.9 Financial assets

2.9.1 Classification

The Group classifies its financial assets in
the following categories: at fair value through
profit or loss, loans and receivable and
available-for-sale. The classification depends
on the purpose for which the financial assets
were acquired. Management determine the

classification of its financial assets at initial

recognition.

(a) Financial assets at fair value through

profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss are financial assets held for
trading. A financial asset is classified in
this category if acquired principally for
the purpose of selling in the short term.
Derivatives are also categorised as held
for trading unless they are designated
as hedges. Assets in this category are

classified as current assets.

(b) Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-
derivative financial assets with fixed
or determinable payments that are
not quoted in an active market. They
are included in current assets, except
for maturities greater than 12 months
after the balance sheet date. These are
classified as non-current assets. The
Group’s loans and receivables comprise
‘trade and other receivables’

consolidated balance sheet.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 Summary of significant accounting
policies (Continued)
2.9 Financial assets (Continued)
2.9.1 Classification (Continued)

(c) Available-for-sale financial assets
Available-for-sale financial assets
are non-derivatives that are either
designated in this category or not
classified in any of the other categories.
They are included in non-current assets
unless management intends to dispose
of the investment within 12 months of

the balance sheet date.

2.9.2 Recognition and measurement

Regular way purchases and sales of financial
assets are recognised on trade-date — the
date on which the Group commits to purchase
or sell the asset. Investments are initially
recognised at fair value plus transaction costs
for all financial assets not carried at fair value
through profit or loss. Financial assets carried
at fair value through profit or loss are initially
recognised at fair value and transaction costs
are expensed in the consolidated income
statement. Financial assets are derecognised
when the rights to receive cash flows from
the investments have expired or have been
transferred and the Group has transferred
substantially all risks and rewards of
ownership. Available-for-sale financial assets
and financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss are subsequently carried at fair
value. Loans and receivables are carried at
amortised cost using the effective interest

method.
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2 Summary of significant accounting
policies (Continued)
2.9 Financial assets (Continued)

2.9.2 Recognition and measurement (Continued)

Gains or losses arising from changes in the
fair value of the “financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss” category are presented
in the consolidated income statement, in the
period in which they arise. Dividend income
from financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss is recognised in the consolidated
income statement when the Group’s right to

receive payments is established.

Changes in the fair value of monetary
and non-monetary securities classified as

available-for-sale are recognised in equity.

When securities classified as available-for-
sale are sold or impaired, the accumulated
fair value adjustments recognised in equity
are included in the consolidated income

statement.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BRI AR AT
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B FEERAR Y RE

2 Summary of significant accounting 2 EE®HBREBE@
policies (Continued)
2.9 Financial assets (Continued) 29 MBESEE)

292 BEREE(E)

2.9.2 Recognition and measurement (Continued)

Interest on available-for-sale securities
calculated using the effective interest
method is recognised in the consolidated
income statement. Dividends on available-
for-sale equity instruments are recognised
in the consolidated income statement when
the Group’s right to receive payments is
established.

The fair values of quoted investments are
based on current bid prices. Available-for
sale financial assets that were not quoted in
an active market were measured at cost less
impairment.

The Group assesses at each balance sheet
date whether there is objective evidence that
a financial asset or a group of financial assets
is impaired. In the case of equity securities
classified as available-for-sale, a significant
or prolonged decline in the fair value of the
security below its cost is considered an
indicator that the securities are impaired. If
any such evidence exists for available-for-
sale financial assets, the cumulative loss
— measured as the difference between the
acquisition cost and the current fair value,
less any impairment loss on that financial
asset previously recognised in profit or loss —
is removed from equity and recognised in the
consolidated income statement. Impairment
losses recognised in the consolidated income
statement on equity instruments are not
reversed through the consolidated income
statement. Impairment testing of trade
receivables is described in Note 2.11.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B IR AR P AT

2 Summary of significant accounting
policies (Continued)

2.10

2.11

2.12

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost is determined using the first-
in, first-out method. Net realisable value is the
estimated selling price in the ordinary course of

business, less applicable variable selling expenses.

Trade and other receivables

Trade and other receivables are recognised
initially at fair value and subsequently measured
at amortised cost using the effective interest
method, less provision for impairment. A provision
for impairment of trade and other receivables
is established when there is objective evidence
that the Group will not be able to collect all
amounts due according to the original terms of
receivables. The amount of the provision is the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount
and the present value of estimated future cash
flows, discounted at the effective interest rate. The
carrying amount of the asset is reduced through
the use of an allowance account, the amount of
the provision is recognised in the consolidated
income statement. When a receivable is
uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance
account for receivables. Subsequent receipts of
amounts previously written off are credited in the

consolidated income statement.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash in hand,
deposits held at call with banks, other short-term
highly liquid investments with original maturities of
three months or less, and bank overdrafts. Bank
overdrafts are shown within borrowings in current

liabilities on the consolidated balance sheet.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B FEERAR Y RE

2 Summary of significant accounting
policies (Continued)

2.13

2.14

2.15

2.16

Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity.

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue
of new shares or options are shown in equity as a

deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

Trade and other payables
Trade and other payables are recognised initially at
fair value and subsequently measured at amortised

cost using the effective interest method.

Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value,
net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings
are subsequently stated at amortised cost;
any difference between the proceeds (net of
transaction costs) and the redemption value is
recognised in the consolidated income statement
over the period of the borrowings using the

effective interest method.

Convertible notes

In accordance with the requirements of HKAS
39, Financial Instruments — Recognition and
Measurement, the convertible note contract has
to be separated into two components, a derivative
component consisting of the conversion option
and a liability component consisting of the straight
debt element of the notes, due to the inclusion of
a conversion price reset mechanism subject to the
market value of the Company’s share on certain
dates, rendering the conversion price and/or the

number of shares to be issued variable.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B IR AR P AT

2 Summary of significant accounting
policies (Continued)

2.16 Convertible notes (Continued)

2.17

On the issue of the convertible notes, the fair
value of the embedded conversion option was
calculated using the Binomial model. The derivative
component, the embedded conversion option, is
carried at fair value on the balance sheet with any
changes in fair value being charged or credited to
the consolidated income statement in the period
when the change occurs. The remainder of the
proceeds is allocated to the debt element of the
notes, net of transaction costs, and is recorded
as the liability component. The liability component
is subsequently carried at amortised cost until
extinguished on conversion or redemption. Interest
expense is calculated using the effective interest
method by applying the effective interest rate to
the liability component through to the maturity
date.

When the convertible notes are converted, the fair
value of the derivative financial instrument and
the amortised cost of the liability component are
transferred to share capital and share premium
as consideration for the shares issued. If the
convertible notes are redeemed, any difference
between the amount paid and the carrying
amounts of both components is recognised in the

consolidated income statement.

Derivative financial instruments

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on
the date a derivative contract is entered into and
are subsequently remeasured at their fair value.
The method of recognising the resulting gain or
loss depends on whether the derivative is designed
as a hedging instrument, and if so, the nature of

the item being hedged.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 Summary of significant accounting
policies (Continued)

2.17

2.18

Derivative financial instruments (Continued)

The Group’s derivative instruments do not qualify
for hedge accounting and are accounted for at
fair value through profit of loss. Changes in the
fair value of these derivative instruments that do
not qualify for hedge accounting are recognised

immediately in the consolidated income statement.

Current and deferred income tax

The tax expense for the period comprises
current and deferred tax. Tax is recognised in the
consolidated income statement, except to the
extent that it relates to items recognised directly
in equity. In this case, the related tax is also

recognised in equity.

The current income tax charge is calculated on
the basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively
enacted at the balance sheet date in the countries
where the Company and its subsidiaries and
associates operate and generate taxable income.
Management periodically evaluates positions
taken in tax returns with respect to situations
in which applicable tax regulation is subject to
interpretation. It establishes provisions where
appropriate on the basis of amounts expected to

be paid to the tax authorities.
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2 Summary of significant accounting 2 EE®HBREBE@
policies (Continued)

2.18 Current and deferred income tax (Continued) 2.18 EPRAREIEFRRIR (&)

4

Deferred income tax is recognised, using the
liability method, on temporary differences arising
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and
their carrying amounts in the consolidated financial
statements. However, the deferred income tax is
not accounted for if it arises from initial recognition
of an asset or liability in a transaction other than
a business combination that at the time of the
transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable
profit or loss. Deferred income tax is determined
using tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted
or substantially enacted by the balance sheet
date and are expected to apply when the related
deferred income tax asset is realised or the

deferred income tax liability is settled.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised to
the extent that it is probable that future taxable
profit will be available against which the temporary

differences can be utilised.

Deferred income tax is provided for on temporary
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries,
associated companies and jointly controlled
entities, except where the timing of the reversal of
the temporary difference is controlled by the Group
and it is probable that the temporary difference will

not reverse in the foreseeable future.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 Summary of significant accounting
policies (Continued)
2.19 Employee benefits

Group companies operate various pension
schemes. The Group has a manadatory provident
fund scheme and another defined contribution
plan. A defined contribution plan is a pension plan
under which the Group pays fixed contributions

into a separate entity. The Group has no legal
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or constructive obligations to pay further
contributions if the fund does not hold sufficient
assets to pay all employees the benefits relating to

employee service in the current and prior periods.

The Group pays contributions to publicly or
privately administered pension insurance plans on
a mandatory, contractual or voluntary basis. The
Group has no further payment obligations once the
contributions have been paid. The contributions
are recognised as employee benefit expense when
they are due. Prepaid contributions are recognised
as an asset to the extent that a cash refund or a

reduction in the future payments is available.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BRI AR AT

2 Summary of significant accounting

policies (Continued)

2.20 Share-based payment

The Group operates an equity-settled, share-
based compensation plans under which the entity
receives services from employees and other
qualifying grantees as consideration for equity
instruments (options) of the Group. The fair value
of the services received in exchange for the grant
of the options is recognised as an expense. The
total amount to be expensed is determined by
reference to the fair value of the options granted,
excluding the impact of any non-market service
and performance vesting conditions (for example,
profitability, sales growth targets and remaining
an employee of the entity over a specified time).
Non-market vesting conditions are included in
assumptions about the number of options that
are expected to vest. The total amount expensed
is recognised over the vesting period, which is
the period over which all of the specified vesting
conditions are to be satisfied. At each balance
sheet date, the entity revises its estimates of
the number of options that are expected to vest
based an the non-mattering vesting conditions. It
recognises the impact of the revision of original
estimates, if any, in the consolidated income
statement with a corresponding adjustment to

equity.

The proceeds received net of any directly
attributable transaction costs are credited to share
capital (nominal value) and share premium when

the options are exercised.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 Summary of significant accounting
policies (Continued)

2.21 Provisions and contingent liabilities

B R R IR ML
2 EEEHBREBE#

221 BERAARAR

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a
present legal or constructive obligation as a result
of past events, and it is probable that an outflow of
resources will be required to settle the obligations,

and a reliable estimate of the amount can be made.

A contingent liability is a possible obligation that
arises from past events and whose existence
will only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-
occurrence of one or more uncertain future events
not wholly within the control of the Group. It can
also be a present obligation arising from past
events that is not recognised because it is not
probable that outflow of economic resources will
be required or the amount of obligation cannot be

measured reliably.

A contingent liability is not recognised but is
disclosed in the notes to the financial statements.
When a change in the probability of an outflow
occurs so that outflow is probable, it will then be

recognised as a provision.

2.22 Revenue recognition

Revenue comprises the fair value of the
consideration received or receivable for the sale
of goods and services in the ordinary course of
the Group’s activities. Revenue is shown net of
discounts and after eliminating sales within the

Group.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BRI AR AT

2 Summary of significant accounting

policies (Continued)

2.22 Revenue recognition (Continued)

The Group recognises revenue when the amount
of revenue can be reliably measured, it is probable
that future economic benefits will flow to the entity
and specific criteria have been met for each of
the Group’s activities as described below. The
amount of revenue is not considered to be reliably
measurable until all contingencies relating to
the sale have been resolved. The Group bases
its estimates on historical results, taking into
consideration the type of customer, the type of

transaction and the specifics of each arrangement.

(a) Revenues from television operations mainly
comprise sub-licensing of program rights and
channel supply revenues. Revenue from sub-
licensing of program rights is recognised on
the basis as set out in note (c) below, and
channel supply revenue is recognised when

the relevant channels are broadcasted.

(b) Film exhibition income is recognised when the

right to receive payment is established.

(c) Income from the licensing and sub-licensing
of audio visual products, video features and
TV rights is recognised upon delivery of the
pre-recorded audio visual products and the
materials for video features including the

master tapes to the customers.

(d) Revenue from the sale and distribution of
films and programs in audio visual product
format is recognised on the transfer of risks
and rewards of ownership, which generally
coincides with the time when the goods
are delivered to customers and the title has

passed.
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2 Summary of significant accounting 2 EE®HBREBE@
policies (Continued)

2.22 Revenue recognition (Continued) 2.22 W R (&)

(e) Rental income is recognised on a straight-line

basis over the period of the lease.

(f) Interest income is recognised on a time
proportion basis, taking into account the
principal amounts outstanding and the

interest rates applicable.

(g) Distribution commission income from royalty

rights is recognised on an accrual basis.

(h) Dividend income is recognised when the right

to receive payment is established.

(i) Management fee income is recognised when

services are rendered.

2.23 Leases

Leases in which a significant portion of the risks
and rewards of ownership are retained by the
lessor are classified as operating leases. Payments
made under operating leases (net of any incentives
received from the lessor), including upfront
payment made for leasehold land and land use
rights, are charged to the consolidated income
statement on a straight-line basis over the period

of the lease.

Leases of property, plant and equipment where the
Group has substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership are classified as finance leases.
Finance leases are capitalised at the lease’s
commencement at the lower of the fair value of
the leased property and the present value of the

minimum lease payments.
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BRI AR AT

2 Summary of significant accounting

policies (Continued)
2.23 Leases (Continued)

Each lease payment is allocated between the
liability and finance charges so as to achieve a
constant rate on the finance balance outstanding.
The corresponding rental obligations, net of finance
charges, are included in non-current liabilities. The
interest element of the finance cost is recognised
in the consolidated income statement over the
lease period so as to produce a constant periodic
rate of interest on the remaining balance of the
liability for each period. The investment properties
acquired under finance leases are carried at their

fair value.

When assets are leased out under an operating
lease, the asset is included in the balance sheet
based on the nature of the asset. Lease income
from operating lease is recognised over the term of

the lease on a straight-line basis.

2.24 Dividend distribution

Dividend distribution to the Company’s
shareholders is recognised as a liability in the
Group’s financial statements in the period in which
the dividends are approved by the Company’s

shareholders.
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3 Financial risk management

3.1

Financial risk factors

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of

financial risks: market risk (including currency risk,

fair value interest rate risk, cash flow interest rate

risk and price risk), credit risk, and liquidity risk.

The Group’s overall risk management programme

focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets

and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on

the Group’s financial performance.

(a) Market risk

(i)

Foreign exchange risk

The Group mainly operates in Hong
Kong, Singapore and Japan and is
exposed to foreign exchange risk arising
from various currency exposures,
primarily with respect to the Singapore
dollar (SGD) and Japanese Yen (JPY).
Foreign exchange risk arises from future
commercial transactions, recognised
assets and liabilities and net investments

in foreign operations.

The Group has certain investments in
foreign operations whose net assets are
exposed to foreign currency translation
risk primarily with respect to JPY.
Currency exposure arising from the
net assets of the Group’s operations
is managed primarily through sourcing
suppliers denominated in the same
foreign currencies. Management
considers the foreign currency exposure

with respect to JPY is not significant.
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3 Financial risk management (Continued)

3.1

Financial risk factors (Continued)
(a) Market risk (Continued)

(i)

(i)

Foreign exchange risk (Continued)

The Group has certain revenue/receipts
in advance denominated in SGD. As
at 31st March 2009, if HK dollar had
weakened/strengthened by 5% against
Singapore dollars with all other variables
held constant, post-tax loss for the
year would have been HK$287,000
higher/lower (2008: post-tax loss would
have been HK$611,000 higher/lower),
mainly as a result of foreign exchange
losses/gains on translation of receipts
in advance denominated in Singapore

dollars.

The Group minimised its other currency
risk by denominating majority of its
foreign currency transactions in United
States dollars, which is pegged with
Hong Kong dollar at a designated range
such that the exposure on fluctuation of

foreign currency rate is limited.

Price risk

The Group is exposed to equity
securities price risk because investments
held by the Group are classified in the
consolidated balance sheet either as
available-for-sale or at fair value through
profit or loss. The Group is not exposed
to commodity price risk. To manage its
price risk arising from investments in
equity securities, the Group diversifies

its portfolio.
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3 Financial risk management (Continued)

3.1

Financial risk factors (Continued)
(a) Market risk (Continued)

(i)

(i)

Price risk (Continued)

Majority of the Group’s equity securities
are publicly traded. As at 31st March
2009, if the share prices of the equity
securities of the Group had increased/
decreased by 5%, the post-tax loss of
the Group would have been HK$759,000
lower/higher (2008: post-tax loss would
have been HK$938,000 lower/higher)
and the equity of the Group would
have been HK$909,000 higher/lower
(2008: HK$2,970,000 higher/lower),

respectively.

Post-tax loss for the year would
increase/decrease as a result of gains/
losses on equity securities classified
as at fair value through profit and loss.
The gains/losses on equity securities
classified as available for sale would
increase/decrease the available-for-
sale financial assets revaluation reserve

within equity.

Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk

The Group had cash balances placed
with reputable banks and financial
institutions, which generate interest
income for the Group. The Group
manages its interest rate risk by placing
such balances in these institutions on
various maturities and interest rate

terms.
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3 Financial risk management (Continued)

3.1

Financial risk factors (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Market risk (Continued)

(iii) Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk
(Continued)
Borrowings at variable rates expose the
Group to cash flow interest rate risk.
Borrowing at fixed rate exposed the
Group to fair value interest rate risk.
Details of the Group’s borrowing have

been disclosed in Note 30(a).

If the interest rate had gone up/down
by 5%, the post-tax loss of the Group
would have been HK$44,000 higher/
lower (2008: post-tax loss would have
been HK$23,000 higher/lower).

Credit risk

Credit risk was managed on a group basis.
Credit risk arises from cash and cash
equivalents as well as credit exposures to
customers, including outstanding receivables
and committed transactions. The Group
only places deposits in reputable banks and
financial institutions and manages its credit
risk associated with trade receivable through
the application of credit approvals, credit

rating and monitoring procedures.

Credit sales are only made to customers
with appropriate credit history or high credit
standing while sales to new customers or
customers of low credit standing are usually
made on cash on delivery basis. The Group
regularly review the collectibility of the
outstanding receivable balance. Provision for
impairment of receivables will be made in light

of existing evidence of uncollectibility.
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3 Financial risk management (Continued)

3.1

Financial risk factors (Continued)

(c) Liquidity risk

Prudent liquidity risk management implies
maintaining sufficient cash and marketable
securities, the availability of funding from
an adequate amount of committed credit
facilities and the ability to close out market
positions. Due to the dynamic nature of
the underlying businesses, management
maintains flexibility in funding by maintaining

availability under committed credit lines.

The table below analyses the Group’s and the
Company’s financial liabilities into relevant
maturity groupings based on the remaining
period at the balance sheet date to the
contractual maturity date. The amounts
disclosed in the table are the contractual
undiscounted cash flows. Balances due within
12 months equal their carrying balances, as

the impact of discounting is not significant.
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Group

At 31st March 2009

Trade and other payables

Obligations under finance
leases

Borrowings

Convertible notes

At 31st March 2008
Trade and other payables
Obligations under finance

leases

Convertible notes

Company

At 31st March 2009

Trade and other payables

Convertible notes

At 31st March 2008

Trade and other payables

Convertible notes

3 Financial risk management (Continued)
Financial risk factors (Continued)
(c) Liquidity risk (Continued)
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3 Financial risk management (Continued)

3.1

Financial risk factors (Continued)

(d) Fair value estimation

(e)

The fair value of financial instruments traded
in active markets (such as available-for-sale
and fair value through profit or loss securities)
is based on quoted market prices at the
balance sheet date. The quoted market price
used for financial assets held by the Group

was the current bid price.

Available-for-sale financial assets that were
not quoted in an active market were measured

at cost less impairment.

The carrying value less impairment of trade
and other receivables, borrowings are
assumed to approximate their fair values due

to their short maturities.

Capital risk management

The Group’s objectives when managing
capital were to safeguard the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern in order
to provide returns for the shareholders
and benefits for other stakeholders and
to maintain an optimal capital structure to

reduce the cost of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital
structure, the Group may adjust the amount
of dividends paid to the shareholders, return
capital to the shareholders, issue new shares
or convertible instruments, or sell assets to

reduce debt.
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4 Critical accounting estimates and
judgements

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and

are based on historical experience and other factors,

including expectations of future events that are believed

to be reasonable under the circumstances.

4.1

Critical accounting estimates and assumptions
The Group makes estimates and assumptions
concerning the future. The resulting accounting
estimates will, by definition, seldom equal
the related actual results. The estimates and
assumptions that have a significant risk of causing
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities within the next financial year

are discussed below:

(a) Impairment of film rights, films in progress
and film royalty deposits
As set out in note 2.7(c), impairment
assessments on film rights, films in progress
and film royalty deposits are performed at
each balance sheet date with reference to
both internal and external market information,
for example, sales forecast based on
expected popularity of the respective
titles, the expected production, sales and
distribution costs to be reviewed to conclude
the sale, and the general economic condition
of the relevant markets. As at 31st March
2009, the carrying value of film rights, films in
progress, and film royalty deposits amounted
to approximately HK$55,582,000 (2008:
HK$85,040,000).
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4 Critical accounting estimates and
judgements (Continued)
4.1 Critical accounting estimates and assumptions
(Continued)

(b) Provision for impairment of trade and other

(c)

receivables

The provisioning policy for trade and other
receivables of the Group is based on the
evaluation of the collectability of those
receivables and on management’s judgement.
As at 31st March 2009, the trade and other
receivables, net of provision, amounted to
HK$68,712,000 (2008: HK$54,070,000).
A considerable amount of judgement is
required in assessing the ultimate realisation
of these receivables, including the current
creditworthiness and the past collection
history of each customer and the realisation
of any repayment pattern promised. If the
financial conditions of these customers were
to deteriorate, resulting in an impairment of
their ability to make payments, additional

provision may be required.

Impairment of goodwill and contractual
supplier relationships

The Group tests whether goodwill and
contractual supplier relationships have
suffered any impairment, in accordance with
the accounting policy stated in note 2.7. The
recoverable amounts of these intangible
assets have been determined based on value-
in-use calculations. These calculations require
the use of estimates. Had the pre-tax discount
rate applied to the discounted cash flow been
different from the management’s estimate,
such difference may affect the results of

management’s impairment assessment.
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4 Critical accounting estimates and
judgements (Continued)
4.2 Critical judgements in applying the entity’s

accounting policies

(a)

(b)

Interest in a jointly controlled entity

The Group owns 70% interest in Guangdong
Tung Ah Audio Video Production Company
Limited (“Tung Ah”). The Group’s control over
Tung Ah is restricted by a provision in the joint
venture agreement that require unanimous
approval by all directors present for certain
major decisions, notwithstanding that the
Group has a majority equity interest and the
ability to appoint the majority of directors.
The Group judges that there is no unilateral
control over Tung Ah and accordingly it is

accounted for as a jointly controlled entity.

Income taxes

The Group is subject to income taxes in
jurisdictions in which the Group operates.
Significant judgement is required in
determining the provision for income taxes.
There are many transactions and calculations
for which the ultimate tax determination
is uncertain during the ordinary course of
business. The Group recognises liabilities
for anticipated tax audit issues based on
estimates of whether additional taxes will be
due. Where the final tax outcome of these
matters is different from the amounts that
were initially recorded, such differences
will impact the income tax and deferred
tax provisions in the period in which such

determination is made.

4

ANNUAL REPORT 2009 3§

PR st at R AR (=)

4.2 ERAEREBEZMEBAER

(a)

(b)

RERZFHRES#E

AEEREERERREEAR
EFERAB(REE]70%
R o AEBRRD 22
REEEWHET — RIEHR
PR ATAAREEHSTE KA
TRERATEZEERZHE
= -BETEEREAAR
BHEZES—JtE K
EEMEBAEYEERREZ 2
EREEGE SRBHA
FRPMEHLEZHIERE -

BriziR
REEARAEBEEERE
iz AEEEMRER
EEEMEHHEEREEE
REEREZE -REE
EBRBRTBERZ RERE
RRBEZXZREAE - K
SERBESER TP RN
BRIMNBLIE 2z (5 T HE RR TR
BBESTRBEZEE - &
SEH 2 RRBIIE L REL)
SR ZEBEAE AEH
ERREEFHEE 2HE
Z PSR RAEAE R E 4 o



ANNUAL REPORT 2009 5

MEI AH ENTERTAINMENT GROUP LIMITED E SR8 E A EEAR A F

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4 Critical accounting estimates and
judgements (Continued)
4.2 Critical judgements in applying the entity’s

accounting policies (Continued)

(c)

Fair value of derivative financial instrument
On 11th August 2006, the Company issued
convertible notes with an aggregate principal
amount of HK$100 million. The three
year convertible notes were issued with a
conversion price of HK$0.44, including a reset
of the conversion price subject to the market
price of the Company’s shares at certain

dates.

The embedded conversion option has been
separated from the host debt contract and
accounted for as a derivative liability carried
at fair value through profit or loss (note
31). The fair value of the conversion option
which is not traded in an active market is
determined by using valuation techniques.
The Group uses its judgement to select an
appropriate valuation method and makes
assumptions that are mainly based on market
conditions existing at the issue date and each
subsequent balance sheet date. The valuation
model requires the input of subjective
assumptions, including the volatility of share
price, stock closing price, dividend yield, risk
free rate, and expected option life. Changes
in subjective input assumptions can materially
affect the fair value estimate of the embedded

conversion option.
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5 Turnover, revenues and segment

information

Revenues recognised during the year are as follows:

Revenue
Television operations
Film exhibition and film rights
licensing and sub-licensing
Sale and distribution of films and
programs in audio visual product
format

Other income
Rental income from investment
properties
Other rental income
Distribution commission income
Management fee income
Others

Total revenues

W s
ERER

EXHMRREHRERER

B
UEEEMmPAHEE
RETZEZR

g1 E

HAWA
REY=

HEWA
HBE WA
BITRSWA
EEBWA
Ht

B

Primary reporting format — business segments

For the year ended 31st March 2009, the Group operates

in three business segments:

—  Television operations

—  Film exhibition and film rights licensing and sub-

licensing

— Sale and distribution of films and programs in

audio visual product format

AEFCEIZWEMT ¢

5 EX# WZRSBEH

2009 2008

ZEETHhE —EENF

HK$’000 HK$°000

F#ETT FiET

84,487 64,150

62,839 23,191

44,233 15,645

191,559 102,986

6,449 3,606

8,989 4,365

2,884 916

1,255 1,390

2,324 77

21,901 10,354

213,460 113,340

FEREFR — EB9

BE-ZZNF=A=+—HLEFE"

REBZ=REBDIRE :

— EBHREB

PSE-GR=!

— EXHMRKREXRERERER

— LUXTEREAEERBITZEX
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Turnover, revenues and segment

information (Continued)
The segment results for the year ended 31st March 2009
by each principal activity is as follows:

External sales
Inter-segment sales

Total revenues

Segment results

Unallocated income
Unallocated costs

Operating loss

Finance costs — net

Share of losses of associated
companies

Loss before income tax
Income tax credit

Loss for the year

Property, plant and equipment
— Additions
— Unallocated additions

— Depreciation
— Unallocated depreciation

Film rights, films in progress and
film royalty deposits
— additions
— amortisation
— impairment

Provision for impairment of trade
receivables

Contractual supplier relationships

— acquisition of subsidiaries
— amortisation
— impairment

Leasehold land and land use
rights
— unallocated amortisation

aEEs
BERA

3N

BASHAESR
FriEtiEs

FRER
nE- % B3
— RAEIEM

FH

YL -
KEFmERS
— 21
— &%

— B

BARUHE
RERE

ANfEEEE
— i

EHEATE
— R
— BB

RETHE

THRERE
— ROEHHE

E/
B

B IR AR AT

5 EXHE- WARABERE)
REIBEBISZBE_ZTTNEF=
B=t—BLEEsmEsEmT

For the year ended 31st March 2009

BECZSAESACH-HLEE
Sale and
distribution
Film of films and
exhibition and programs in
film rights audio visual
licensing and product format
sub-licensin U¥EER

Television EXHm EARE

operations EEW R&f1Z Elimination Grou

LiE3: RHREE EXREA 1f .33

HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FET FET FET FET
84,487 62,839 44,233 - 191,559
- 10,450 - (10,450) -
84,487 73,289 44,233 (10,450) 191,559
(19,198) 3,515 (28,122) (913) (44,718)
30,906
(55,583)
(69,395)
(5,070)
(1,570)
(76,035)

,062
(71,973)

784 160 53 - 997
1,232

2,229
(656) (27) (671) - (1,354)
(6,369)
(7,723)

26,831 - 11,930 (10,450) 28,311
(30,824) (22,134) (9,587) 9,537 (53,008)
- (4,105) (402) - (4,507)

- - (9,514) - (9,514)
5,029 - 4,000 - 9,029
(419) - (4,000) - (4,419)
(4,610) - - - (4,610)

(324)
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External sales
Inter-segment sales

Total revenues

Segment results

Unallocated income
Unallocated costs

Operating loss

Finance costs — net

Share of losses of associated
companies

Loss before income tax
Income tax expense

Loss for the year
Property, plant and equipment

— Additions
— Unallocated additions

— Depreciation
— Unallocated depreciation

Film rights, films in progress
and film royalty deposits

94 — additions

— amortisation

— impairment

Provision for impairment of
trade receivables

Leasehold land and land
use rights
— unallocated amortisation

5 Turnover, revenues and segment
information (Continued)

HMHE
PHEEE

L6

gEEA
HERK — 58

BiEBELTFE

PRI RATER
FrEHEX

ERBE
mx - RERER

— &1

— AOEEM

EEME  RRPEIR

EYmERS

— &1

— &

— i
ESRUFEL

ARG

BELHR
LTitRERE
— ROEHH
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5 EX# WZRSBEH

(&)

For the year ended 31st March 2008

BE-ZZ\F=A=1-HLEE

Sale and

distribution

Film of films and

exhibition and programs in

film rights audio visual

licensing and  product format

sub-licensing NEEER

Television EYHMK F#HE
operations EEWE RkEfT2 Elimination Group
EREHR RitiRER EYREA Fif r5E
HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$°000
TEr T#r T#Er TET TEr
64,150 23,191 15,645 - 102,986
- 2,160 - (2,160) -
64,150 25,351 15,645 (2,160) 102,986
10,354 3,123 (23,959) 3,325 (7,157)
86,738
(150,971)
(71,390)
(3,816)
(4,582)
(79,788)
(3,596)
(83,384)
163 104 208 - 475
14,740
15,215
(499) (22) (914) - (1,435)
(4,053)
(5,488)
20,400 27,495 6,525 (2,160) 52,260
(23,031) (14,127) (5,607) 5,485 (37,280)
- (2,839) (473) - (3,312)
— — (9,833) — (9,833)

(324)
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5 Turnover, revenues and segment 5 BEE WaRsHBEHE =)
information (Continued)
As at 31st March 2009
RZESAEZR=1-H
Sale and
distribution

Film of films and
exhibition and programs in
film rights audio visual

licensing and product format

sub-licensing NFNEER
Television BRHBR KABE
operations EXMmE REfTe Elimination Group
BEREE RHREE EXREHE it} 50
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000
FET FET FET FET FET
Segment assets PEHEE 39,107 42,763 155,411 (3,531) 233,750
Interest in a jointly REREHEE 2
controlled entity B -
Interests in associated REZEATF
companies i i) -
Unallocated assets F*PEER 240,601
Total assets BEE 474,351
Segment liabilities AHEE 16,681 34,742 31,710 - 83,133
Unallocated liabilities F*PEEE 53,537
Total liabilities mafg 136,670
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5 Turnover, revenues and segment 5 EX® WaERsBEHE@
information (Continued)

As at 31st March 2008

R-BEN\F=A=1-H
Sale and
distribution
Film of films and
exhibition programs in
and film rights audio visual

licensing and  product format

sub-licensing NEEER
Television £33 FRHEER
operations SYIRE BIZEY Elimination Group
BRENR RERER REE Eaf REME
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$'000
FiEx FiEx FiEx FEx FEx
Segment assets PEHEE 35,886 58,974 170,101 (2,618) 262,343
Interest in a jointly REREHEEZ
controlled entity i -
Interests in associated REEARZ
companies Bt 19,631
Unallocated assets AIBEE 294,217
Total assets agE 576,191
Segment liabilities PHER 23,645 34,543 17,631 - 75,819
Unallocated liabilities KABEE 52,853
Total liabilities BeE 128,672
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Turnover, revenues and segment
information (Continued)

Secondary reporting format — geographical
segment

The Group is operating in three main geographical areas

— Hong Kong, Singapore and other countries.

Revenue Wi
Hong Kong BB
Singapore ESIIE
Other countries HttE =R

Revenue is allocated based on the country in which
the customers are located. No geographical analysis is
provided for the Group’s assets and capital expenditure
as less then 10% of the Group’s consolidated assets
and capital expenditure was attributable to markets
outside Hong Kong as at 31st March 2008 and 2009.

B ¥R MIaE
EXE  -BaRSBEHA)
REREHR — WESH

AEBR=ZEXEHE — S #HM
W R EAMEREE o

2009 2008
—EZhE —EENFE
HK$°000 HK$’000
FET FET
153,622 82,597
32,070 12,215
5,867 8,174
191,559 102,986

WHEEFRMAEBRRSE - R=ZFZN
FRZZZAF=ZA=Z1T—H HRAE
EEZHRAEEREAMIDN10% K
BEBUINITS  MUBRAEEZE
EREAFHREHRBED T

~
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6 Other (losses)/gains — net

ANNUAL REPORT 2009

6 Hf(EHR) haE — B8

2009 2008
ZEBThAF —EENF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FRET FET
Fair value gain/(loss) on derivative #7487 T B 2 A FEWRZE
financial instrument (note 31) (B8) (faE31) 13,951 (111,401)
Loss on repurchase of convertible IBETRREER 2
notes (note 31) B8 (M 31) (544) -
(Deficit)/surplus on revaluation of REESHE (EE),
investment properties (note 16) BER(HEE 16) (11,335) 12,930
Gain on disposal of an associated HEBE AT Z
company(note 18(d)) Wz (B1at 18(d)) - 55,749
Gain on disposal of available-for- HEAHEENKEEZ
sale financial assets Wi - 1,412
Fair value (losses)/gains on financial %A F{ET AEB#HEE 2%
assets at fair value through profit BEZAFE(ER) W
or loss (note23(b)) (K& 23(b)) (14,765) 5,361
(12,693) (85,949)
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BUEERSZMAX
HASERS  HERTSEEMES
TBRREMEZZEXA AT :

7 Expenses by nature 7
Expenses included in cost of sales, selling and
marketing expenses, administrative and other expenses
are analysed as follows:

2009 2008
—EThAE —EEN\F
HK$’000 HK$’000
TFHEIT FET
Depreciation (note 14) e (Mt 14)
— owned property, plant and — BHEWHE  HER
equipment B3] 4,834 4,452
— leased property, plant and — HEWE BBER
equipment B 2,889 1,036
Amortisation of intangible assets . EEEEFE15)
(note 15) 4,419 =
Amortisation of leasehold land and  FH&E L[
land use rights (note 13) &b {E AR 8 (AL 13) 324 324
Amortisation of film rights (note 17) & E/iEiEss (fizL17) 53,008 37,280
Impairment of contractual supplier & #{FERGEI %
relationships (note 15) WAE (1 15) 4,610 —
Impairment of film rights and film in  ZE&/iRER
progress (note 17) BEREERE (T 17) 4,507 3,312
Provision for impairment of trade g 5 EINFRIE
receivables (note 25) WAERE (Frat 25) 9,514 9,833
Write-off of trade receivables & 5 FE R IE 88 - 442

Provision for impairment of amounts & [5]12 4| & & 718

due from a jointly controlled entity  JE{E# & (1 19)

(note 19) 443 445
Provision for impairment of amounts J&E B A 5 7008

due from associated companies RERE (B 18)

(note 18) 14,740 78
Provision for impairment loss of AHEENKEE

available-for-sale financial assets REEERE

(note 23(a)) (R1zE23(a)) 625 —
Provision for obsolescence of REFE

inventories (note 24) BB (ffat24) 3,237 -
Loss on disposal of film rights HESTREZEE

(note 17) (F1zE17) 164 —
Reversal of provision for impairment FEUk B A\ 5] 2018 R (E

of amount due from an BERLD

associated company (note 18) (K1 18) - (3,161)
Employee benefit expenses EEEFIFX

(including directors’ emoluments) (BiEESEM=)

(note 12) (HiaE12) 21,801 16,317
Auditor’s remuneration ZEE N £

— current year — il 1,350 1,163

— under provision in prior years — AFERETR 70 170
Cost of inventories (note 24) TFERA(HZE24) 8,053 5,649
Share-based compensation LARS 47 =2 15 3R B

(note 32) (K1zE32) - 22,197
Direct operating expenses arising EEHsRAZ

from investment properties that REVEFEEZ

generate rental income (note 16) HELERZ (ML 16) 883 620
Theatrical commission BElft < 25,441 —

818
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8 Finance costs — net

Finance cost

— Interest on bank loans and
overdrafts wholly repayable
within five years

— Interest element of finance
leases

— Interest accretion in respect
of convertible notes wholly

repayable within five years

Finance income
— Interest income on short-term
bank deposits
— Interest income on loans to
third parties
— Unwinding of discount
in respect of non-current

receivables

Finance costs — net

BhE AN

— ARLEREHEEZ
RITERREXZ
AME

— REEYZ
MEBD

— AREFREHEEZ
ARREEE Mz
AE

BEWA

— RHSRTERZ
FEWA

— MAE=ZFERZ
MEWA

— ERBE
Wk BT
o

BMEMA — FH

9 Income tax credit/(expense) 9
Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the rate
of 16.5% (2008: 17.5%) on the estimated assessable

profit for the year. Taxation on overseas profits has been

calculated on the estimated assessable profit for the

year at the rates of taxation prevailing in the countries in

which the Group operates.

MENE — B

2009 2008
ZEThE —EENE
HK$’000 HK$°000
FE&T FET
(627) (413)
(425) (133)
(7,362) (8,523)
(8,414) (9,069)
1,935 2,057
933 731
476 2,465
3,344 5,253
(5,070) (3,816)

Fri8MiESR (FAX)
BERFEBHERBAFEGGERRF
HUFHEA16.5% (ZFZENFE 1 17.5%)
{E 45 o BHNFIE 2 B Al iz BB AR
st R B R AN SR B AR & 5 P
EERZBITRENE o
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Income tax credit/(expense) (Continued) 9

Current income tax — Hong Kong BIHARR B — B8

profits tax FEH
Deferred income tax IEIE PSR

The tax on the Group’s loss before income tax differs
from the theoretical amount that would arise using the
weighted average tax rate applicable to profits of the
consolidated entities as follows:

Loss before income tax BRATS R AT E R

Tax calculated at domestic tax
rates applicable to profits in the ZA BB R ZRE A AR i Fi 2R

respective countries STEZBIA
Tax effects of: UTREZHE !
Income not subject to tax BAEZRBIUA
Expenses not deductible for tax
purposes IRk
Tax losses for which no deferred WRERELERSHEEZH

income tax assets were recognised  IEE1E
Utilisation of previously

unrecognised tax losses B A LA R ERBIEE B
Income tax credit/(expense) FEFEe / (FAX)

The weighted average applicable tax rate was 18%
(2008: 18%).

B FEERAR MY RE

FrSRIER (BAX)®)
2009 2008
—EBEAE —EENF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHETT FET
(370) (1,333)
4,432 (2,263)
4,062 (3,596)

REEZ RSB AR B 2 B HEE R
REBERBAERMEFOREELEZ
BEWTHEMmERZERAOT ¢

2009 2008
=t L2k —2BNF
HK$000 HK$°000
FET FET
76,035 79,788
13,388 13,963
1,412 10,427
(11,216) (28,642)
(4,853) (1,543)
5,331 2,199
4,062 (3,596)

MEFHBEBRAFREE18B (ZZEEN
& 18%)

~N
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10 Profit attributable to equity holders of

11

the Company
The profit attributable to equity holders of the Company
is dealt with in the financial statements of the Company
to the extent of profit of HK$5,713,000 (2008: loss of
HK$145,186,000).

Loss per share

Basic loss per share is calculated by dividing the
loss attributable to equity holders of the Company of
HK$71,529,000 (2008: HK$83,413,000) by the weighted
average number of ordinary shares of 982,091,000
(2008: 949,893,936) in issue during the year.

Diluted loss per share is computed by dividing loss
attributable to equity holders for each year by the
weighted average number of ordinary shares and
ordinary share equivalents outstanding during the
year. The weighted average number of shares used to
compute diluted loss per share includes the incremental
shares of ordinary shares relating to conversion of

convertible notes and options.

The diluted loss per share was the same as the basic
loss per share for the year ended 31st March 2009 as
the conversion of the Company’s outstanding convertible
notes and options granted by the Company would be

anti-dilutive (2008: same).

10

11

FAREGSAEARGERT

ERAATTBRREE 2D A ER
BEEAEBEEFAS5,713,0008 T (==
Z)\F : E518145,186,000787T) ©

(=1
BREAGEBDRADAERIFEARE
15 E518 71,529,000/ 8 T (ZEZ )\ F :
83,413,000/ B T)BRUFREBHITER
& hnfEF 1520 982,091,000 iz (=ZZF )\
fF : 949,893,936 )5t E o

BRBEERDEBSEF2ESRER
ABRGEBERUFRACSRTEERES
EIEBERER 2 MEFIIHTE - AE
SESREESERZMEFIIRGHE
BRI AR R R R AR 2 3

SERRMD

HRARABZRABRABRBREER AR
AREZEBREARBEER  MEE
“EENFZRA=T-BHLEFEZER

BEFEESREABERAR(ZEE
NE D HHE) °
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12 Employee benefit expenses (including 12 EARFAX(BREFEMNHL)
directors’ emoluments)
2009 2008
—EENE —EENEFE
HK$°000 HK$°000
FETT FET
Wages and salaries TENFE 21,332 15,941
Pension costs — defined BREHRAE — RE
contribution plans MR E 469 376
21,801 16,317
(a) Directors’ emoluments (a) EEM&
The remuneration of every director for the year BE-ZEZENF=A=1+—HLHF
ended 31st March 2009 is set out below: EERFTFENESZHMEE T m
T
2009 2008
BENE “E3\E
Other Other
emoluments — emoluments —
hasic basic
salaries, salaries,
allowances Pension allowances Pension
and other  costs-defined and other  costs-defined
benefits ~ contribution benefits  contribution
Fees in kind plans Total Fees in kind plans Total
At - Hfie —
558 EREe
RERAM Efenk - ERREN BN —
L F Wi REdaitd Ehy he ENflE  REMFHE Eh)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET Fér 77 Fér FAT
Executive directors UiTES
Li Kuo Hsing ZEA - 3,744 12 3,756 - 3,695 12 3,667
Tong Hing Chi EER - 1,251 12 1,263 - 1,189 12 1,201
Chau Kei Leung BRR - 686 12 698 - 632 12 644
Non-executive directors FUTER
Chan Ngan Piu RiEE 9 - - 9% 9 - - %
Hugo Shong KBS 10 - - 10 50 - - 50
Independent non-executive directors ~ BIFHTEE
Lee G. Lam Ee 10 - - 10 50 - - 50
Wang Huarong %5 10 - - 10 70 - - 10
Cheung Ming Man B 10 - - 70 70 - - 70
Cheung Yui Kai, Warren (note /) REEWZ) - - - - 50 - - 50
376 5,681 36 6,093 386 5,476 36 5,898

None of the directors has waived any of their

emoluments in respect of the years ended 31st March

2008 and 20089.

BMEEERRBE-_ZTZTN\FR-ZZF
NEZA=+-HLEFEZEAME -

~N
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12 Employee benefit expenses (including 12
directors’ emoluments) (Continued)
(a) Directors’ emoluments (Continued)
() The independent non-executive director

resigned on 12th November 2007.

(b) Five highest paid individuals
The five individuals whose emoluments were the
highest in the Group for the year include three
(2008: three) directors whose emoluments are
reflected in the analysis presented above. The
emoluments paid or payable to the remaining

two (2008: two) individuals during the year are as

follows:

Basic salaries, allowances and BEXREFHE MR
other benefits in kind HibEYR=

Pension costs — defined BRERE — RE
contribution plans HERETE

The emoluments fell within the following band:

104

HK$Nil — HK$1,000,000 Z %7t — 1,000,000 & 7T
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EREMFAZ(BREFH:)
(4)
(a) EEM&(E)
() ZBUFHTEER=-ZF
tE+—A+=HBHE -

(b) AfiEEHFMAL
FR-AEBEUGSHFMAL
o ZZ(ZEBNF: =ZR)AB
B HMeHBERLEXENZ
DR - FRENNEMN T HER
MEBE(CEZENF  MB)BESH

AL ZHENT :
2009 2008
—sErE —EENF
HK$°000 HK$°000
FHT FitTT
1,303 1,253
24 24
1,327 1,277
HemEmT :

Number of individuals

AB
2009 2008
=t LYk —ZENE
2 2
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12 Employee benefit expenses (including
directors’ emoluments) (Continued)

(b)

(c)

(d)

Five highest paid individuals (Continued)

During the years ended 31st March 2009 and 31st
March 2008, no emoluments have been paid by
the Group to the three (2008: three) directors or
the two (2008: two) highest paid individuals as an
inducement to join the Group, or as compensation
for loss of office.

Emolument policy

The Group’s emoluments (including the directors’
emoluments) are determined by the Board of
Directors with reference to their contributions in
terms of time, effort and their expertise and are
reviewed on an annual basis.

Pension scheme arrangement

The Group provides a mandatory provident fund
scheme (“MPF Scheme”) for its staff in Hong
Kong under the requirement of the Hong Kong
Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme Ordinance
(“MPF Scheme Ordinance”). Under the MPF
scheme, the Group’s contributions are calculated at
5% of the employees’ relevant income as defined
in the MPF Scheme Ordinance up to a maximum of
HK$1,000 per employee per month. The employees
also contribute a corresponding amount to the
MPF Scheme if their relevant income is more than
HK$5,000 per month. All benefits derived from the
mandatory contribution must be preserved until
the employee reaches the retirement age of 65
subject to certain exceptions. The assets of the
MPF scheme are held separately from those of
the Group in independently administered funds.
The accrued benefits of an employee, which are
derived from the Group’s mandatory and voluntary
contributions under the MPF Scheme can be used
to offset any long service payments or severance
payments payable to that employee. The total
contribution to the MPF Scheme paid by the Group
during the year amounted to HK$396,000 (2008:
HK$303,000).

12 {8

(b)

(c)

(d)

B FEERAR Y RE

ARFAZ(BEEEN®)

(&)

AfimESHEMA L (E)

BE-—ZZhF=A=1+—HK=
ZEZENF=ZA=+—HLEFE &
SEYE@D=F(ZZFENF: =
BIEEIMBE(ZZEENF W
BIREFMALIZAEME - EA
MAREE 2 REHERBEBE

=
= o

B & I 3%
FEBCHE(BRESHE) D
HESELESEWEMNTHZEE
k&N URKE 2 EEMATE
E o UEFFEHRE -

B &stmiREE

REBERBE BB EABETE
wAI((RESFEGRHNDAHESE
BETRMEHMEAESF (R
BEstEl]) - REBERESFE - K
Bz HRiR@aBE T ENRGI TR
EZREEMBRAS%ITE &S
AEBEESEA1,0008 T - fH{EE
Z B A B S A 5,000 T
Bl SR EEHBRESRE 2 HK o
BR3E T HIIMER SN - @ HI MR
EEXZE2BEABVETRE HE
EEFE6SmEBRFERALL o &
BertEzEEEAEB2EED
B ASEECESBIEE - E
ERAEBREBESE 225
MREBEEHRRMELE ZETE
Ao TRHIKEEN FZAEREEZ
FEARABREESRERE - FA -
AEEORESFEEL 2 HRE
%8 5396,0008 T (—ZFEZ N\ F :
303,000387T) °

~N
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12 Employee benefit expenses (including
directors’ emoluments) (Continued)

Pension scheme arrangement (Continued)

The Group also contributes to a defined
contribution retirement scheme (the “Retirement
Scheme”) which provides retirement benefits to
its employees who joined the Group prior to the
adoption of the MPF Scheme and chose not to join
the MPF Scheme after its adoption. The Retirement
Scheme’s assets are held in a provident fund (the
“Fund”) managed by an independent administrator.
Under the Retirement Scheme, both the employer
and the employees are required to contribute
5% of the basic salary of the employees (up to a
maximum of HK$1,000 per employee) on a monthly
basis. The employees are entitled to 100% of the
employer’s contribution and accrued interest after
10 years of completed service, or at a reduced
scale of between 20% and 90% after completion
of 2 to 9 years’ service, in which case the forfeited
contributions and the related accrued interest are
to be used to reduce the employer’s contributions.
The aggregate employer’s contributions, net of
forfeited contributions and their accrued interest,
which have been dealt with in the consolidated
income statement for the year ended 31st March
2009 amounted to HK$73,000 (2008: HK$73,000).

As at 31st March 2009, there is no forfeited
contributions available to reduce future
contributions under the Retirement Scheme
and contributions totalling HK$71,000 (2008:
HK$44,000) and HK$12,000 (2008: HK$11,000)
payable to the MPF Scheme and the Retirement
Scheme respectively were included in trade and

other payables in the consolidated balance sheet.
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12 EREFAZ(BEESHE)

(4)

(d) BFErrBREE)
REBE T @ RE KR K E
(TRREHE D) AR BARE
RN EMBB ST R MBEARE
EERRMEES BRI ERE
mAEBEETE 2 EERHENKE
o BUGEICEERBIEEA
BBz AEE(ES2NDEE-R
BEKTE BEXREEHESA
BEEBEAF 5% ELEHA(R
EASEE1,00087x) - EER
EHI0FRBEERZEEEM
fEH 2 100% X RTH2E
9IFRFKE R - RIERLLLBIZE 20%
Z0%EEMM - EURERT
2 W 3k & B BAFE ST R 245 BB
DEEZHR - ERBEZZZTA
FZA=t—HLEFEEZHERE
TANEEBEEEZHRABGBRE
Wt R R HET AR ) % 73,0008
T (ZZEZN\F : 73,000587T) °

=

A—EENFE=A=+—H A#\
A] AR A 1R 15 R IR 5T 8 = R R it
MR > mEREe R

RAGTEMELE Z2HRDBIEHRR
71,0008 T (=ZFZ/)\F : 44,000
BT ) K12,0008 T(ZEE N
F 11,0008 7x) - BREAEREF

ANREEEEBRZEGRAME
NFIER
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13 Leasehold land and land use rights — 13 ST RLTiERE — X
Group £H
The Group’s interest in leasehold land and land use AEEREE LR Tt FRAE 2R
rights represents prepaid operating lease payments and BHEAKERHNORIE MR+ ER+F
are held on leases of between 10 to 50 years in Hong ZHANEBES - EEEBEHNKE
Kong. Details of which are set out in note 14. 14 -
2009 2008
ZEThEF —EENEF
HK$’000 HK$°000
FET T
At 1st April REBE—H 12,270 12,594
Amortisation of leasehold land and 78 & + #th % + 3 {5 F i 6
land use rights (note 7) (R 7) (324) (324)
At 31st March R=B=+-—H 11,946 12,270
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At 1st April 2007
Cost or valuation
Accumulated depreciation

Net book amount

Year ended 31st March 2008
Opening net book amount
Additions

Depreciation (note 7)
Revaluation surplus

Closing net book amount

At 1st April 2008
Cost or valuation
Accumulated depreciation

Net book amount

Year ended 31st March 2009

Opening net book amount

Additions

Acquisition of subsidiaries
(note 38(b))

Depreciation (note 7)

Revaluation surplus

Transferred to investment
properties (note g)

Exchange differences

Closing net book amount
At 31st March 2009
Cost or valuation

Accumulated depreciation

Net book amount

BE_ZZNE
ZRA=t+-HLEE

ENRARE

£

wEWE7)

B{ERR

FRIREFE

RZ22\FmA-A
A E
ZiiE

REFE

BE-_SEAE
ZREt-HLEE

FOREFE

Em

WEEHBAF
(H1EE38(b))

wEMWE7)

B4R

ZA=t-H
A fifE
E R

REFE

14 Property, plant and equipment — Group

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B FE AR Y RE
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14 9% - BRREM — sKH

Furniture,
Leasehold fixtures and Motor
Buildings  improvements equipment vehicles Total
RR KE

By HENRKE Rife RE it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FiEx FiE7 FET FET
101,007 12,885 13,333 5,745 132,970
- (5,758) (10,259) (4,080) (20,097)
101,007 7,127 3,074 1,665 112,873
101,007 7,127 3,074 1,665 112,873
- 165 15,050 - 15,215
(2,245) (1,281) (1,393) (569) (5,488)
5,668 - - - 5,668
104,430 6,011 16,731 1,096 128,268
104,430 13,050 28,383 5,745 151,608
- (7,039) (11,652) (4,649) (23,340)
104,430 6,011 16,731 1,096 128,268
104,430 6,011 16,731 1,096 128,268
- 1,080 1,149 - 2,229

- 331 426 - 757
(2,142) (1,312) (3,794) (475) (7,723)
3,440 - - - 3,440
(20,886) - - - (20,886)
- 22 22 - 44
84,842 6,132 14,534 621 106,129
84,842 14,599 30,595 5,745 135,781
- (8,467) (16,061) (5,124) (29,652)
84,842 6,132 14,534 621 106,129




ANNUAL REPORT 2009 5

MEI AH ENTERTAINMENT GROUP LIMITED E R4 E A EEAR A F

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

14 Property, plant and equipment — Group
(Continued)

(a)

(b)

(c)

The Group’s prepaid land premium and land use
rights (note 13) and buildings (collectively the
“Properties”) situated in Hong Kong are held by
the Group under a lease agreement dated 25th
August 1997 with the Hong Kong Industrial Estates
Corporation (“HKIEC”) which restricts the usage
of the premise to the manufacture of optical discs
and related business. The Group’s interests in the
Properties are transferable subject to the right of

first refusal to purchase by HKIEC.

Accordingly, the Properties were last revaluated
on 31st March 2009 by Memfus Wong Surveyors
Limited, an independent professional qualified
valuer, on a depreciated replacement cost basis,
which is the aggregate of the land value in its
existing use and the estimated replacement costs
of the buildings. The revaluation surplus net of
applicable deferred income taxes was credited
to buildings revaluation reserve in shareholder’s
equity (note 28(a)). HKIEC merged with two other
corporations in 2001 and is presently known
as Hong Kong Science and Technology Parks

Corporation.

The carrying amount of the Properties would have
been HK$81,722,000 (2008: HK$102,206,000)
had they been stated at cost less accumulated

depreciation.

At 31st March 2009, the Properties were pledged
as security for banking facilities granted to the
Group (note 30(a)).

The Group’s buildings are stated at valuation
and other components of property, plant and

equipment are stated at cost.

B FEERAR Y RE

14 9% - BRREM — sKH

(&)

(@)

AEBZE[MHER Lt EAE
(MF1BREFEBRIZEYD
(¥D)DURES YHAEER
BR—ANtFENBE=+HEBHEE
BITEBMAB(TITEBATDE
Y2 HEWHERRFE  ZHEEHREK
Y S BR i PA FE AR iR R AHRE 35
%o REBRZEYEZERAIT
BE EIXPAREEELEBE
EERE

Hit - BUEESEKHERM =N
BRI TERARRINERAEE
RARERFAHN -_SZTNAE=A
S+—HEGZEVEZEE B
RIBBAE ARz L EEEGFHE
FEEREAZBETE - IRE
RELZEMESHRZEMEERTIFTA
BERERZEFEGHER (M
28(a)) e TXMWARN=-ZZE—F
HEIMEQAREH  BREEAE
BREEAT -

HZEYERBABBAITEAN
ik - Al HBRE B 4§ % 81,722,000
Br(=ZZZ N\ F 102,206,000
BIT) °

RZZBEEAF=A=1+—8 » &=
MEEERBEAREEFERITE

Bz =R (KfEE30(a)) °

AEBZEBFERMEEAR MY
* - HBERRE2HEMIBD AKX
RN °

~N
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14 Property, plant and equipment — Group
(Continued)

At 31st March 2009, the carrying amount of
furniture, fixtures and equipment and motor
vehicles held under finance leases were
HK$9,085,000 (2008: HK$6,605,000) and
HK$637,000 (2008: HK$1,094,000) respectively.

Depreciation expense of HK$7,723,000 (2008:
HK$5,488,000) have been included as part of the

administrative and other expenses.

During the year, HK$20,886,000 has been
reclassified from property, plant and equipment
to investment properties as a result of change in

usage.

Lease rental income amounting to HK$5,820,000
(2008: HK$1,020,000) relating to lease of furniture,
fixture and equipment are included in the

consolidated income statement.
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14 Y% - BBRJK — F5EH

(#&)

e R-ZZEZBAE=A=+-—8"
REBMERNBEZRE - £8
REBHEUARAEZREES B A
9,085,000/ T(= & & N\ §F:
6,605,0007% T ) & 637,000 % 7T
(ZZZ)\F : 1,094,000%87T) °

(f WEMXZ7,723,0008 (=2
J\HE 5,488,000 7t ) E A BR1E
ABOITHREMEX -

(9) & -20,886,00058 Tt B E A&
BT YE -  BERREEFTD

(h EFEHEHEEEAE - RERRZHFEZHE
21U A 5,820,000 T(ZZEFEN
% 11,020,000 7T ) 5t A& & UK
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15 Intangible assets — Group 15 | EE — xKH
Contractual
supplier
Goodwill relationships Total
= )
e 4 FE R B 4% #at
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET FET
At 1st April 2008 R-EE)\FHWA—H
Cost BN = = =
Accumulated amortisation 2t E#ERRE

and impairment = — —

Net book amount BRTH FE{E — — _

Year ended 31st March 2009 &HE_ZZEHF

=B=1+—HL%EE
Opening net book amount FHREFE = = -
Acquisition of subsidiaries W EE T B A Al
(note 38) (H1aF38) 22,413 9,029 31,442
Amortisation charge (note 7) B R (K 7) = (4,419) (4,419)
Impairment charge (note 7) RWEER(KFZE7) (22,413) (4,610) (27,023)
Closing net book amount FRIREFE — - =
At 31st March 2009 A_EENEF
=B=+—H
Cost AN 22,413 9,029 31,442
Accumulated amortisation ZcHEERRE
and impairment (22,413) (9,029) (31,442)
Net book amount RENFE = = =
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15 Intangible assets — Group (Continued)

In April 2008, the Group acquired 80% of equity
interest of Era Movies Limited, a company engaged in
sale and distribution of films in audio visual product
format in Hong Kong and Macau for a consideration of
HK$3,200,000. As a result of the acquisition, goodwill
and contractual supplier relationship of HK$528,000
and HK$4,000,000 respectively, were recognised
(note 38(a)).

In September 2008, the Group acquired 52% of
equity interest of Fame Sky International Limited for a
consideration of HK$16,800,000. Asia Pacific Media
Holding Limited (Japan), a wholly owned subsidiary
of Fame Sky International Limited, engaged in the
channel supply for a movie channel in Japan. As a
result of the acquisition, goodwill and contractual
supplier relationship of approximately HK$21,885,000
and HK$5,029,000, respectively, were recognised
(note 38(b)).

All amortisation charge has been included in
administrative and other expenses in the consolidated

income statement.

Impairment test for goodwill

Management has assessed the recoverable amount
of the goodwill by estimating the cash flows expected
to be generated from the acquired business and
determined that impairment charges of approximately
HK$22,413,000 and HK%$4,610,000 should be recorded
on goodwill and contractual supplier relationships
respectively in the consolidated financial statements for
the year ended 31st March 2009.

The recoverable amount is determined based on value-
in-use calculations. These calculations use pre-tax
cash flow projections based on the financial budgets
prepared by management. The discount rate used is

pre-tax and reflect specific risks to the business.
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15 |MILEE — $5E8(»)

RZZZNFWA  NEBUKEFAMR
EERATZ80% RENREEBREM
RBUSEFEMFEAHERBTERZ
A d ) X8 %3,200,000% T o A U
BMoBRRATERGVHESTERAR
528,000 7t & 4,000,0005% T (fff &
38(a)) °

REZZ2ZENFNA  AEEWIEFame
Sky International Limited Z52% B%
¥ X {& 516,800,000 T ° Fame
Sky International Limited 2z & & it
B ~» FlAsia Pacific Media Holding
Limited (Japan)iR B A& —EH & #
EESIRE - ABEM oD BIRABER
AR M ERRE %% 21,885,000 % T K&
5,029,000 7% T (Ff7E 38(b)) °

FrE#EERCT AGERERZITH
REMFZ o

o 82 iRk {E A
EEEBCEBMRBELARES
ZREREFHHBZTKREHE I
AEBERSNHERBERZREEZA
7 5l #22,413,000 7% 7T & 4,610,000 /&
TERBE_ZEZNF=ZA=+—HL
FEZHREVBHRKRTIREK -

e HFRZEREREETEMEE -
hEHERAREEERHECUBREE
EH 2B RS RETER - FARRE
ABA - WRREBSERME
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15 Intangible assets — Group (Continued)
Impairment test for goodwill (Continued)

16

The key assumptions used for value-in-use calculations

are as follows:

Era Movies Limited

Annual revenue growth rate

Discount rate

Fame Sky International Limited

Annual revenue growth rate
Discount rate

FRREBEFRAF

F SR R
IR

mERENR(F)

15 |MILEE — $5E8(»)

EREEFERAZER/RAOT

Fame Sky International Limited

I 3 40 R
B

Investment properties — Group

At 1st April

Transferred from property, plant &
equipment (note 14(g))

Fair value (losses)/gains (note 6)

Disposal

At 31st March

AMA—H
EE B - EESNRE
(Htat 14(g))

DNHE(BR) Wi (Hfie)
HE

R=B=+—H

The following amounts have been recognised in the

consolidated income statement:

Rental income (note 5)

Direct operating expense arising
from investment properties that

generate rental income (note 7)

HEWA (KaZE5)

EEHESRAZRENE
FEE cEEEEHRX
(BfaE7)

4% — 10%

17.8%
4% — 100%

19.7%
16 {EYE — FKE

2009 2008

ZEBhE —EENE

HK$°000 HK$000

F#T FHT

74,710 67,730

20,886 -

(11,335) 12,930

- (5,950)

84,261 74,710

=7

UT£HERGRE RERER

2009 2008
—ZEEThE —EENF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FE&T FET
6,449 3,606

883 620

~
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16 Investment properties — Group (Continued)

(a)

(b)

The investment properties of the Group were
revalued at 31st March 2009 by Memfus Wong
Surveyors Limited, an independent professional

qualified valuer, on the basis of open market value.

The Group’s interests in investment properties at

their carrying amounts are analysed as follows:

In Hong Kong, held on:

Leases of between 10 to TERTEZHELN
50 years
Outside Hong Kong, held on: REBEI BT AN
BE
Leases of between 10 to TERTFZHEY
50 years
Lease of over 50 years BRATF2EN

The future aggregate minimum rental receivables
under non-cancellable operating leases are set out
in note 37.

At 31st March 2009, certain investment
properties with an aggregate carrying amount
of HK$23,411,000 (2008: HK$36,300,000) were
pledged as security for banking facilities granted to

the Group (note 30(a)).
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16 BREYME — x5E(»)

RER - BTIENEE :

(@) AEBZREVEN-BTAES
A=+ - ARBIEXAEREE
WEME NPT HRA ARAM
AT o

(b) AEBRHBEENRZIRENE
M AT :

2009 2008

—sErE —EENF

HK$°000 HK$°000

FHT FitTT

72,611 60,600

11,000 =

650 14,110

84,261 74,710

1RIE R AT A TR RO BB 2
BEASBERRNHE7 -

© R-BBAF=A=+—0 K&

#{E5H23,411,0008 T (ZEF)N
% : 36,300,000 B T) 2 E THRE
MECRFIERAREBERTE
E 2R (HFE30()) °
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17 Film rights, films in progress and film 17
royalty deposits — Group

At 1st April 2007

Cost
Accumulated amortisation and
impairment losses

Net book amount

Year ended 31st March 2008

Opening net book amount
Additions

Transfers

Amortisation charge (note 7)
Impairment charge (note 7)

Closing net book amount
At 1st April 2008

Cost
Accumulated amortisation and
impairment losses

Net book amount

Year ended 31st March 2009

Opening net book amount
Additions

Transfers

Amortisation charge (note 7)
Impairment charge (note 7)
Disposal

Exchange difference

Closing net book amount
At 31st March 2009
Cost

Accumulated amortisation and
impairment losses

N

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
= - >
B R R
EXNRE  BERDIEERER
iEEe — F5KH
Film
Films in royalty
Film rights progress deposits Total
WmER ERRRE
ERME -4 B Mt
HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$’000
FET FET FET FETT
A_SETLF
MAB—H
B 7 737,189 3,683 19,457 760,329
HEHEHER
REEE (674,117) (2,165) (10,675)  (686,957)
BREFE 63,072 1,518 8,782 73,372
BE_ZT)\F
=B=+—H
ILEE
FHREFE 63,072 1,518 8,782 73,372
0 20,536 4,694 27,030 52,260
LEES 15,949 (1,810) (14,139) —
BEER (MW7) (37,280) - - (37,280)
WEER (A7) (3,173) (139) - (3,312)
FHRREFE 59,104 4,263 21,673 85,040
R-ZE)I\F
mA—A
FR A 773,674 6,567 32,348 812,589
ZEHEHER
REERE (714,570) (2,304) (10,675)  (727,549)
BRMEFE 59,104 4,263 21,673 85,040
BE_ZSThE
=B=+-—H
ILEE
FYREFE 59,104 4,263 21,673 85,040
2 6,121 700 21,490 28,311
i 38,551 (2,740) (35,811) =
BEBER (A7) (53,008) - - (53,008)
WEER (K 7) (4,507) - - (4,507)
HE (164) — - (164)
[EHELR (90) — — (90)
& R E 46,007 2,223 7,352 55582 115
R-SShE
=B=+-—H
B 601,398 4,528 18,027 623,953
ST #ER
REEE (555,391) (2,305) (10,675)  (568,371)
BRME A 46,007 2,223 7,352 55,582

Net book amount
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17 Film rights, films in progress and film
royalty deposits — Group (Continued)
(a) Amortisation charge of HK$53,008,000 (2008:
HK$37,280,000) with respect to film rights has
been included in cost of sales in the consolidated

income statement.

(b) The carrying amounts of film rights have been
reduced to their recoverable amounts through
recognition of impairment loss of HK$4,507,000
(2008: HK$3,312,000) which has been included in

cost of sales in the consolidated income statement.

18 Interests in associated companies —

17

18

Group

At 1st April AEA—H

Share of losses (note (c)) 1L &8 (B ()

Disposal of interest in an associated & AR S N T 2% (Mt
company (note d) (d))

Reclassified to available-for-sale BXioEATMHEBE
financial assets HKEE

At 31st March R=H=+—8

Amounts due from associated FE Ui & A Rl FRIE
companies (note (b)) (B1EE (b))

Provision for impairment of amounts  FEU & A TI5 B # A
due from associated companies (K12E )

11 6 (note (e))
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EXNE BEPEERER

miEERe — F%KEH 2

(a) BREE R RME 253,008,000 T
(== %)\ £ : 37,280,000 Jt )
BEBACH AGERBERZHE
B o

(b) BEXREZREECSEBRIAR
{EE5184,507,000 8 T(ZZFEN
% : 3,312,000 55 ) B £ H AU
ElE%E - BEFEE AGRERE

REBELFzHERZ — FKE

2009 2008
—E2ThAE —EENE
HK$°000 HK$’000
FET FET
1,570 16,681
(1,570) (4,582)
- (8,105)
- (2,424)

- 1,570

25,968 29,289
(25,968) (11,228)

- 18,061

- 19,631
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18 Interests in associated companies — 18 REEATFIZHEE — xKH

Group (Continued) (4&)

(a) At 31st March 2009, all of the Group’s interests in (@ MRZBEENF=A=+—H  &&
associated companies were unlisted. The Group’s BIREE AR 2ERmAI LT o K
principal associated company is: EBEEHENT R ¢

Percentage
of equity
Nominal value interest
Place of Principal of issued share attributable
Name incorporation activities capital to the Group
R\ B 0 R 3L 3th B FEEH ERITRFEE FREE(E
EiEe St
Silver Kent Hong Kong Trading of audio 10,000,000 45%
Technology visual products ordinary shares
Limited (“Silver of HK$1 each
Kent”)
REMEARLE &HE BEEYEEM 10,000,000 R &R 45%
(MeR3%E 1) HE1BTZE
AR
The financial information of Silver Kent is extracted REB M BEERFEMT ¢
as follows:
2009 2008
ZEBAF —EENF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Total assets BERE 44,899 84,469
Total liabilities HWEE (44,845) (79,630)
Revenue U &= 9,359 20,228
Loss for the year FREE (5,455) (4,808) 11/

Silver Kent has ceased operation during the year. RECHRFRARLLE o
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18 Interests in associated companies —
Group (Continued)

(b)

(c)

(d)

The amounts due from associated companies are
denominated in Hong Kong dollars, unsecured,

interest-free and have no fixed repayment terms.

At 31st March 2009, Silver Kent was in a net
liabilities position and the Group has shared its
loss up to the extent of its investment costs of
HK$4,500,000. The Group has not recognised
losses amounting to HK$885,000 (2008: Nil) for
Silver Kent. The accumulated losses not recognised
were HK$885,000 (2008: Nil). In addition, the
Group has made an impairment provision of
approximately HK$14,740,000 for the full amounts
due from associated companies after taking into
account its business development, its financial

position and other factors.

In January 2008, the Group disposed of its 41.83%
interest in BIG Media Group Limited (a company
incorporated in the Cayman lIslands with limited
liability, the shares of which are listed in Hong
Kong) for a consideration of HK$80,000,000. A
gain on disposal of HK$55,749,000 was recognised
in the consolidated income statement during the
year ended 31st March 2008. At 31st March 2009,
the remaining interest held of 1.90% is classified as
an available-for-sale financial asset in the Group’s

consolidated balance sheet.

18 B

(&)

(b)
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LFZzER — *KH

RUWBERTARERUBLIAE
- BEH REREBEEEN

BEENFEEMRR  MAKEED U
HLE KA 4,500,00058 T o H
B8 o AEEWEBERIEIE
885,000 B L(=FZ/\F &) o
I AR 2 R5TE5 185 885,000 78
T(ZZEENE &) o K
SERERIRECEBRE - UK
MRREMEAREZ  EREHE
W AR RBFEERERES
14,740,0005%7‘5 °

AZEENF—B AEELHE
HRATRESEERA A (R
ERETMAZZ2ERAR » HiR
HHREB L) 241.83% %= -
X8 A 80,000,00078 T - HEZ
W22 55,749,000 B TR B EZE - F
ENF=ZA=+-HLEEZRSE
WRRER - R_ZEZNAF=A
=+—H BRTHREEZ1.90%
REAKEZHGEEEEBERIESR
AHEEREEE -
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18 Interests in associated companies — 18 REEATFIZHEE — xKH
Group (Continued) (4&)
() Movements on provision of amounts due from (e) MW= ARRIERESE !
associated companies:
2009 2008
—ETAE —EEN\F
HK$’000 HK$°000
FEIT FET
At 1st April KRB —H 11,228 15,481
Provision for impairment of FEW & N Bl SR E RS
amounts due from associated  (ffi£ 7)
companies (note 7) 14,740 78
Reversal of impairment FEW i & N Bl 5k IE
of amount due from an BEREE (B 7)
associated company (note 7) - (3,161)
Receivables written off during & Pufifi$s & £ Uk E =
the year as uncollectible FE U TR - (1,170)
At 31st March R=B=+—H 25,968 11,228
19 Interest in a jointly controlled entity — 19 REERFERZER —
Group FKE
Group
*TRHE
2009 2008
—EThE —ET)N\F
HK$’000 HK$°000
TFHET FET
Interest in a jointly controlled entity, A [EEHEE 2 E%
at cost (note (a)) B A (7 (a)) 1,083 1,083
Share of loss (L1 (1,083) (1,083)
Amount due from a jointly controlled  JEL &£ [E]32 4| S 8& 5018
entity (note (b)) (3 (b)) 22,333 21,890
Provision for amount due from a EWHEEEGERE

MEI AH ENTERTAINMENT GROUP LIMITED E SR8 E A EEAR A F

~N

jointly controlled entity (note (d)) RIEEHE (3F () (22,333) 1,890 119
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19 Interest in a jointly controlled entity —

ANNUAL REPORT 2009 3§

19 RERZEHEREZES —

Group (Continued) 5B =)
(a) Balance represents the Group’s 70% interest () #HEERREAKELEERRES &G

in Guangdong Tung Ah Audio Video Production
Company Limited (“Tung Ah”). The Group’s control
over Tung Ah is restricted by a provision in the
joint venture agreement that requires unanimous
approval by all directors present for certain major
decisions, notwithstanding the Group having a
majority equity interest and the ability to appoint
the majority of directors. Accordingly, in the opinion
of the directors, the Group does not have unilateral
control over Tung Ah and the equity method is

used to account for its investment therein.

Particulars of Tung Ah are as follows:

EBRRAR(TRE ) 70% B °
AEBRRD2EZFHEZ AL
AP —RIRSORIR - AR K EH#
FERKBIBRERTEZEAZHE
E - EETEEREAHZE N
FoES—3E - Bt R
B AREYEEERTZERH
BHRE - R E EAEEE

ZREZRE -

REZFBUT :

Percentage of
interest in

ownership/voting

power/loss
Country of Principal activity and sharing
Name establishment place of operation held indirectly
MERsaRaE
BERE SESER
&8 BRI ER FERBRERME ZEZL
ERR o E B HI1E The People’s Republic  Processing and 70%
BRAF of China (PRC) distribution of audio
(“Guangdong Tung visual products in
Ah Audio Video PRC
Production Company
Limited”)
BRERDFHREIME REARLAME(PE) FEREMT KT 70%
BIRA A FEEMm
The amount due from the jointly controlled entity is (b)

unsecured, interest-free and has no fixed term of

repayment.
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19 Interest in a jointly controlled entity — 19

Group (Continued)

(c) At 31st March 2009, Tung Ah was in a net liabilities
position and the Group has shared its loss up to
the extent of its investment cost of HK$1,083,000.
In addition, the Group decided to make a provision
of approximately HK$443,000 to fully provide for
the amount due from Tung Ah during the year after
taking into accounts of its business development,
its financial position and other factors.

(d) Movement on provision of amount due from a
jointly controlled entity:

REFZENERBZERZ —
5B =)

(©)

~N

B FEERAR MY RE

R-EFZNF=A=+—H ' ®R&
ERFEENRR  MASKEEUH
& AN 1,083,00058 T o 1 HIE
Bl REBREEREZE
BERE - UBERRREMEERR
SREAE H BB 443,00078 7T+ LA
AW R RIEEE 2 8RE o

ERLEZEHERRIERE 2
) .

2009 2008
—ETAE —EEN\F
HK$’000 HK$°000
FEIT FET
At 1st April L= = 21,890 21,445
Provision for impairment of W EEFIE B R IE
amount due from a jointly WERE (K 7)
controlled entity (note 7) 443 445
At 31st March MR=BA=+—H 22,333 21,890
20 Interests in subsidiaries — Company 20 RIBARIZHEE — FAF
Company
ENF
2009 2008
—EThEF —EE)N\F
HK$°000 HK$’000
TFRET FET
Unlisted shares, at cost (note (a)) LR 0 BERA (5 (a)) 46,010 46,010
Amounts due from subsidiaries PEUS Mt B8 2 BIFRIR (5E (b))
(note (b)) 523,528 555,672
121
569,538 601,682
Provision for impairment of amounts  FE [ & 2 B FUE R EEE
due from subsidiaries (233,885) (233,885)

335,653 367,797
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(Continued)

20 Interests in subsidiaries — Company

(a) Details of principal subsidiaries are set out in note

42 to the consolidated financial statements.

(b) The amounts due from subsidiaries are unsecured,

interest-free and have no fixed terms of repayment.

Financial instruments by category
The accounting policies for financial instruments have

been applied to the line items below:

Group

Assets as per consolidated
balance sheet

At 31st March 2009
Available-for-sale financial

assets (note 23(a))
Trade and other receivables

(note 25)

Financial assets at fair value
through profit and loss

(note 23(b))

Pledged bank deposit

(note 22(b))

Cash and cash equivalents

(note 26)

ReREARSE
FrlZ R E

R-EShE
=B=+—H
A HEMKEEE

(K1EE23(a))
B 5 REAER
RIE (M1 25)
BRAFEEA
BaRzi%
EE (M 23(b))
BIRARTER
(RtaE22(b))
RERZERRE
BB (Kt 26)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DUE e B

ANNUAL REPORT 2009

20 REBLATRZHZ — x2F

(&

(a EEMBQIFBEIHRNGEET
HFMIFE42 ©

(b) FEUHIE A RRRIE

EREEA 22

REEEZERE -
21 BENBSZHMBEIR
MEITAECETBRXEERARTIZ
I8 :
E5EHE
Financial
assets at
Available- fair value
for-sale through
Loans and financial profit and
receivables assets loss Total
BRATFE
HHE AHHE HARSR
U R IA HMEEE ZHESEE #st
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000
FET FEIT FEIT FEIT
- 18,180 - 18,180
68,712 - - 68,712
- - 22,476 22,476
43,500 - -~ 43,500
56,620 - - 56,620
168,832 18,180 22,476 209,488
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21 Financial instruments by category
(Continued)
Group (Continued)

Assets as per consolidated F&HEE&EE

balance sheet RSz B E

At 31st March 2008 R-ZEESNEF

=RA=+—AH

Available-for-sale financial AR ERKEE
assets (note 23(a)) (Kt 23(a)

Trade and other receivables & 5 & EfthfElx
(note 25) RIE (ffaF 25)

Amounts due from FE W Btk X R FRIE
associated companies (H1EE 18)

(note 18)

Financial assets at fair value %2\ F{EFT A
through profit and loss Baik W%
(note 23(b)) EE (M 23(b))

Pledged bank deposit BIKIFRITERK
(note 22(b)) (Bt 22(b))

Cash and cash equivalents H&KRZEHEE
(note 26) 5B (i 26)

21 BRENBSZCHMEIR 2

~N

X&KMEE)

Financial

assets at

Available- fair value

for-sale through

Loans and financial profit and
receivables assets loss Total

BAFE

B9 AHHE FtABR&EE
FEW SR8 BigEE <ZHBEEE st
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET FET FET
— 59,407 — 59,407
54,070 — - 54,070
18,061 — - 18,061
— — 18,401 18,401
30,000 — - 30,000
86,936 — — 86,936
189,067 59,407 18,401 266,875
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(Continued)
Group (Continued)

Liabilities as per consolidated

balance sheet

At 31st March 2009

Derivate financial instrument
(note 31)

Convertible notes — liability
portion (note 31)

Borrowings (note 30(a))

Obligations under finance leases

Trade and other payables

At 31st March 2008

Derivate financial instrument
(note 31)

Convertible notes — liability
portion (note 31)

Borrowings (note 30(a))

Obligations under finance leases

Trade and other payables

21 Financial instruments by category

GAREARE
Iz &R

R-SBEAF=A=1+—H

STEBB TR (HE31)

TRREE — 8%

(K% 31)

&8 (#:£ 30(a))

BMERQORE

R-ZSBENF=ZA=1+—H

BESREMENTR

PTEMB IR (MZ31)

(Ktz#31)

BE (H7t 30(a)

G A RIE

e}

BERAMENE

i)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B IR AR AT
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21 BRENBSZCHMEIR 2

XEME(E)
Liabilities Other
at fair value financial
through liabilities at
profit or loss amortised cost Total
BAFEMA RESEFIIREZ
RRkcaf HitnM 5 5H & #st
HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$’000
FETT FET FEIT
36 — 36
- 19,404 19,404
- 22,387 22,387
- 6,700 6,700
- 5,755 5,755
36 54,246 54,282
14,005 — 14,005
— 22,683 22,683
— 6,092 6,092
— 17,003 17,003
14,005 45,778 59,783
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21 Financial instruments by category

(Continued)

Company

Assets as per company balance sheet

At 31st March 2009
Amounts due from subsidiaries (note 20)
Other receivables

Cash and cash equivalents (note 26)

At 31st March 2008
Amounts due from subsidiaries (note 20)
Other receivables

Cash and cash equivalents (note 26)

F2F

LAFIRERARERMIIZEE

R-BSAF=A=1+—H
FE W Bt B~ RIR IR (Bat 20)
H YRR IR
REeEhERRTER (A 26)

R-BEN\F=ZA=+—H
FE Wt B8 A~ RIRRIR (BaE 20)
H YRR
RERERREEE (HaZ26)

B FEERAR MY RE

21 BRENBSZCHMEIR 2

Loans and
receivables
HEREEK®REA
HK$°000
TR

289,643
20,261
9

309,913

321,787
129
9

321,925

~N
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21 Financial instruments by category

(Continued)
Company (Continued)

Liabilities as per company

balance sheet

At 31st March 2009

Derivate financial instrument

(note 31)

Convertible notes — liability

portion (note 31)
Other payables

At 31st March 2008

Derivate financial instrument

(note 31)

Convertible notes — liability

portion (note 31)
Other payables

LAFIRERRERMINZ

=R=+—AH
PTHEMBE T A (f1aF31)

(K1a£31)
H b e FhIE

R-ETI\F
=BA=+—H
PTHEBI S T B (F72 31)

R EE — SE35
(K1aE31)
H fb e FhIE

21 BRENBSZCHMEIR 2

e 3NCINE- ),
Other
Liabilities at financial
fair value liabilities at
through amortised
profit or loss cost Total
BRAFEFA REBEFIER
RakzaR ZHMMBEAR #Et
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FETT TFET TFEIT
19,404 - 19,404
- 36 36
- 494 494
19,404 530 19,934
14,005 — 14,005
— 22,683 22,683
- 971 971
14,005 23,654 37,659
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22 Credit quality of financial assets
The credit quality of financial assets that are neither
past due nor impaired can be assessed by reference
to external credit ratings (if available) or to historical

information about the counterparty’s default rates:

(a) Trade receivables — Group

LI BERTFRZYS

Counterparties without
external credit rating
Existing customers with no BEWEENCHE2REEEF

defaults in the past

Existing customers with some  BEEZE FHEILEZ
defaults in the past RERF

Total trade receivables (note 25) & 5 fEUNFIE 4458 (ff71 25)

(b) Pledged bank deposit — Group

Credit rating EETR

A2 A2

22 MBETRAZERER

HRBHEIBREZMBIAZFEEER
A2ENBEETR(WB)RNBEHS
e R 22 E L ERBETAE

(a) WHEBRKRE — xKM

2009 2008
—SBhE = L%
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
20,191 2,399
510 11,461
20,701 13,860

(b) BEHBTER — F&EH
2009 2008
=t 22K —2ENEF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FEIT FET
43,500 30,000

~N
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22 Credit quality of financial assets
(Continued)

(b)

(c)

Pledged bank deposit — Group (Continued)

Hong Kong dollar denominated balances as at 31st
March 2009 represent fixed term deposit placed in
commercial banks in Hong Kong that was pledged
against the banking facilities granted to the Group.
Please refer to Note 30(a)(iii) for further details of

the arrangement.

The weighted average effective interest rate per
annum on pledged bank deposit was 1.18% per
annum (2008: 2.62% per annum) as at 31st March
2009.

ANNUAL REPORT 2009 3§

22 MBEITRAZESEER#®)

(b)

CEMRTER — $£E(E)
R-ZZBZAF=ZA=+—HUET
REBEUZEFETHRREBEER
TRERER  CEMMEARER
ERRTEEZER ZRHZE
— S FHEFES EMIEE 30(a)(iii)

RZZBZAF=A=+—0 B
RRITFERZINEFHERFR=E
REE11BE(ZZEENE (R
2.62E)

Cash and cash equivalents (c) ReRERRELIER
Group Company
KM E 3/
2009 2008 2009 2008
ZEBAE —ET)\HF ZBEBAF —ZTENF
Credit rating BEEFR HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$°000
TF#EIT FET F#ET FET
Aa1l Aat - 3,513 - —
Aa2 Aa2 1,050 — - —
Aa3 Aa3 102 64,149 9 9
A1 A1l 49,330 150 - —
A2 A2 6,120 19,064 - —
Cash Be 18 60 - —
56,620 86,936 9 9
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23 Financial assets - Group 23 MESE — x%KH
(a) Available-for-sale financial assets (a) "THHEMBEEE

2009 2008

—EThE —ETTNF

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FET

At 1st April RO A—H 59,407 6,202
Reclassified from interests in BB E AR 2w

associated companies B BE(MEE18)

(note 18) - 2,424
Additions 0 - 625
Disposals HE - (6,202)
Net (losses)/gains transfer to EEREERC(BE)

equity W5 (40,602) 56,358
Impairment charge (note 7) WEER (A7) (625) —
At 31st March R=B=+—8 18,180 59,407
Available-for-sale financial AHEEMBEERR

assets include the following: T5&mE :

Equity securities listed in Hong &8 LM RANES -

Kong, at market value BHhE 18,180 58,782
Unlisted equity securities I EHBRAE S - 625
18,180 59,407

Market value of listed securities LFH#E%5 2 m{E 18,180 58,782
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23 Financial assets - Group (Continued) 23 MBEEE — xKB (@)

(a) Available-for-sale financial assets (Continued) (a) TIEEHEMREEEE)
Available-for-sales financial assets are AREENBERENTIE,RE
denominated in the following currencies: iz :

2009 2008

—EThE —ZET)N\F

HK$’000 HK$°000

FET TFETT

Hong Kong dollar BT 18,180 58,782
Renminbi AR - 625
18,180 59,407

(b) Financial assets at fair value through profit or (b) BAFEHAABRERZUBEE

loss
2009 2008
—EThEF —EENE
HK$’000 HK$°000
FET FET
At 1st April RMEA—H 18,401 2,350
Additions 0 20,044 15,188
Disposals HE (1,204) (4,498)
Fair value (losses)/gains (note 6) ATE(EE) W
(HtaZ6) (14,765) 5,361
At 31st March R=B=+—8H 22,476 18,401
All of the financial assets at fair value through profit FERAFEFAANBERZUBEEY
and loss are equity securities listed in Hong Kong, REBLTRARES LUBRTAEN
denominated in Hong Kong dollars and stated at WiHTEIR -

their market value.
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Inventories — Group

Finished goods
Less: provision for obsolete

inventories

The cost of inventories recognised as expense and
included as part of cost of sales in the consolidated
income statement amounted to HK$8,053,000 (2008:

HK$5,649,000) (note 7).

Trade and other receivables — Group

Trade receivables

Less: provision for impairment of
receivables

Less: discount on non-current
portion

Trade receivables — net
Prepayments, deposits and other
receivables — net

Less: non-current portion of trade
receivables

24 8 — *x%H

2009 2008

ZEZThE —EENFE

HK$°000 HK$°000

FEITT F#ET

SR 11,185 8,475
B REGFERME

(4,240) (1,017)

6,945 7,458

EREREIZLTAGZERERIESNE

BT(ZEENF:
FE7) o

EWA |—Hp 2 FEKA A 8,053,000

5,649,000 78 T ) (Fft

25 BHREMEBKHRE — XK

=
2009 2008
ZEThE —EEN\F
HK$°000 HK$’000
FETT FiET
B S5 EWEIE 43,746 27,867
B FEWNERIE R E B
(23,045) (13,531)
B IERENER D HT 0
- (476)
B S EWEIE — F5E 20,701 13,860
FENFIE - BZER
HiEWFIE — 58 48,011 40,210
68,712 54,070
B BESEWRIEZ
IERBE D - (5,432)
68,712 48,638

~N
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25 Trade and other receivables — Group

(Continued)

All non-current receivables as at 31st March 2008 are
due within five years from the balance sheet date. The
fair values are based on cash flows discounted using
prevailing fixed deposit rates that range from 1.2% to

2.2% per annum.

The ageing analysis of trade receivables is as follows:

Current to 3 months ENEZ=1E A
4 to 6 months Pz 7@ A
Over 6 months BB~ E A

The Group’s credit terms to trade receivables generally
range from 7 to 90 days (2008: ranged from 7 to 90
days).

ANNUAL REPORT 2009
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25 BHREMEBKRIE — F5F
® =)
R-BEN\E=A=+-B2FEER
BREKNKENEEER R AEFEARD
2o NEEEARTERERFIEN
FEFE12% E2.2% RERS AR
BHE

BSRWRIBZREDTAT :

Group

xEE
2009 2008
=t L 2L —BENF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
2,483 6,632
485 —
2,787 3,832
5,755 10,464

AEBEZFEVREBEZEEHR BN
FT7Z0BH(ZZEZENE : N F7Z90
H) e
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25 Trade and other receivables — Group

(Continued)

As of 31st March 2009, trade receivables of
HK$2,433,000 (2008: HK$369,000) were past due but
not impaired. These relate to a number of independent
customers for whom there is no recent history of default.
The ageing analysis of these trade receivables is as

follows:

=EAR
BB =18 A

Up to 3 months

Over 3 months

As of 31st March 2009, trade receivables of
HK$23,555,000 (2008: HK$25,467,000) were
impaired and provided for. The amount of provision
was HK$23,045,000 as of 31st March 2009 (2008:
HK$13,531,000). The individually impaired receivables
mainly relate to a long outstanding customer, which is

experiencing unexpected financial difficulty.

At 31st March 2009 and 2008, the carrying amounts of
the Group’s trade and other receivables are principally

denominated in Hong Kong dollar.

B FEERAR Y RE

25 B REMBIRIE — EE

(4%)

A—_EThF=A=+-H B5E
W 7% 182,433,000 T (ZEZ N\ F
369,000 70 ) EBHAERIAE © 25 HE
WRIEHE S W BT HIE X AL % 2 B L
EFEM ZEEZRUFBZRRS
MAUT -

2009 2008
“BBhF —EENF
HK$°000 HK$’000
FRET FET
1,828 15

605 354

2,433 369

R-ZZEZAF=RA=+—0 B5
FE U X 18 23,555,00078 T(Z EE N
% : 25,467,000 7T) BB R #HE o
AZEZNE=ZA=+—0 BE:
%8 /23,045,000 T(= =& \ £ :
13,531,000 7% 7T ) ° & 5l 5 {8 FE W R 18
FTEHE-ZFENBRUIIZEBERNE 2
REXREFERE -

R=FBEAFR=-FFNF=ZA=1—
B AREHESRXHEAMGERRE KT
BEEXBUBTREN -

~N
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25 Trade and other receivables — Group 25 HSRHEMEBUIRE — 5§
(Continued) (#&)
Movements on the Group’s provision for impairment of BESREWFIEREREZSSHOT
trade receivables are as follows:
2009 2008
—EThE —ETTNF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
At 1st April RO A—H 13,531 4,140
Provision for impairment of FEWEIERERE
receivables 9,514 9,833
Receivables written off during the FRHMEEAEERE 2
year as uncollectible FEWFRIE - (442)
At 31st March R=B=+—H 23,045 13,531
The creation and release of provision for impairment of FEWCRRTE R BB 2 3R L R AEBRE 7T A
receivables have been included as part of administrative GAERERERTEREMBAS XD
and other expenses in the consolidated income (FfaE7) - BERBRNBZEE KRR
statement (note 7). Amounts charged to the allowance FEHA T = IR [ RE IR & BEEE o
account are generally written off when there is no
expectation of recovering additional cash.
The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting AEHRAzEeGERRA LM EEE
date is the fair value of each class of receivable WRHRIE 2 AFE - AEELESHEM
mentioned above. The Group does not hold any HKIRRIERER -
collateral as security.
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26 Cash and cash equivalents — Group

B FEERAR Y RE

26 BakERR&RE — &%

~N

and Company B R ELT
Group Company
xEM b 3/
2009 2008 2009 2008
—ETAE —EENE —EThE —EENE
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET FET FET
Cash at bank and on hand $R{TREFHEE 6,399 7,698 9 9
Short-term bank deposits 42 Hi$R4T 175X 50,221 79,238 - —
56,620 86,936 9 9
Cash and cash equivalents were denominated in the HEREHHRSEBUTYIEYAE
following currencies: i
Group Company
*TRE . /N
2009 2008 2009 2008
ZEEAE @ —ZTENFE ZEBThE ZZBN\F
HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$°000
FETT FET F#&iT FET
Denominated in: LURHEMAEN
Hong Kong dollar BT 51,941 82,684 9 9
Renminbi AR 1,805 151 - —
New Taiwan dollar HEH 1,800 4,101 - —
Japanese Yen H 1,074 - - —
56,620 86,936 9 9
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26

27
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Cash and cash equivalents — Group 26 BHeRERBRELER — 5%
and Company (Continued) BRELATE)
Cash, cash equivalents and bank overdrafts include the REERERMS > Be - EERLE
following for the purposes of the cash flow statement: BRBITEZGFEUTEE
Group
*T&H
2009 2008
—EThE —EEN\E
HK$’000 HK$’000
FRET FET
Cash and cash equivalents ReERERREIER 56,620 86,936
Bank overdrafts (note 30) RITE (K72 30) (6,387) —
50,233 86,936
The effective interest rate on short-term bank deposits R-ZBEZENF=A=+—H  EHIRIT
was 1.71% (2008: 2.25%) per annum as at 31st March BRREBANEZRAFEAITIE(ZEE
2009. The deposit has an average maturity of 31 days NE2258E) ; ZEFR2FEHHR
(2008: 35 days). RB31B(ZEENF :35H) °
Share capital and premium — Group 27 BREREBR — FKERETL
and Company i)
Number of

ordinary shares

at HK$0.1 each  Ordinary shares

SAREEO.1E T
ZEiEREE ®iEmAR
000 HK$°000
F A FET
Authorised EE
At 31st March 2008 N-—BENFE=A=+—H 3,000,000 300,000
At 31st March 2009 R-ZZEFENF=A=+—H 3,000,000 300,000
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B FEERAR Y RE

27 BRERER — *KEREL

and Company (Continued) B
Number of
ordinary
shares at
HK$0.1 Ordinary Share
each shares premium Total
SREE
0.1#BTZ
®EREE BiEmBs B inigfE st
‘000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
Fig FET FET FET
Issued and fully paid ERITRHE
At 1st April 2007 R-ZBZLF
MA—H 823,000 82,300 11,156 93,456
Issue of shares BITIR D
— conversion of — RBABRREE
convertible notes (Kia£31)
(note 31) 159,091 15,909 156,413 172,322
At 31st March 2008 and R-ZZEENEF
31st March 2009 =BA=+—HRK
—EENEF
=H=r=H 982,091 98,209 167,569 265,778
Reserves — Group and Company 28 fitifi — *RKERF LT
(a) Group (a) =5%H
2009 2008
ZEThE —EENE
HK$’000 HK$°000
FET FET
Share redemption reserve % 10 K& =l = 8 12 12
Contributed surplus O 107,099 107,099
Exchange difference E R ERE (819) (16)
Buildings revaluation reserve BFEHHE 14,357 11,485
Available-for-sale financial assets A/t HEKEEEE
revaluation reserve A 15,756 56,358
Share-based payment reserve LURR 10 2 (S FRIE R
(note 32) (K1zE32) - 22,197
Accumulated losses ZETEE (64,767) (15,435)
71,638 181,700
() Movements of each component of the iy RFESDBIZ2EHHNGEEER

reserves are set out in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity.

(i) The contributed surplus of the Group (ii)
represents the credit arising from the
reduction of share capital during the year

ended 31st March 1999.

FEBZ2HAABRRKREREZR
—WANFE=ZB=+—HLEFE
HUBIRANPRE 4 2 3 RR ©

~
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28

Company

At 1st April 2007

Loss for the year

Share-based
compensation
(note 32)

Dividends

At 31st March 2008

At 1st April 2008

Profit for the year

Expiry of share-
based
compensation
(note 32)

At 31st March 2009

Reserves (Continued)

R=BBLF
mA—H

FRER

SARR3 % 43 3R
(Hi£32)

mA—A
FRiRF
SRR % A3 3R M A

(fiz£32)

RZZERF
=R=t-H

ANNUAL REPORT 2009 3§

28 fitifm (%)
(b) F2FH

Share- Retained

Share based earnings/

redemption payment  Contributed (accumulated
reserve reserve surplus losses) Total

B {3 FREl LIk 3 REERH/
R XARERE BAER (REtBHR) #at
HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000
FET FET FET FET FET
12 - 153,110 39,275 192,397
- - - (145,186) (145,186)
— 22,197 - - 22,197
- - - (4,910) (4,910)
12 22,197 153,110 (110,821) 64,498
12 22,197 153,110 (110,821) 64,498
- - - 5,713 5,713
- (22,197) — 22,197 -
12 - 153,110 (82,911) 70,211
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28 Reserves (Continued)
(b) Company (Continued)

(i)

The contributed surplus of the Company
represents the difference between the par
value of the Company’s shares issued in
exchange for the issued share capital of
the subsidiaries and the net asset value of
the subsidiaries acquired, and the credit
arising from the reduction of share capital
during the year ended 31st March 1999.
Under the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda
(as amended), the contributed surplus shall
not be distributable if these are reasonable

grounds for believing that:

(1) the Company is, or would after the
payment be, unable to pay its liabilities

as they become due; or

(2) the realisable value of the Company’s
assets would thereby be less than
the aggregate of its liabilities and its
issued share capital and share premium

account.

29 Trade and other payables — Group

Trade payable g S ENMIE
Receipts in advance and accruals FEWFIE R ESTE A
Bills payable BAEE

B FEERAR MY RE

28 fEfm =)

(b) FLT(E)
() ADBZHBABRERIEARRQF
R E AR S BITRA
3% 17 2 % £ [ & 52 A7 UK
BHBAREEFHEZE
5 omERBE-NAAE
ZA=t—-HLEEEHRR
AMELEZER - REFR
E- NN\ —FATEER
i) WESEEETMESET
Bl IE » BB AR T A fit

DI -

(1) ALBERERMELM

REEEINEEEDH
RXNEE: &

(2 AAREEZAZRE
BEEEMIREEER
HE #TRAUR KRG
R (EIRZ R o

20 RHRHEMEMRER — K

El
2009 2008

=t L2k —EENEF
HK$°000 HK$°000

FHT FitTT

5,755 10,464

73,093 57,586

- 6,539

78,848 74,589

~N
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(Continued)

29 Trade and other payables — Group

The ageing analysis of trade payables is as follows:

Current to 3 months

4 to 6 months

Over 6 months

Denominated in:
Hong Kong dollar

Japanese Yen

BEAZ==1EA
S (!
iR 7 E A

ek
oz

)

T]§

LTHE
BT
HE
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(#&)

20 WEAREMEFMKRET — &%

BESRNRBZREDFTAT :

5y

2009 2008
—EETHhE —EENF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
2,483 6,632

485 —

2,787 3,832
5,755 10,464
2009 2008
ZEThE —EENFE
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
5,014 10,464

741 —

5,755 10,464
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30 Borrowings and obligations under

finance leases — Group

Bank overdrafts — secured

Bank loans — secured

Bank borrowings (note (a))
Obligations under finance leases,

current portion (note (b))

Obligations under finance leases,

non-current portion (note (b))

RITEZ — BIRE
RITER — BEF

RITIEE (7 (a))
BMEMIRE - RBED
(&£ (b))

30 ERRMBEHENEE — &%

BMEBARE - FRBID

(3£ (b))

2009 2008

=t L2k —FENF
HK$°000 HK$°000
FRT FHT
6,387 =
16,000 =
22,387 =
3,677 2,746
26,064 2,746
3,023 3,346
29,087 6,092

~N
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30 Borrowings and obligations under
finance leases — Group (Continued)

(a)

Bank borrowings as at 31st March 2009 were

repayable within one year.

At 31st March 2009, banking facilities amounting to
HK$60,500,000 (2008: HK$59,994,000) granted by

banks to the Group are secured by the following:

(i) legal charges over the Group’s Properties
with carrying value of HK$84,842,000 (2008:
HK$104,430,000) (note 14) and certain
investment properties with carrying value of
HK$23,411,000 (2008: HK$36,300,000) (note
16);

(i) corporate guarantees executed by the

Company (note 35);

(iii) pledged deposits of HK$43,500,000 of the
Group (note 22(b)).

The Group’s borrowings are all denominated in
Hong Kong dollars and repayable within one year
(2008: Nil).

At 31st March 2009, the Group’s borrowings bear
floating interest rate of HIBOR plus 0.75% to
1.00%. The weighted average effective interest rate
per annum of the Group’s borrowings as at 31st
March 2009 is 1.00%.

The carrying amount of short-term borrowings
approximated their fair values due to their short

maturities.

30 ERRMBEHENEE — &%

B (=)
@ R-BEBh&E=A=t+—B2#H7T
EEAR—FRHEE -

R-ZBEAF=RA=+—0 28
#60,500,000 BT (ZZFN\F :
59,994,000 T) ZIRTEECE
MITBRTFAEE > LHUTER
o

() BR M & % 84,842,000/ It
(=Z=ZZ 7\ & :104,430,000
BIT) Z RSB E (M 14)
& BREE 5 23,411,0008 7T
(ZZZ N\ §F :36,300,000
BR)ZETREMEM T
16) ZEERT ;

(i) ANABEMN 2z AERE
35) ;

iy X &£ @ E K # & XK
43,500,0005%8 JT(fft =E
22(b)) °

AEEZEEHYLBTREN  TAR
—FREER(ZZEZNF 1 E) -

RZZEZNF=A=1+—H  ~E@Z
BEREBRITEAXFREMOISESR
00EZEHREFE - R=ZZEZNEF
ZR=t+—HB AEERFEZMEFH
ERFRZER1.00E -

HREREERERRNEE - WEEKRE
EEAEQFERE -
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30 Borrowings and obligations under
finance leases — Group (Continued)
(b) At 31st March 2009, the Group’s finance lease

liabilities were repayable as follows:

Within one year —FR
In the second year EZFER
In the third to fifth years EF=Z2FRFR

Future finance charges on finance &R #) > R A B 75 2 H
leases
Present value of finance lease MEENEEZRE

liabilities

The present value of finance lease liabilities were

repayable in the following periods:

Within one year —FR®
In the second year EF-FR
In the third to fifth years E=FFERFRA

B (=)

30 ERRMBEHENEE — &%

b) R=TEBEAF=A=+—HB &&
EomERENEEAN THIHBE

il

2009 2008

=t L2k —EENEF
HK$°000 HK$°000
FHT FitTT
3,964 2,969
3,164 2,203

- 1,405

7,128 6,577
(428) (485)

6,700 6,092

REAVEEZ2REARTIHBE

=

2009 2008
ZEZThE —EENFE
HK$’000 HK$’000
F&T FET
3,677 2,746
3,023 2,039

- 1,307

6,700 6,092

~N
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B RS ERAR Y RE

31 Convertible notes — Group and

Company

At 1st April 2007

Change in fair value of
derivative financial
instrument (note 3)

Interest accretion

Conversion during the year

Interest paid during the year

At 31st March 2008

At 1st April 2008

Change in fair value of
derivative financial
instrument (note 3)

Interest accretion

Repurchase during the year

Interest paid during the year

At 31st March 2009

R-ZEZEtFMB—H

TTEPB IR
DNVESB (AE3)
202 R B
FRZHEB
FRZEMNFE

R-BENF
ZA=t-8

REZEZENFNA—H

TTEPBIAZ
DNESB (AE3)
B inz RS
FRZEBE
FRZENFE

ANNUAL REPORT 2009 3§

31 TRERE - FRERFL

5
Liability Derivative
portion portion Total
ERES TERS At
HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET FET
62,771 28,459 91,230
— 111,401 111,401
8,523 — 8,523
(46,467) (125,855) (172,322)
(2,144) — (2,144)
22,683 14,005 36,688
22,683 14,005 36,688
- (13,951) (13,951)
7,362 — 7,362
(9,438) (18) (9,456)
(1,203) — (1,203)
19,404 36 19,440
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31 Convertible notes - Group and Company
(Continued)

(a)

(b)

On 11th August 2006,

convertible notes (the “Notes”) in an aggregate

the Company issued

principal amount of HK$100 million. The initial
conversion price, which is subject to anti-
dilution adjustments in certain events and a reset
mechanism as set out in the note subscription
agreements, is HK$0.44 per share. For the year
ended 31st March 2008, convertible notes with
an aggregate principal amount of HK$70,000,000
were converted and 159,090,905 shares were
issued to the holders of the Notes. For the year
ended 31st March 2009, convertible notes with an
aggregate principal amount of HK$10,000,000 were

repurchased.

The derivative portion of the Notes was revalued
to its fair value using the Binominal model at
each conversion date, repurchase date and at
every reporting date. Changes in fair values were
reflected as other (losses)/gains — net in the
consolidated income statement. The changes in
fair value of the derivative portion resulted in a
fair value gain on derivative financial instrument of
HK$13,951,000 were recognised during the year

(2008: fair value loss of HK$111,401,000).

During the year ended 31st March 2008, 70% of
the Notes were converted by certain note holders,
and 159,090,905 new shares were issued. For the
Notes converted, the respective derivative financial
instrument was fair valued at each conversion date,
and along with the amortised cost of the liability
portion, was recorded as share capital and share
premium of the Company. As a result, share capital
and share premium increased by HK$15,909,000
and HK$156,413,000, respectively, arising from the

conversion of the Notes.

B FEERAR MY RE

31 MR RE — *SKERE
NCITE )

(@)

RZZBZXRFENA+T—B  KAFH
177N # %87 100,000,000 7 7T
ZUBRREB(TEE]D DL R
BRE(MESE TEHFERBER
BRIEZEZEZBH RS ZESIE
HER)ABRKR04MEBET - BEZ
ZENF=ZA=+—HLEFE &K
£ #4158 570,000,00078 7T 2 AT #
REEE R > M 159,090,905 iR
BOEBEBFEART BE=
ZENF=ZA=+—HLEFE &
© # %8 510,000,000 7 T =z A it
REHCEEE o

REZTERIERNESHIRE - B

EARE2HARA-EAERE
HEHATE - ATFEEZHNEGS

WaRkARMRBEMER) K
#m — BRETERBIZLAFEE
BEHRFRABRITEMBIAZR
FEWE 13,951,000/ 8 T(=ZFF
NE @ AFEFE 111,401,000 7%

)} G

RBZ-ZZEN\F=A=+—H
IHEER T0% ZEBECESETE
BIEE ARE - 159,090,905 ik
FRMOERIT - BERBRZEEM
= HREZITEMBIAZAY
BEERSZBAEE  YERE
EMH 2 BEA AT ARDT Z
BAERMDEE At BAR
B 105 B B X R 15 W 2 BlE i
15,909,000 Jt & 156,413,000

BT e

~N
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31 Convertible notes - Group and Company
(Continued)

(c)

(d)

During the year ended 31st March 2009,
HK$10,000,000 of the remaining Notes were
repurchased by the Company at par. On the
repurchase date, respective derivative financial
instrument was fair valued, and along with the
amortised cost of the liability portion, resulted in a
loss of HK$544,000 being recognised.

The fair value of the derivative component of the
Notes as at 31st March 2009 was calculated using

the Binomial model with the following major inputs:

Stock price e
Exercise price TEER
Volatility IS

Risk free rate 92 [ P S Y =2
Expected life FESTE R EAR

The initial carrying amount of the liability
component is the residual amount after deducting
the issuance costs of the Notes and the fair value
of the derivative component as at 11th August 2006
and is subsequently carried at amortised cost.
Interest expense is calculated using the effective
interest method by applying the effective interest
rate of 34.45% (2008: 31.22%) to the adjusted

liability component.

31 @i RE — F*KER

. S/NCIE-)

(c0 REBE-EZEANF=A=+—HL
FER - F &Rz E1$510,000,000
BTEHADTREERE - KB
B HEEZTEMBIAZLD
FEEEE  WERSEH #H
A FEFRET18 544,000 & T ©

(d RNZZEENF=A=+—H E
T B A FERFEA-—ENE

2009 2008
—ZThE —TETN\F
HK$0.24 HK$0.41
HK$0.44 HK$0.44
52.09% 121.68%

F£7)%£0.16% p.a. FF/*1.028% p.a.
19 weeks BEH 71 weeks @25

BEFS ZEDRABEARNBREERT
BMARTEBIR-_ZERENA+—
ARV EEZRGHE  WHEREZE
SHERARTIER - KRR GBI 2 FI 26
S UABRFIRELRA34.45% (ZZFZEN
F131.22%) B FIETE o
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32 Share-based payment — Group and

Company

A share option scheme (the “Scheme”) was adopted by
Company on 30th August 2005. No option was granted
under the Scheme up to 21st June 2007.

On 21st June 2007, 77,100,000 options were granted to
certain service providers to subscribe for 77,100,000
shares of the Company at an exercise price of HK$0.9
per share. Of the options granted, 50% of them vested
on 1st August 2007 and the remaining 50% became

vested on 1st November 2007.

The fair value of the options granted of HK$22,197,000
on the date of grant was determined using the Black-
Scholes-Merton Option Pricing Model and based on the

following parameters:

B FEERAR MY RE

32 LIRZfRIE — aKER

b 3/

ARARR—_ZEZERFENR=TBEHEME
BRESTEI(TZED  -BE_ZZLEF
AAZT B UEREZTERELE

PR HE o

5]

7

R-_ZEZELtERAZ+—H8 U7
EEERIOEB TmME TR ME
7 1% 1 77,100,00019 B IR #& LA &R BB
77,100,000 R AR A G0 - ERHIBER
R 50% ER=—ZZTLtENA—BR
B mEER50% AR=—"ZFZtF+—A
—BEE -

RELEH EEEBREZLATE
22,197,000 7T » J3ERAMm %R — Hf
MES — REPREEELEERR
BT R :

Spot Price REE HK$0.85 & 7t
Exercise Price 1T1EE HK$0.90 7% 7T
Risk Free Rate £ 3 B 3R B 2 FH|Z=4.051% p.a.
Expected Life of the Options BB AR FETE ST EE AR HARR 0.63 year &
Expected Volatility FEHAR B % 115.36%
Expected Dividend Yield FEHRR B = 0.95%

The variables and assumptions used in computing
the fair value of the share options are based on
management’s best estimate, the value of an option may
vary by the adoption of different variables of certain

subjective assumptions with uncertainty.

The expected volatility is based on historical volatilities
of the share prices of the Company over the past two

years before the date of grant.

No option has been exercised since the date of grant

and all options were expired on 30th June 2008.

SIS IR A FEB AR S U R R
RNEREEEZ REGT - BRES

BEAFRRAETFTRESZ TBE
B2 TREHMER «

RBRBRGEARFARERKE BB
BIRF A2 B BB R E

BRHBHUR WEBREBTE
MmArEBEBRECR-ZEZENFAA=T
A & e

~N
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33 Deferred income tax liabilities — Group

The movement in the deferred tax liabilities account is

as follows:
At 1st April AU A—H
Acquisition of subsidiaries B A A

Tax charged directly to equity
(Credited)/charged to the

consolidated income statement (B 9)
(note 9)
At 31st March R=A=+—H

Deferred income tax assets are recognised for tax
losses carried forward to the extent that realisation
of the related tax benefit through the future taxable
profits is probable. The Group has unrecognised tax
losses of HK$243,540,000 (2008: HK$219,257,000) to
carry forward against future taxable income. These tax
losses have not been recognised due to uncertainty
of their future recoverability. Such tax losses have no
expiry date, except for the tax losses amounting to
HK$43,198,000 (2008: Nil) which will all be expired in
2016.

HEREZNBR 2 BIR
RiEslaER () /KR

33

BIEFRGRAR — %KE

ELERBRERE 2ZHUT -

2009 2008
—SBhE = L%
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
9,986 6,731
1,490 —

568 992
(4,432) 2,263
7,612 9,986

AR BEBEDREBERENZEER
BEEBARRERBEFF USSR EBIR
BRARBELEFMESHEE  AEBEEXE
2 %1 18 /§5 18 243,540,000/ 8 (=2 &
JVEE © 219,257,000 JT ) 7] 45 8 LUK
AR ZERBIWMA - AR TEEREH
GRZITBERE D R BERAZER
FEE ZEBEFBYRIEA  H
43,198,000 BT (=FF/N\F : B#E )
ZHEBEEZER - —~FE® °
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33 Deferred income tax liabilities — Group

The movement in deferred income tax assets and

liabilities (prior to offsetting of balances within the same

taxation jurisdiction) during the year is as follows:

Deferred income tax liabilities

At 1st April 2007
(Credited)/charged to the
consolidated income

statement

Charged to equity

At 31st March 2008

Acquisition of subsidiaries
(note 38)

Charged/(credited) to the
consolidated income
statement

Charged to equity

At 31st March 2009

RiEzHIR

-y

R=ZZZN
A=+-—H
WK B A
(KtaE 38)
RERE W RINER
/(FEA)

A

gz HIR

S

[
Jo A
(1]
o=
|
m

B FEERAR MY RE

33 BEMBRAR — +5KE
(#)
RERZ BB EBEFEHERA - F
RIEEFEHEERAEZBBAT :

BIEFRGRAR

Accelerated Fair value
tax gains/

depreciation (losses) Total
LFEERE

ERERE (E548) #at

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000

FET FET FET

2,772 6,455 9,227

(748) 2,263 1,515

— 992 992

2,024 9,710 11,734

1,490 — 1,490

802 (2,942) (2,140)

— 568 568

4,316 7,336 11,652

~
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(Continued)

Deferred income tax assets

At 1st April
(Credited)/charged to the

consolidated income statement

At 31st March

offset amounts are as follows:

Deferred tax assets — to be
recovered after more than 12
months

Deferred tax liabilities — to be

1 50 recovered after more than 12

months

33 Deferred income tax liabilities — Group

REA—H

RizE R (GEA),/HIER

R=A=t—H

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there
is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and when the deferred

income taxes relate to the same fiscal authority. The

EEHREEE — 810

HBiE 12 E B &Y

HBiE 12 E B &Y
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BIEFRGRAR — %KE

(#&)
EIEFFBSRMEE
Tax losses
HiiagEie

2009 2008
“EThF —EETN\F
HK$°000 HK$’000
FET FET
(1,748) (2,496)
(2,292) 748
(4,040) (1,748)

fis RA R EE D A AR H & E IR 8
ENEABEAE  URIEEFEHER—
PHEEEE  AIEEREREERE
BRI F LU - IS FMT

2009 2008
ZEThE —EENEF
HK$’000 HK$°000
FET FET
(4,040) (1,748)
11,652 11,734
7,612 9,986
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34 Cash generated from operations

Reconciliation of loss before income tax to

cash generated from operations

Loss before income tax

Adjustments for:

Share of losses of associated companies

Depreciation of property, plant and
equipment

Amortisation of intangible assets

Amortisation of leasehold land and land
use rights

Amortisation of film rights

Impairment of contractual supplier
relationships

Impairment of film rights and films in
progress

Impairment of goodwill

Provision for impairment of trade
receivables

Provision for impairment of amount due
from a jointly controlled entity

Provision for impairment of amounts due
from associated companies

Provision for impairment of available-for-
sale financial assets

Provision for obsolescence of inventories

Loss on disposal of film rights

Loss on repurchase of convertible notes

Gain on disposal of an associated
company

Gain on disposal of available-for-sale
financial assets

Fair value loss/(gain) on financial assets at
fair value through profit and loss

(Deficit)/surplus on revaluation of
investment properties

Fair value loss/(gain) on derivative financial
instrument

Share-based compensation

Interest income

Interest on bank loans and overdrafts

Interest element of finance leases

Interest accretion in respect of convertible
notes

Unwinding of discount in respect of non-
current receivables

Changes in working capital (excluding the
effects of acquisitions and exchange
differences on consolidation):

Inventories

Trade and other receivables

Trade and other payables

Cash generated from operations

BRATSHiAIER
LRE
E{Eﬂﬁ‘ffﬁﬂjl@ﬁﬁ
WE - BERRERE

BVAEREE
RELhR i fE AR

EXRERH
ARREERRAHE

E¥MERERTEYRE

BERE
&7 RUERERE

ERAREHERREAERE
e N R RERER R
IRHENBEERERR

REFERME
HEEXIREZER
BRRREECEE
HEBE N Tz WS

HETHEEMBEE 2 WE

BAFESABRRZHBEE
ZATEER /()
RENEEE(FE) /B

TTEBRIE A TFEESE/
(Urzt)

DB 37 4 SR

ﬂEWK

BIERREXFE

ﬂfﬁﬂzﬂuuﬂ

ARRZEE N2 FE

FRBEWFIE 2 HRED
EELELLDA(FEEREZY
ERGFRRACERER)

BE
B 5 REMEKR

B 5 R AL AIE

REXBHEHS

I

il

34

EERTRARS
(a) BRFIRRAGRREZEBRER
&z HEXR

2009 2008
43822 ZEENE
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET T
(76,035) (79,788)
1,570 4,582
7,723 5,488
4,419 -

324 324
53,008 37,280
4,610 -
4,507 3,312
22,413 -
9,514 9,833

443 445
14,740 78
625 -

3,287 -

164 -

544 -

- (55,749)

- (1,412)

14,765 (5,361)
11,335 (12,930)
(13,951) 111,401
- 22,197

(2,868) (2,788)
627 413

425 133

7,362 8,523
(476) (2,465)
(2,724) (490)
(22,554) (1,527)
(2,953) 22,570
40,794 64,069

~N

1561
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34 Cash generated from operations

ANNUAL REPORT 2009 3§

34 BEEXEMRBRE&»®)

(Continued)
(b) Analysis of changes in financing during the year (b) FEAMBTEHDH
Obligations
Bank loans under finance leases
2009 2008 2009 2008
ZEENAEFE —ZTT)N\F ZEBBAF —EZZNF
HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$°000
FET FET FET FET
At 1st April ROEA—H - 7,000 6,092 2,917
Proceeds from bank IRITERZE
loans 8 23,853 — - —
Repayments of bank EERITER
loans (7,853) (7,000) - —
Inception of finance I EEHRLD
lease (note (c)) (it (c)) - — 4,912 4,703
Repayments of capital EBEMERY 2
element of finance rEHBD
leases - — (4,304) (1,528)
At 31st March R=B=+—8H 16,000 — 6,700 6,092

(c) Major non-cash transactions

During the year, the Group entered into finance
lease arrangements in respect of assets with a

total capital value at the inception of the lease of

HK$4,912,000 (2008: HK$4,703,000).

(c) X¥EFREXH

RER AEERTHNERER
#{EH4,912,000 8 T(ZEEN
% :4,703,000/8 7T ) 2 EER] AL

BMEBNZHE -
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35 Contingent liabilities — Group and 35 BRARAR — TKERFLAT
Company
Group Company
.34 r. 3/
2009 2008 2009 2008
ZETAE —EZEN\F ZEEAFE "—TENF
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET FET FET
Guarantees given to banks 7 T %2 & AT
in respect of utilised EEMERIT
banking facilities of: EH 2tk ¢
Subsidiaries KNG - — 16,000 29,994
36 Commitments — Group 36 iz — xKE
(a) At 31st March 2009, the Group had contracted (@ M=ZZBEENE=A=+-—H &&
commitments but not provided for in these BB T A EFTHNERRALGE M
consolidated financial statements as follows: WMEAEHBE AL
2009 2008
—EThE —ET)N\F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Commitments in respect of BETHIEE 2&IE
— film production — EXRUE 170 1,235
— program licensing — BB W=
agreements 1,577 11,298
— available-for-sale financial — A ENKEE
assets 367 363

2,114 12,896 153
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37

38

Future operating lease arrangements
— Group

At 31st March 2009, the Group had future aggregate
minimum lease receipts under non-cancellable
operating leases in respect of investment properties,

buildings and furniture, fixtures and equipment as

follows:
Not later than one year —FR
Later than one year and not later —FZRFR

than five years

Business Combinations

(a) Acquisition of Era Movies Limited (“Era
Movies”)
In April 2008, the Company acquired 80% of the
equity interest of Era Movies from a third party at
a consideration of HK$3,200,000. Era Movies is
principally engaged in the sale and distribution of
films in Hong Kong and in Macau. It contributed
revenue of HK$23,244,000 and net profit of
HK$1,124,000 to the Group during the year ended
31st March 2009.

Details of net assets acquired and goodwill are

37 REREZFHHRE — +5%H

R-ZBEZ2ENE=A=+—0 ' ~&£ER
BREVE BFURRE - £BERE
B2 TSRS B A AR RINELZ

BRIEASHEZENT
2009 2008
ZEZThE —EENFE
HK$’000 HK$’000
F&T FET
11,512 5,932
9,193 3,896
20,705 9,828

38 ESH
(a WHERMEFRLT(ELB
B

RZZBZENFMA » AAREE=
FU BB ERBE Z280% KRiE - 1R
{84 3,200,000/8 7T - FRMEE
ENEEBRRMRBHERRITE
E o RBE_EZNF=A=+—
BLEER HAXEET R
23,244,000 T W & 1,124,000
B TR o

B FEERBEZHBN

as follows: T
HK$’000
FET
Purchase consideration in cash HEBENRE 3,200
Fair value of net assets acquired — shown  FilEEFEE 2 AFE — JIRUT
as below (2,672)
Goodwill (S 528
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38 Business Combinations (Continued) 38 XS @)
(a) Acquisition of Era Movies Limited (“Era (a) KEEAMREFR AT ([FELm
Movies”) (Continued) £1)(#E)
The goodwill is attributable to the economies of BEREBRENESHAEEEF
scale expected from combining the operations of RMEEBEMEE 2R ELREN
the Group and Era Movies. o
The fair value and carrying amounts of the FRUENRWERHZ2EEREE
assets and liabilities of Era Movies at the date of AFEREKAENT :
acquisition were as follows:
Acquiree’s
carrying
Fair value amount
SF{H #HU IS R
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Contractual supplier relationship &% {EEREEE (f1:7 15)

(note 15) 4,000 =
Deferred income tax liabilities BB R B E (KaE 33)

(note 33) (660) -
Fair value of net assets FEEZAFE 3,340 -
Minority interests (20%) DR RER (20%) (668) -
Net assets acquired e FEE 2,672 —
Purchase consideration settled in L& {2 BEERE

cash (3,200)
Cash outflow on acquisition g2 HERE (3,200)

155
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38 Business Combinations (Continued)

(b) Acquisition of Fame Sky International Limited

(“Fame Sky”)

In September 2008, the Company acquired 52% of
the equity interest of Fame Sky from a third party
at a consideration of HK$16,800,000. Asia Pacific
Media Holding Limited (Japan), a wholly owned
subsidiary of Fame Sky, is principally engaged in
the channel supply in Japan. It contributed revenue
of HK$1,981,000 and net loss of HK$12,593,000 to
the Group for the period from September 2008 to
March 2009. If the acquisition had occurred on 1st
April 2008, the Group’s revenue would have been
HK$193,540,000, loss before income tax would
have been HK$87,270,000. Details of net liabilities

acquired and goodwill are as follows:

Purchase consideration in cash
Fair value of net liabilities — shown as

below

Goodwill =

I

The goodwill is attributable to the synergy expected

to arise after the Group’s acquisition of Fame Sky.

REBERE
FEBEZQATE — JIRAT

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B IR AR P AT

ANNUAL REPORT 2009 3§

38 XS =)

(b)

I EEFame Sky International
Limited ([ Fame Sky |)
REZZNFNAA  ARFBE=
% U B Fame Sky 2 52% R #& -
X 1 A 16,800,00058 JT ° Fame
Sky 2 2 & KB 2 5 Asia Pacific
Media Holding Limited (Japan)
REBAXRS-—SERaMHESEIRE
RZEENFRAZE-ZZNF
ZAHBEA EAXEET K
1,981,000 7% st Ut # & 12,593,000
BLTFEE MBBER=ZZ
NFOB—BxEK BIAEEZ
W %5 % 193,540,000 8 7T » kR
Fri&®i Al & B 4% % 87,270,000 8
T IR EBERBEZFB
T

HK$’000
FET

16,800

5,085

21,885

BHERENRNEHBRAHAEEHE
Fame Sky 3 & M & 4 Z % E X
Jjﬁ_g o
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38 Business Combinations (Continued)

(b)

Acquisition of Fame Sky International Limited

(“Fame Sky”) (Continued)

The fair value and carrying amounts of the assets

and liabilities of the Fame Sky at the date of

acquisition were as follows:

Property, plant and equipment
(note 14)

Contracted supplier relationship
(note 15)

Trade and other receivables

Cash and cash equivalents

Trade and other payables

Deferred income tax liabilities

Net liabilities acquired

Cash and bank balances acquired

Cash consideration

Net cash outflow on acquisition

Note:

VI - HEERERE
(KiaE 14)

ERHREERBE
(H1EE 15)

B 5 kE A ERRIE

ReRZERREER

B REMENRE

EEMSHERE

Friis R aE

PR € RIRITHETF

RBERE

WiE 2 RE M B

Net liabilities were not allocated to the minority
interest as the minority interest is not committed for
further obligation to share the net liabilities of Fame

Sky.

B FEERAR Y RE

38 XA H =)
(b) ¥ HEEFame Sky International
Limited ([ Fame Sky |) (4)

Fame SkyRWRBRHI2EERE

BEATFEREKEAENT

Acquiree’s

carrying

Fair value amount
NFEE #HU RS IR E
HK$°000 HK$°000
FET FET
757 757

5,029 —
1,126 1,126

190 190
(11,357) (11,357)
(830) —
(5,085) (9,284)
190
(16,800)
(16,610)

HiaE -

R D SRR #E & I &I 5 (G Fame
Sky FREZE-—FEME  WEEBEIE
DERTOHRRER o

~
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39

40

41

Related party transactions — Group

Save as disclosed in other notes to the consolidated
financial statements, significant related party
transactions, which were carried out in the normal

course of the Group’s business, are as follows:

Replication fees paid to an
associated company

Rental income received from the

HEWA

sub-letting of premises to an

associated company

The above transactions were conducted in the normal
course of business and are charged at terms mutually
agreed or in accordance with the terms of the underlying

agreements, where appropriate.

Dividend

The directors do not recommend the payment of a
dividend in respect of the year ended 31st March 2009
(2008: Nil).

Events after the balance sheet date

On 1st June 2009, the Group entered into a sale and
purchase agreement with a third party to acquire a
commercial property located in Beijing, PRC. The cash
consideration of the transaction was RMB 27,000,000,
equivalent to HK$30,510,000.

NFBHENF2ERE

39

DHEMTFHE QT MKREZ

40

41

FREALRS — aKE
BAGRAEMBRR LM EFARE
S AEER-REBRETZEAE
BEALXZMT :

2009 2008

=t L2k —EENEF
HK$°000 HK$°000
FHT FitTT
2,104 6,139

551 734

LPHRER-—REZBREPET » AR
BRAIRZZIRRRNBEBIHRZHER
(A AR °

Bz 2
ESTERRBRBE-_ZEZTNF=A
=S+ -HLEFEZRE(ZEENF:
) -

BEA&SER
A—BZTAFEARA—B AEEHEE
EHTVEEHZ  ARBURTE
tEmzEENE - ZBRXREZ2RER
8 A A R #27,000,0007t © 1 & R
30,510,000 T °
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42 Group structure — principal

subsidiaries

The following is a list of the principal subsidiaries at 31st

March 2009:

Name

B

Shares held directly:
HESHRN :

Mei Ah Holdings Limited

Mei Ah Holdings Limited

Shares held indirectly:

MERHRD -

Era Movies Limited

FRREBRAOF

Mei Ah (HK) Company Limited

D(FB)BARRAA

Mei Ah Film Production
Company Limited
DEFEERRA

Brilliant Idea Group Limited

TEZRIEBRAF

Place of
incorporation

&F 0 R 3L 3t B

British Virgin
Islands

REBELEHS

Hong Kong

BB

Hong Kong

BB

Hong Kong

0

Hong Kong

BB

MEI AH ENTERTAINMENT GROUP LIMITED E iR &E A EEAR A F

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B FEERAR Y RE

42 SKEHE — EXMELF

ENBARRE

Principal
activities

EBRE

Investment
holding

Distribution of
audio visual
products

BOEBEM

Distribution of
audio visual
products

BOEBEM

Production of films
and tele-features
EYRERTAEE

Production of films
and tele-features

EFREATARIE

Nominal value
of issued
share capital

ERTREEE

50,050 ordinary
shares of US$1
each

50,050 R R EE
1ETZEBR

100 ordinary shares
of HK$1 each

100 R EREE
1BT2EBR

10,000 ordinary
shares of HK$1
each

10,000 REREE
1B TZEBR

2 ordinary shares of
HK$1 each

2R BREE
1B TZEBR

10,000 ordinary
shares of HK$1
each

10,000 R BREE
1BTZEBR

THAER=-ZBEZBEAFE=Z=RA=1+—H=2=E

Percentage
of equity
interest
attributable
to the Group

FREE

BREES

100

100

80

80

100

100

100

100

95

95

~N

159



MEI AH ENTERTAINMENT GROUP LIMITED =244 & EE AR A 5

r

160

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BRI AR AT

42 Group structure — principal
subsidiaries (continued)

Place of
Name incorporation
28 0 R 2L 3t B
Shares held indirectly (Continued):
REsRERG(E)
Mei Ah Investment Hong Kong
Company Limited
ZOYEREBRDA B8
Mei Ah Trading Company Limited  British Virgin
Islands
Mei Ah Trading Company Limited HBELZEHE
Mei Ah Development Company British Virgin
Limited Islands
Mei Ah Development Company REELES
Limited
MATV Limited Hong Kong
EDERBRDA BB

ANNUAL REPORT 2009 3

42 SKEHK — EEMELF

Principal
activities

EBRE

Investment and
property holding

RERMELZR

Sub-licensing of
film rights

BRETME

Sub-licensing of

film rights

BRETME

Television

operations
EREE

(&)

Nominal value
of issued
share capital

ERTREEE

2 ordinary shares of
HK$1 each

500,000 non-voting
deferred shares
of HK$1 each

2R EBREE
1 BT 2EBR

500,000 K&K HEE
1T BREE
SERL R 47

50,000 ordinary
shares of US$1
each

50,000 REREE
1ETZEBR

50,000 ordinary
shares of US$1
each

50,000 REREE
1ETZEBR

4 ordinary shares of
HK$1 each

4R BREE
1BT2EBR

Percentage
of equity
interest
attributable
to the Group

EREEE
BREES

100

100

100

100

100

100

100

100
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42 Group structure — principal

43

subsidiaries (continued)

Name

B

Shares held indirectly (Continued):

RERSRRG (F)

MATV (Asia) Limited

ZRBR(TMERRA

Asia Pacific Media Holding Limited

(Japan)

Place of
incorporation

& 1B RS 3L 3th B

Hong Kong

BB

Japan

Asia Pacific Media Holding Limited BZ<

(Japan)

MEI AH ENTERTAINMENT GROUP LIMITED E R4 E A EEAR A F

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B FEERAR Y RE

42 SKEHK — EEMELF

(&)

Principal
activities

EBRE

Television
operations

B

T

Television
operations

T

[

Note: Other than MATV (Asia) Limited, Mei Ah Trading
Company Limited and Mei Ah Development
Company Limited which operate in Hong Kong and
overseas, and Asia Pacific Media Holding Limited
(Japan) which operates in Japan, all subsidiaries
principally operate in Hong Kong.

Ultimate holding company
As at 31st March 2009, the directors regard Kuo Hsing

Nominal value
of issued
share capital

ERTREEE

20,000 ordinary
shares of HK$1
each

20,000 REREE
1BTZEBR

100,000,000
ordinary shares
of JPY 1 each

100,000,000 i% 5 1%
HE1AE2EE
[

Percentage
of equity
interest
attributable
to the Group

EREEE

BREES

100

100

52

52

BREDEREM) BRAF - Mei
Ah Trading Company Limited &
Mei Ah Development Company
Limited g R & B R B EE
M Asia Pacific Media Holding
Limited (Japan)i BZAREE 5 - AT
EMBAREZERERBLKE o

43 ERERLT

Holdings Limited, a company incorporated in the British

Virgin Islands, as being the ultimate holding company of

the Company.

RZBEAF=ZA=+—H EBRAB
RARABAZBRRERADATERBRE L

B FMR I 2 A 8 Kuo Hsing Holdings
Limited °

~N
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hFE R E
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The results, assets and liabilities of the Group for the last five REBRBEREMBFEE XL EEHS
financial years are as follows: BT :
Year ended 31st March
BE=A=1+—HLFE
2009 2008 2007 2006 2005
—EEZNE CZEENF CZEEBELFE ZEERE ZETHF
HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$’000
FET FET FET FET FET
Restated
ER]]
(Note)
(K1aE)
Results R
(Loss)/profit attributable to & 5= &5 (&1E)
shareholders B (71,529) (83,413) 21,933 20,378 (29,100)
As at 31st March
R=RA=+—H
2009 2008 2007 2006 2005
—EETNE CZEENF CZEEBELFE ZEERE ZETHF
HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$’000
FET FET FET FET FET
Assets and liabilities BEHAR
Total assets BERE 474,351 576,191 444,934 361,131 321,423
Total liabilities HwWEE (136,670) (128,672) (164,034) (122,970) (104,192)
Net assets BEE 337,681 447,519 280,900 238,161 217,231
Note: Kzt -

The Group adopted certain new accounting standards
commencing 1st April 2006 and certain comparative figures for
the year ended 31st March 2005 was restated to confirm with
those new accounting standards.

AEEH-ZET A FNA —HEREAETHSS
B REE-ZERF=—A=+T—HLEFEZ
ETHREZELEY  URFE

Al o

mEHeE
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SCHEDULE OF PRINCIPAL INVESTMENT PROPERTIES
TEREWEHR

Address
ot

Workshop No. 5, Nos. 15-23 and 25-28 on 17th Floor

Metro Centre, No. 32 Lam Hing Street
Kowloon Bay

Kowloon

BE

NnEE

B BfT 32 SR X s

1748555 ~ 15-235% % 25-28 55 T35

Workshop Nos. 1-2 on 10th Floor
Metro Centre, No. 32 Lam Hing Street
Kowloon Bay
Kowloon

JuEE
NEEE
e BT 32 SRR
101 1-258 T35

House No. 28 and Car Park Nos. 59 and 60
The Villa Horizon, Silver Stream Path
Sai Kung
New Territories
R
[il=T
RREBRE
285 ¥ E R 5955 K% 60 3R E

Factory Unit Nos. 23 and 24 on 5th Floor and Car Park Space

No. V18 on Basement
Kowloon Bay Industrial Centre
No. 15 Wang Hoi Road
Kowloon Bay

Kowloon

JuEE

ZHE 159K

hEEE T

512355 R 2455 TREE{u
R V18R E

Existing use

B RS

Industrial

I

Industrial

I%

Residential
[E2=2]

Industrial

T

Term of lease

#H#

Medium
HRER

Medium
R HER

Medium
FRHER

Medium

A

Percentage
of Group
interest
TEEHZ
Eaask

100%

100%

100%

100%

~
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SCHEDULE OF PRINCIPAL INVESTMENT PROPERTIES
TEREVEMR

Percentage

of Group

interest

Address Existing use  Term of lease xEEZ
o kit B AE Ei:F ) Eaask

Shop 2 on Ground Floor Commercial Medium 100%
Po Sun Mansion Nos. 87-101 SES A
Bulkeley Street
Hung Hom
Kowloon
huEe
AR
BEHAHE87-1015%
BEHKE
# T 2 SR

Flat 1 on Level 3 No. 2, Hua Xiao Street Residential Long 100%
Tianhe Ming Ya Court Tianhe East Road = REA
Tianhe District, Guangzhou
The People’s Republic of China
REARALFNE
BN RO E
R BREE ROH A HESE
EBRA25R301E

Units 801-814 on Level 8 of West Tower Commercial Medium 100%
Yangcheng International Commercial Center [EES HHR
Tiyu East Road Tianhe District, Guangzhou
The People’s Republic of China
PEARALNE
BN R EEB R
350 B PR S B s
A 81£801-814 E

Portion of Section 1 of Mei Ah Centre, Commercial Medium 100%
28 Chun Choi Street, Tseung Kwun O [EES H A
Town Lot No. 39 and extension thereto,
1064 Tseung Kwan O, Kowloon
NEERER
15 BB T i R 39 5 R HIEHEE 5
B 12855
EnEEHRO1BRES
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